
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Licensing 
Committee

Councillor A Bardoe (Chairman)
Councillor J Burrell (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor I D Armitt Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R M Currans Councillor P Kelly
Councillor P Cutler Councillor C S McLean
Councillor M J Davis Councillor B E Read
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor D E Hunnisett Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor J Jones

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 14 March 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 14 March 2017

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of Minutes held on 22 September 2016 (Pages 1 - 4)

4. Licensing Sub - Committees Confirmation of Minutes (Pages 5 - 
30)
The minutes of the Meetings of the Licensing Sub Committee held on 
29 September 2015, 2 October 2015, 14 October 2016, and 17 
November 2016 are attached for formal confirmation.   

Members should note that these Minutes have been agreed as a 
correct record by the relevant Members of each sub Committee. 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

6. Review of Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private hire 
Licensing Policy 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 and Consultation 
Response. (Pages 31 - 168)

7. Review of Hackney Carriage Hackney Carriage By - Laws and 
Informal Consultation Response (Pages 169 - 202)





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on Thursday 22 
September 2016 at 7.00pm.

PRESENT: Councillor A Bardoe (Chairman)
Councillor J Burrell (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor D A Hammock
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor P Kelly
Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs R L Shanks

12. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Armitt, Hunnisett, 
Jones, McLean, and Read.

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations received.

14. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES HELD ON 8 JUNE 2016 

The Minutes of the meeting of the Licensing Committee held on 8 June 2016 
were confirmed as a correct record of that meeting.

15. URGENT ITEMS 

Whilst there were no urgent items for the Committee to consider, the 
Licensing Officer gave details of a number of occasions where enforcement 
actions had been carried out by Officers in conjunction with other agencies.

16. ADOPTION OF DRAFT STATEMENT OF SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT 
VENUE POLICY 

The Committee was reminded that at its meeting held on 8 June 2016 it 
had approved, for consultation purposes with interested parties, a revised 
draft policy for the licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues together with 
revised Terms of Reference for the Licensing Sub-committee, to enable it to 
deal with applications for Venue Licences.

It was reported that the consultation exercise had been undertaken in 
accordance with national guidelines and legislation and that no response had 
been received.

RESOLVED



LICENSING COMMITTEE

THURSDAY 22 SEPTEMBER 2016

2

I. To note that no responses had been received to the consultation on 
the draft Statement of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy.

II. That the Statement of Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy for the 
period 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2021, as set out at Appendix 
A to the report, be adopted.

17. DRAFT HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 

The Committee received a report which informed Members that the current 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy, first adopted on 15 July 
2010 [Min No 24]’ would expire on 31 March 2017, and that it would be 
necessary to consult with interested parties on a new statement of Policy to 
commence on 1 April 2017. 

Members noted that the Policy detailed the criteria that applicants had to meet 
to become a licensed driver, operator or to licence a vehicle.   

The Committee was informed that a full review of the current Policy had 
resulted in a number of proposed amendments, and that these were 
summarised as an Appendix to the report.   

Additionally it was noted that the proposed amendments resulted from 
consultation with trade representatives, legislative changes including the 
introduction of the Deregulation Act 2015 and clarification to areas of the 
policy in relation to Safeguarding, Prevent (Counter Terrorism) and Vehicle 
Criteria. 

Concern was expressed that under the current Policy an applicant could be 
licensed with only one year’s driving experience and that this was an 
insufficient period of time.

RESOLVED that:

I. The revised draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy 
Statement, attached as an Appendix to the report, be approved for 
the purposes of consultation, subject to the amendment of the period 
of driving experience necessary to three years for an applicant to be 
licenced; 

II. Consultation is undertaken in accordance with national guidance; 
and,

III. If comments and representations are received, a further report be 
submitted in order to consider any necessary changes to the draft 
Policy, prior to its adoption by the Committee.

The meeting closed at 7.20pm



LICENSING COMMITTEE

THURSDAY 22 SEPTEMBER 2016

3

Councillor Arron Bardoe
CHAIRMAN





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held on Tuesday 29 
September 2015 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs R Currens

Dartford Borough Council Officers:
Ms Joanne Philpott – Licensing Manager
Ms Caroline Hillman – Licensing Officer
Mr Keith Frenchum – Enforcement Officer
Mr Keith Webb – Legal Adviser
Mr Neil Murphy – Committee Administrator

Applicant
Mr Gary Mallen – Applicant
Mr Paul Giles – Proposed Designated Premises Supervisor

Objectors
Mrs K Davies
Ms M Clarke

9. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Bardoe was proposed, seconded and duly elected Chairman of the 
meeting.

10. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mrs Shanks who had 
fallen ill on the day of the meeting.  It was noted that Councillor Bardoe the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee had stepped in as a substitute for 
Councillor Mrs Shanks

11. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests tendered by sub Committee Members.

12. URGENT ITEMS 

It was noted that there were no urgent items for the sub Committee to 
consider.

13. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

The Chairman introduced Members present and called upon others present to 
identify themselves.  He then explained to the parties that the Sub-Committee 
intended to follow the procedure detailed in the Licensing Sub-Committee 
Rules of Procedure, circulated as item 6 to the agenda.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

2

He also drew attention to the fact that a replacement Appendix C - Local 
Policy Conditions - to Item 6 had been circulated and asked that all present 
had a copy of the document.

14. APPLICATION BY MR G MALLEN, THE HORSE AND GROOM, 15 
LEYTON CROSS ROAD, WILMINGTON KENT.  DA2 7AP 

The Licensing Manager, Ms Philpott, introduced her report on the application 
for a new license at this property and highlighted a number of features 
including the hours being requested the nature of the proposed trade and the 
conditions which had been proposed by the applicant and those agreed with 
the applicant with the Environmental Health Service.

The Chairman introduced Mr Gary Mallen who spoke in support of his 
application. 

Mr Mallen explained that this was a new application but that he was 
particularly aware of the poor history of the premises insofar as the local 
residents were concerned.

This application was for an off and on sales licence with entertainment and 
late night refreshments, but the main thrust of the business was toward food 
sales.  He explained that the licenced trade had suffered tremendously in the 
past years and that numbers of pubs had been forced to close.  

He continued that he specialised in food led hostelries of which he had 
interest in a significant number, and went on that the food led trade was 
concentrated toward later evening demand and that was the reason for the 
late opening request in his application.

Mr Mallen stressed that he had no intention that this should become an anti - 
social establishment and that he was planning for a “good neighbour” 
approach in the surrounding area.  To this end he had recently held a public 
meeting with local residents to allay their fears over his application.  He had 
also consulted with the relevant statutory bodies regarding the application and 
had received encouraging comments from all concerned.

The Chairman thanked Mr Mallen and introduced Mrs Katie Davies to present 
the objections raised by local residents.

Mrs Davies firstly explained that the residents were not opposed to the pub 
being given a licence but objected strongly to the disruption and disturbance 
that it could bring.

She informed Members that this was a largely residential area with many 
young families, and that the proposed opening hours were of grave concern.  



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

3

It was feared that loud music, noisy patrons when leaving the premises and 
also when outside smoking, and cars coming and going would cause great 
disturbance to local people late at night.

While the recent public meeting had allayed a number of the residents’ fears, 
questions were still outstanding regarding the real need for the late opening 
and the disturbance this could cause.

Additionally residents were concerned at what might happen in future years, if 
a new less responsible owner was to take over the premises, as it was known 
that it was very difficult to remove licence provisions once they had been 
granted.

In response to a number of questions raised by the Sub Committee Mr Mallen 
made the following comments

 It was necessary to have the extended hours for the license to fully 
cater for the demand which he knew would come 

 He had applied for a music and dancing licence as it was the only way 
that he could play background music until closing time

 The planning application for the premises was made by a previous 
owner – Enterprise Inns – and they had not foreseen the need for 
longer opening hours 

 It was only proposed to hold a limited number of late night events 
across the year, perhaps 8 to 10

 It was planned to reduce the impact of the current security lighting on 
adjoining properties by lowering the height of the lighting columns

 There was currently no designated smoking area – to introduce one 
was possible but this may concentrate the problem in a specific area 
and cause more disturbance that it was designed to cut out.

Additionally Mrs Davies responded to questions:

 The majority of the objectors had been residents for a considerable 
period and were aware of the problems that the pub had caused in the 
past

 If we were asked to set the hours we would chose 10.00am to 11.00pm 
Monday to Thursday,10.00am to 11.00pm Friday and Saturday and 12 
noon to 10.30pm on Sunday.

At the conclusion of the questions the Chairman invited the objectors and the 
applicant to sum up their cases, and following their summaries the Members 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

4

and the Clerk to the meeting withdrew from the open meeting to consider the 
matter in private.

During the course of the consideration the Members asked that the legal 
adviser join them to give advice on a number of points.

On resumption of the proceedings in open session, at the request of the 
Chairman, the legal adviser informed all parties that his participation in the 
Sub-Committee’s final deliberations had been in connection with the wording 
of the conditions and that he had advised that conditions must be appropriate, 
proportionate and enforceable.  In relation to a condition about special events, 
he had advised that the term special events could be vague and 
unenforceable. The legal adviser had also explained the review procedures 
which meant that any of the residents or responsible authorities could call for 
a review of a premises licence if there were any issues 

The Chairman stressed that the sub - committee had considered the 
submissions from all parties and had accorded weight to the comments of the 
Licensing Officer and the residents

Accordingly, on the basis that this decision was appropriate to meet the aims 
of the licensing objectives it was , 

RESOLVED:

That The Licence be granted to permit the following licensable activities 
and hours:

Relevant licensable activities:

 The sale and supply of alcohol on and off the premises;
 Provision of and for regulated entertainment, including music, dancing, 

indoor sporting events and films.
 Late Night Refreshment.

Hours for the sale and supply of alcohol:

Sunday to Thursday  10:00 - 23:00
Friday and Saturday 10:00 – 23:30

Hours for and provision of regulated entertainment – Plays, Live and Record 
Music, dancing, indoor sporting events and films:

Sunday to Thursday  10:00 - 23:00
Friday and Saturday 10:00 – 23:30

Late night refreshment:

Sunday to Thursday  10:00 - 23:30



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

5

Friday and Saturday 10:00 – Midnight

Other times premises proposed to be open to the public: 

Sunday to Thursday  10:00 - 23:30
Friday and Saturday 10:00 – Midnight

Seasonal Variation 

From the permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted 
hours on New Year’s Day. 

Hours the garden will be open to the public

The garden will close at 22:00 Sunday to Thursday and 22:30 on 
Friday and Saturday.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

6

That the License shall be granted subject to the following Conditions 

A) General
Staff shall be trained in the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 with 
regard to the Licensing Objectives.

B) The Prevention of Crime and Disorder

1. CCTV will be installed and working to the satisfaction of the Police and 
Licensing Authority, with recordings maintained for at least a month.  If the 
equipment fails, the Police and Licensing Authority must be informed as 
soon as possible and immediate steps taken to put the equipment back in 
to service.

2. The need for SIA registered door staff shall be risk assessed, and 
employed in such numbers and at such times as the risk assessment 
deems it necessary. 

3. When employed, a register of those door staff employed shall be 
maintained at the premises and shall include:

(i) the number of door staff on duty;
(ii) the identity of each member of door staff;
(iii) the times the door staff are on duty.

4. Open containers of alcohol shall not be removed from the premises, save 
for consumption in any delineated external area as shown on the plan 
attached to the licence.  No open containers to be taken outside the 
building once the garden is closed to the public.

5. Staff will be trained in the laws relating to under age sales, and that 
training shall be documented and repeated at 6 monthly intervals.

6. A refusals book will be maintained at the premises, and made available to 
an officer of a responsible authority upon request.

7. All empty glassware will be collected and cleared away promptly.

8. There shall be no admission to the premises (save for re-admission of 
smokers) after 23.00.

C)  Public Safety

1. A first aid box will be available at the premises at all times.

2. Regular safety checks shall be carried out by staff.

3. Management shall liaise with the Fire Authority as necessary to ensure 
compliance with all necessary fire regulations.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

7

4. The premises shall maintain an Incident Log and public liability insurance.

D) The Prevention of Public Nuisance

1. Noise from amplified music or voices shall not be such as to cause a noise 
nuisance to occupants of nearby premises.  

2. The exterior of the building shall be cleared of litter at regular intervals.

3. Notices will be positioned at the exits to the building requesting customers 
to leave in a quiet manner.

4. Doors and windows at the premises are to remain closed after 22:00 
Sunday to Thursday and 22:30 Fridays and Saturday, save for access and 
egress.

5. No noise shall emanate from the premises nor vibration be transmitted 
through the structure of the premises which gives rise to a nuisance.

6. Bins should not be emptied into external refuse containers and refuse 
collections should not take place between 21:00 to 07:00.

7. External lighting including security lighting shall not intrude into residential 
properties so as not to cause a public nuisance.

E) The Protection of Children From Harm

1. A “Challenge 21” Policy shall be implemented in full and appropriate 
identification sought from any person who appears to be under the age of 
21.  The only acceptable forms of ID are photographic driving licences, 
passports, HM forces warrant cards, EU/EEA national ID card or similar 
document or a form of identification with the "PASS" hologram.

2. Staff training will include the Challenge 21 Policy and its operation.  In 
particular, staff shall be trained to take such action as is necessary to 
prevent the sale of alcohol to persons over the age of 18 where those 
customers are engaged in the distribution of alcohol to persons under the 
age of 18.  The training must be given to a new member of staff before 
they commence employment and all staff must receive refresher training 
every 6 months.

The meeting closed at 9.10 pm

 
CHAIRMAN



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2015

8



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held on Friday 2 October 
2015 at 10.00 am

PRESENT: Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor C S McLean

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-
Ms J Philpott – Licensing Manager
Ms Claire Hillman – Licensing Officer
Mr Keith Frenchum – Enforcement Officer
Mr Keith Webb – Legal Adviser
Mr N Murphy – Clerk to the Sub Committee

15. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Bardoe was proposed, seconded and duly elected Chairman of the 
meeting.

16. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interests.

18. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items for the sub - committee to consider.

19. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

The Chairman introduced Members present and called upon others present to 
identify themselves.  He then explained to the parties that the Sub-Committee 
intended to follow the procedure detailed in the Licensing Sub-Committee 
Rules of Procedure, circulated as item 6 to the agenda.

20. APPLICATION BY JURATE IESALNIECE FOR VARIATION OF THE 
PREMISES LICENCE FOR UNIVERSAL FOOD AND ALCOHOL, 8, 
COPPERFIELDS SHOPPING CENTRE, SPITAL STREET, DARTFORD 
KENT.  DA1 2DE 

The Licensing Manager, Ms Philpott, introduced her report on the application 
for a variation of the licence at this property to allow on sales in addition to the 
currently held licence for off sales.  



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 2 OCTOBER 2015

2

The Chairman took the opportunity to draw Members’ attention to the 
additional information that had been provided by the Police Service - in the 
form of photographs of the premises, and a plan of the premises, which had 
been requested by a Member.

The Chairman then introduced Mrs Jurate Iesalniece who spoke in support of 
her application. 

The applicant explained that she was attempting to increase the income 
generation of her shop, the Universal Food and Alcohol stores in Dartford by 
providing a small bar area in the rear of the shop which it was proposed would 
sell imported draught beers to a small client base.

Mrs Iesalniece attempted to rebut the evidence being submitted by the Police 
Service in photo form suggesting that these showed the current situation and 
that things would be altered should she obtain her license.

The Chairman then asked the North Kent Police Service to explain why they 
felt that the premises were not suitable for the proposed variation.

Police Constable Clare Cossor reported that the premises were a small shop 
and within its proximity were a number of other licenced outlets and in an area 
frequented by street drinkers.  

A bar within this premise would provide a dangerous addition to the 
convenience store as items on display in the shop could be used as weapons, 
the format of the premises would expose children to the bar area and its 
patrons as it was not segregated from the shop and, as it operates as a 
convenience store, children could be coming into the shop without adult 
supervision, and the current staff levels in the premises did not reflect the 
need for safety and security at all times.
.

Officer Cossor continued that the proposed position of the bar and the current 
advertising on the shop windows would shield it from public sight and that 
should disorder occur then members of the public would be unable to observe 
and summon assistance.

Ms Cossor added that the premises had been granted an off sales licence 
recently and that there had been observed contravention of the terms of that 
licence, and additionally the premises did not seem to suitable for the sale of 
alcohol for consumption.

In response to the points raised the applicant stated that

 An additional member of staff would be employed for periods when the 
bar was open 

Comment [KW1]:  Neil, I recall I made 
the point to the panel in the meeting 
that it is permitted for children to be in 
the presence of people who are 
drinking and that children can be 
present in public houses, and 
frequently are, and that in response to 
that point  the police then explained 
that their concern was that children 
could be coming into the shop by 
themselves since it is a shop whereas 
in a pub, they would only be going 
inside with adults/family.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 2 OCTOBER 2015

3

 The toilet facilities were due to be improved if the licence variation was 
approved

 Draught beer only was to be provided with no sale of canned beer, any 
spirits supplied would be served from proper dispensing measures.

 She would operate a zero tolerance policy with regard to street drinkers 
and drug users

 She would ensure that drinks were served in appropriate, toughened 
drinks receptacles 

At the conclusion of the questions the Chairman invited the Police and the 
applicant to sum up their cases, and following their summaries the Members 
and the Clerk to the meeting withdrew from the open meeting to consider the 
matter in private.

During the course of the consideration the Members asked that the legal 
adviser join them to give advice on the options available to them.

On resumption of the proceedings in open session, at the request of the 
Chairman, the legal adviser informed all parties that his participation in the 
Sub-Committee’s final deliberations had been in connection with the 
formulation of the wording of their decision only.

The Chairman stressed that the sub - committee had considered the 
submissions from all parties and had accorded considerable weight to the 
objections raised by the Police Service .

Accordingly, on the basis that this decision was appropriate to meet the aims 
of the licensing objectives it was, 

RESOLVED

That the application be refused as

a) The sub - committee had listened to all responses and had given a 
great deal of weight to the issues highlighted by the North Kent Police 
Service.

b) The sub - committee did not feel that the proposed application would 
do enough to promote the objectives of Protecting Children from Harm, 
the Prevention of Crime and Disorder and the prevention of Public 
Nuisance.

c) It was considered that there were no additional conditions that could be 
imposed on the licence that would assure that the premises could 
promote all of the licencing objectives and that this was made evident 
by the non -compliance with current licence conditions. 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 2 OCTOBER 2015

4

d) The sub- committee did not feel that the premises were suitable for the 
licensable activities that the applicant was proposing.

21. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

 
CHAIRMAN

(a) FIELD
(b) FIELD_TITLE 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held on Friday 14 October 
2016 at 10.30 am

PRESENT:
Councillor I D Armitt JP
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor R M Currans

ALSO PRESENT:  Ms S Cotton (Solicitor), Ms J Philpott, (Licensing ,Manager), Ms 
C Hillman (Licensing Officer), Mr M Salisbury (Enforcement & Regulatory Services 
Manager), Mr N Murphy (Committee Co-ordinator), Ms A Pillinger (Thomas Guise 
Solicitors), Mr A Catterall (LiDL Stores)

22. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Bardoe was proposed, seconded and duly elected Chairman of the 
meeting.

23. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Ms. Cotton, the legal advisor to the Sub-Committee, reported that one of the 
objectors to the application had been employed in administrative roles by the 
Council in Legal Services and subsequently the Mayor’s office. but had left 
the authority several years ago,

25. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman reported that there were no urgent items for the Sub -
Committee to consider.

26. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

The Chairman introduced Members present and called upon others present to 
identify themselves.  He then explained to the parties that the Sub-Committee 
intended to follow the procedure detailed in the Licensing Sub-Committee 
Rules of Procedure, circulated as item 6 to the agenda.

27. APPLICATION BY LIDL UK GMBH, INSTONE ROAD, DARTFORD, KENT. 

The Sub-Committee received a report from the Licensing Manager, presented 
by the Enforcement & Regulatory Services Manager, setting out details of an 
application for the grant of a new Premises Licence received from LiDL 
Stores.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

2

The report also set out details a number of conditions proposed by the 
Licencing Authority and by the Police which had been agreed by the 
applicant.

Licensing Officers informed the Sub-Committee that objections to the 
application had been received both from local residents and local Ward 
Councillors, but that no objections had been received from any other 
Responsible Authorities. 

The Chairman then introduced Ms Amanda Pillinger who was representing 
the applicant.

Ms Pillinger  highlighted the conditions as set out in the Operating Conditions 
(pages 23 and 24 of the agenda) as well as the additional conditions that had 
agreed by the applicant in consultation with the Police, She also summarised 
the concerns that had been raised by the objectors.

Ms Pillinger informed the Sub-Committee that the applicant was a responsible 
retailer who believed in engaging with the local community and with local 
residents.

She stressed that the company undertook extensive staff training relating to 
the sale of alcohol and that this encompassed the following

 The “Challenge 25” initiative
 The identification and elimination of proxy purchases
 The identification of and refusal to serve street drinkers
 Conflict Management 

Staff are required to complete this training every 6 months, and signed an 
Alcohol Policy Register to acknowledge that the training had been received 
and that they understood the need to comply. The company’s training 
programmes were kept up to date with any new developments, such as the 
introduction of Drinkaware scheme, and disciplinary action was taken against 
staff who breached the company’s policies.

It was noted that duty managers were responsible for refusing the sale of 
alcohol to any potential customer, rather than cashiers, and that this reduced 
the incidence of conflict over this issue. All duty managers would either hold a 
personal licence, or be working towards obtaining such a licence.

Ms Pillinger confirmed that displays of alcohol would be confined to a section 
of the store distant from the entrance, although there may be some seasonal 
displays of alcohol elsewhere in the store, such as during the Christmas 
period. These displays would not be next to the entrance to the store. The far 
aisle that was normally used to display alcohol would be covered by the 
store’s CCTV systems, and would also be adjacent to a cashier’s desk that 
would be permanently manned whilst the store was open. The cashier could 
therefore keep watch over that aisle in between serving customers. It was 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

3

noted that cashiers were not subject to any targets as to the volume of items 
sold, which could otherwise distract them from such duties.

It was noted that there had been objections relating to deliveries to the store 
and pedestrian access via Gordon Road, but these were  matters controlled 
by planning conditions. 

Ms Pillinger explained that the applicant is a responsible retailer. It has a 
policy of working with the local community and is committed to ensuring that 
community issues do not arise from the sale of alcohol from its stores. The 
applicant is a Retail of Alcohol Standards Group member and funder of an 
alcohol policy partnership, which supports a number of schemes.

Members then asked the following questions and Ms Pillinger gave the 
subsequent responses:

Why does the application cover hours extending beyond the periods currently 
permitted by the planning consent for the store?

This is to afford the flexibility to sell alcohol during special periods, such as 
Christmas, and not have to apply for Temporary Events Notices on each 
occasion. 

How will the licensing objective of the prevention of public nuisance to be 
addressed by the applicant? 
Our training programme equips our staff to deal with any issues that may 
arise. This was not mentioned on the application form under that particular 
heading as there is a degree of overlap between the various licensing 
objectives.

How does the applicant intend to address issues that occur outside their 
premises?

Whilst the applicant accepts that it has a responsibility to do what it can, there 
is still an element of personal responsibility. Evidence of the applicant’s 
policies relating to the sale of alcohol has been presented to the Sub-
Committee,
Does the applicant intend to maintain a register of refusals?

Refusals books have been trialled at some of the applicant’s other  stores, but 
it has been found to be more effective for the duty manager to deal with any 
refusals. CCTV evidence of the refusal would also be available.
How is the efficacy of staff training tested?

We carry out unannounced inspections and “Mystery Shopper” exercises to 
test the response of our staff.

Do you require extended hours for the Christmas period only and could this 
not be catered for using Temporary Event Notices?



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

4

It is much more convenient for LiDL to seek longer permitted hours and use 
these as and when necessary.  To seek TENs on each occasion is 
administratively burdensome, and there are limits on such applications.

How can an effective monitor of street drinking be undertaken?

The vast majority of alcohol sold in LiDL stores is “own brand” produce and 
thus can be easily recognised as such. If street drinkers are obtaining our 
products we will usually be able to identify this.

Is it the policy for LiDL to retail individual bottles and cans of alcoholic drink?

We would wish to retain the right to sell individual bottles and cans as we 
retail substantial quantities of craft and speciality beers, lagers and ciders, 
which customers purchase on an individual basis to sample. The concerns 
raised the by objectors in relation to street drinking and proxy sales are 
addressed by the Lidl’s policies on the sale of alcohol.  Conditions restricting 
the sale of individual bottles and cans have not been imposed on the 
applicant by other licensing authorities, and it would be difficult from an 
operational point of view to apply such a policy to an individual store.

What is the applicant’s policy on ABV levels?

The applicant currently sells one cider over 6% APV, and products with higher 
ABVs may feature as part of promotions. If there were concerns about the 
purchase of a high strength alcohol by a customer, then the duty manager 
would be called by the cashier.

Is it the general policy for the applicant to apply for such long permitted hours 
when a premises licence is sought?

In general terms the applicant seeks permitted hours from 7am to 11.00pm to 
avoid having to apply for TENs. We believe the evidence that we have 
supplied supports the grant of such hours

Members expressed concerned that if a review hearing proved necessary that 
it would take some time for this process to be completed, during which time 
residents may still be suffering problems.
If there were problems relating to the sale of alcohol, the applicant would wish 
to address these at an early stage, rather than having to address these at a 
review hearing. The applicant works in partnership with the responsible 
authorities and the local residents. They are an experienced retailer, as you 
have seen from the evidence presented 

What is the demand for alcohol on a Sunday outside the current hours 
permitted for Sunday trading?

The applicant cannot say. The application must be determined on the basis of 
the law as it stands. 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

5

Ms Pillinger noted that the applicant would wish to operate the store on the 
basis that all products are available for sale at all times the store is open for 
trading. In terms of the sale of alcohol, this approach was supported by the 
Guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Licensing 
Act 2003. The applicant would not wish to close off areas of the store during 
opening hours,

The Chairman thanked M Pillinger for her presentation and for the responses  
to their questions.

The Chairman then introduced Councillor McLean who had objected to the 
application and was seeking conditions to address a number of issues of 
concern raised not only by himself but also the other objectors
Councillor McLean commenced by thanking Ms Pillinger for her responses as 
they had covered some of the issues that he to raise He expressed 
disappointment that the applicant had not disclosed this information earlier in 
the process.  However he wished to raise the following matters which were 
still of concern:

 The proposed hours of sale for alcohol, which he believed were 
excessive

 Some aspects of the training given to staff members which required 
clarification

 The sale of individual cans and bottles

 The positioning of alcohol for sale within the store 

 The impact on street drinking of the availability of cheap alcohol in the 
store

The meeting was adjourned  during the presentation by Councillor McLean to 
allow the legal advisor to give guidance to the Sub-Committee on the 
procedure.  The Sub-Committee Members withdrew from the meeting room 
during this adjournment.

There was no discussion of the application during the adjournment.

Councillor McLean continued, that he believed that local residents’ views 
should be taken into account when dealing with this application and that they 
too were unhappy with the prospect of street drinkers.  He added that he was 
unclear of the applicant’s policy relating to proxy sales and believed that a 
refusals register provided useful intelligence relating to under age and street 
drinking.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

6

Ms Pillinger clarified that the applicant’s training scheme was accredited, and 
also advised the Sub-Committee of the wording of the applicant’s policy 
dealing with proxy sales. She explained that the applicant would work closely 
with the local Police and the local community.

Arising from the presentation Ms Pillinger agreed that the applicant would be 
happy to accept conditions on the Premises Licence stipulating their 
membership of a local business / crime partnership and the positioning of 
alcohol for sale within the store.

The Licensing Officers commented that it is only usually smaller retailers who 
make use of a refusals book. With the larger retailers, there are regular 
meetings between the licensing authority and store representatives to share 
intelligence. The use of the radio system also provides dynamic intelligence to 
other members of the partnership that can be acted upon immediately. These 
arrangements were considered by officers provide a more effective system 
than a physical refusals book, and any incidents are also noted in a central 
database.

The Chairman thanked Councillor McLean for his presentation and invited his 
closing comments.

Councillor McLean responded by stating that while he was not opposed to the 
grant of a Premises Licence to the applicant he felt that the proximity of local 
residential properties combined with the permitted hours sought,  the 
preference for LiDL to be able to sell single units of alcohol, and the issues of 
street drinking (which could happen at any time but was more unsettling for 
members of the public to encounter early in the morning and late at night) all 
contributed to difficulties accepting the application without additional 
conditions being imposed.  . The fact that two members of the public and two 
Councillors had objected to the application highlighted that there were 
concerns about the application. 

If a review hearing provided necessary in the future, Councillor McLean 
reminding the Sub-Committee that it would take time to conclude this process. 
Finally, he mentioned that he was pleased that the applicant was prepared to 
volunteer a condition about the location of alcohol within the store, and was 
had received some re-assurance from the comments made by the applicant 
about their training programme.

Ms Pillinger on behalf of LiDL made the following points in closing

 LiDL had a record of co-operation with local residents and local 
authorities across the country, and this would continue in Dartford.

 The  applicant was quite happy to join the local crime partnership and 
use the radio link accordingly. They had experience with operating 
similar schemes in other areas of the country.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

7

The were no objections to the application from the responsible authorities, 
including the Police who would have objected to the application if they had 
concerns.

 LiDL were committed to meeting the licensing objectives.

 Should any problems emerge the review process could always be 
invoked, but it was hoped that this would never be necessary.

Ms Pillinger referred to the Local Policy Conditions. In addition to those 
matters highlighted in Appendix C she wished to refer the Sub-Committee to 
paragraphs 1.12, 1.15 and 5.4 of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy. 
Finally, Ms Pillinger referred to the Appendix D, setting our extracts from the 
Secretary of State’s Guidance under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 
She wished in addition to refer the Sub-Committee to paragraph 2.1 of that 
Guidance, which stated that licensing authorities should look to the police as a 
main source of advice on crime and disorder.

The Chairman thanked both Councillor McLean and Ms Pillinger for their 
participation and the Members of the Sub-Committee withdrew,  to consider 
the application, accompanied by the Committee Co-ordinator.

During the course of their deliberations the Members of the Sub-Committee 
asked that the Licensing Manager and then the legal adviser join them to give 
advice.

On resumption of the proceedings in open session, at the request of the 
Chairman, the legal advisor informed all parties that Members had been 
reminded of paragraph 10.15 of the Secretary of State’s Guidance under 
section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 and advice had been given on the 
drafting of a proposed condition. The Licensing Manager had provided by way 
of background information only details of the permitted hours for the nearby 
Sainsbury’s supermarket which had been mentioned in the objections, but 
that Members of the Sub-Committee had been advised that this application 
should be determined on its own merits.
The Chairman stressed that the Sub-Committee had considered all the 
submissions and evidence from all the parties in making its decision.

Accordingly, on the basis that this decision was appropriate to meet licensing 
objective as to the prevention of public nuisance it was, 

RESOLVED

That the Premises Licence be granted to permit the following licensable 
activities and hours:

Relevant licensable activities:

The application is for a New Premises Licence under Section 34 of the 
Licensing Act 2003.



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

8

(a)The Operating Schedule shows the following licensable 
activities and trading hours with proposed additional 
conditions as shown below:

(b)Relevant licensable activities:

 The sale and supply of alcohol off the premises;

(c)    Hours for the sale and supply of alcohol:

Monday to Saturday 08:00 - 22:00

Sunday and Bank Holidays either 10:00 – 16.00 or 11:00 
- 17:00

Seasonal Variation 

From 1 December to 7 January (inclusive),  
07:00 - 23:00

d) Designated Premises Supervisor: Ms Rebecca Bough  

(e) Sale of Alcohol is for consumption off the premises. 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

9

That the License shall be granted subject to the following Conditions 

A) General

All staff are trained in and are aware of the licensing legislation especially in 
relation to the prevention of underage sales.  They are required to sign a 
register confirming that they have undertaken training and are aware of their 
responsibilities. Training is repeated at frequent intervals at least bi annually.  
Any person in breach of the Company alcohol policy is subject to disciplinary 
proceedings.  

Notices are displayed in the premises advising of the licensing legislation.

Alcohol for sale will not be displayed near to the entrance to the store.  It will 
be on shelves furthest from the entrance / exit to the premises.

B) The Prevention of Crime and Disorder

The operators of the premises will maintain a good relationship with the local 
police and other relevant local authorities.

The operators will become members of and participate in the local Business 
Crime Partnership Initiative. (currently the Dartford Town Against Crime 
Partnership)
CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of 
providing pictures of evidential quality in all lighting conditions particularly 
facial recognition.   
 Cameras shall encompass all ingress and egress to the premises, fire 

exits and all areas where the sale and supply of alcohol occurs.

 Equipment must be maintained in good working order, be correctly time 
and date stamped, recordings MUST be kept in date order, numbered 
sequentially and kept for a period of 28 days and handed to Police or 
relevant Authority on request.   

 The recording equipment and any storage media shall be kept in a 
secure environment under the control of the DPS or other responsible 
named individual. 

 Lidl store management to be trained to view and download CCTV 
footage on receipt of an internal authorisation code. For urgent matters, 
at all times officers will be able to view CCTV footage to verify if a 
reported offence is covered and, whenever required, CCTV will be 
downloaded and made available to the officer as soon as reasonably 
practicable. For non-urgent matters, CCTV will be available to view and 
download at all times during normal office hours on receipt of an 
internal authorisation code or in any event within 48 hours.   



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

FRIDAY 14 OCTOBER 2016

10

All persons that sell or supply alcohol to customers must have licensing 
training.   

 Training should take place within six weeks of employment and any 
new employees will be supervised until the training has taken place. 
  

 Refresher training should be repeated a minimum of every six 
months or earlier if required due to changes of legislation.   

 Training records must be kept on the premises and shall contain the 
nature, content and frequency of all training. 

 Records must be made available for inspection by Police, Police 
Licensing Officer and authorised officers from the relevant Authority 
on demand either electronically or hard copy.

C)  Public Safety
Fire Safety Equipment is provided at the premises and staff are trained in the 
use of this equipment.

D) The Prevention of Public Nuisance

E) The Protection of Children From Harm
Should anyone who appears to be under 25 attempts to purchase alcohol a 
duty manager is called to verify their age.  The Manager will only accept 
photographic Identification as proof of age – ie passport, photo driving licence, 
or PASS card.  If such ID is not provided then sales will not take place.

The meeting closed at 1.00 pm

 
CHAIRMAN



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee held on Thursday 17 
November 2016 at 10.30 am

PRESENT:

ALSO 
PRESENT

Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor D E Hunnisett
Councillor C S McLean

Ms S Cotton (Solicitor), Ms J Philpott (Licensing Manager), Mr Mark 
Salisbury (Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager), Mr N 
Murphy (Committee Co - ordinator), PC C. Cosser and PC C. Hill 
(Kent Police Service).

27. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Bardoe was proposed, seconded and duly elected Chairman of the 
meeting.

28. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

29. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

30. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items for the Sub - Committee to consider.

31. RULES OF PROCEDURE 

The Chairman introduced Members present and called upon others present to 
identify themselves.  He then explained to the parties that the Sub-Committee 
intended to follow the procedure detailed in the Licensing Sub-Committee 
Rules of Procedure, circulated as item 6 to the agenda.

32. ABSENCE OF APPLICANT 

It was reported by the Licensing Manager that the applicant was not present 
and that no further information in support of the application had been 
received. 

The Licensing Manager gave details of her telephone conversations with the 
applicant since notice of the hearing had been issued,

The Sub - Committee received advice from the Legal Advisor on the 
provisions of Regulation 20 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearing Regulations) 
2005 which deals with the circumstances where a party does not attend the 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

THURSDAY 17 NOVEMBER 2016

2

hearing. If a party has informed the authority that they do not intend to attend 
or be represented at a hearing, the hearing may proceed in their absence. If a 
party who has not so indicated fails to attend or be represented the authority 
may, where it considers it to be necessary in the public interest, adjourn the 
hearing to a specified date or hold the hearing in the party’s absence. 

In the absence of the applicant the Sub - Committee considered the 
circumstances of the non - attendance and 

RESOLVED

That the application be heard in the absence of the applicant.

33. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Sub Committee resolved under the provisions of Section 100A (4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) to exclude the press and public for 
the following items of business on the grounds that the discussion was likely 
to involve the disclosure of exempt information.

34. APPLICATION FOR A PERSONAL LICENCE 

The Licensing Manager presented a report on an application for a personal 
licence.  

The report set out the process for application, the statutory provisions under 
which it should be considered and the details of the application itself.

It was noted that the Kent Police Service had objected to the granting of the 
Licence and the Chairman invited the Police Officers present to explain these 
objections.

PC Claire Cosser gave an outline of the terms of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 to the Sub - Committee and referred Members to the list 
of unspent convictions revealed by the Basic Disclosure Report at Appendix 
B. 

PC Cosser explained that the Police did not believe that the applicant should 
be granted a personal licence as a number of the convictions notified were not 
spent under the terms of the 1974 Act.
 
PC Cosser expanded on the convictions noting that they displayed 
dishonesty, a lack of respect for the law and the Police and that some were 
alcohol related.  All were indicators of the poor character of the applicant. 

PC Christopher Cook presented further details of the applicant’s past dealings 
with the Police and suggested that these were an an indication indicative of 
the character of the applicant. 



LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

THURSDAY 17 NOVEMBER 2016

3

The Legal Advisor advised that in accordance with Section 114 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 any spent convictions must be disregarded by the Sub-
Committee when determining the application, although the Sub-Committee 
could consider generally the representations from Kent Police regarding the 
character of the applicant.

It was also noted that the granting of a Personal Licence would enable an 
applicant to work as a Designated Premises Supervisor anywhere in England 
and Wales and local Police Officers may not be aware of the applicant’s past.

The Sub-Committee assessed the application against the licensing objective 
relating to the prevention of crime and disorder and found that the applicant 
had not demonstrated that they were of good character, the applicant had 
been convicted of offences that were linked to problems with alcohol, 
dishonesty and failure to comply with directions and these offences were 
unspent.  These convictions, together with the representations from the Kent 
Police as to the applicant’s character and approach to law and order, 
evidenced the applicant’s lack of good character over a number of years 
which was inconsistent with the role and responsibilities of the holder of a 
personal licence, 

RESOLVED

That the application be refused on the basis that the Sub-Committee 
considers it appropriate to do so for the promotion of the licensing objective 
relating to the prevention of crime and disorder.

The meeting closed at 11.12 am

Councillor A Bardoe 
CHAIRMAN





LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

D:\apps\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\8\8\AI00027885\$ysmu1p40.doc 

REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE 
HIRE LICENSING POLICY 1 APRIL 2017 – 31 MARCH 2020 & 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the response received on the draft Statement of Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy during the consultation period and to recommend 
accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the responses to the consultation on the draft Statement of Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy at Appendix A to the report be noted.

2.2 That, for the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.2 of the report and pending the repeal of 
and making of new Hackney Carriage Byelaws, the Committee notes that Byelaw 
18(i) relating to ‘lost/found property’ is not being enforced and that the ‘Found 
Property Procedure’ at Appendix Q to the Policy, be agreed.

2.3 That, for the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.3 of the report, the Versant English Test 
proficiency score of 56/80 not be lowered.

2.4 That, for the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.4 of the report, the new style computer 
based Knowledge Test be continued with and that the number of applicants and 
pass and fail rates be monitored over a period of six months to obtain comparable 
data.

2.5 That, for the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.6 of the report, Condition 14(i) relating to 
the requirement for operators to keep a copy of the driver’s enhanced DBS 
certificate, be deleted from Appendix H of the Operator’s Conditions.

2.6 That, for the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.7 of the report, a 3 year Driving 
Qualification period be implemented in place of the  age 21 restriction.  

2.7 That, for the reasons outlined in para. 3.5.8 of the report, the condition relating to the 
requirement to carry and have available for use fire extinguishers in private hire 
vehicles, be reinstated in Appendix B, C and D , and that the Policy provision at 
para. 23.5 relating to risk assessments in carrying such equipment be endorsed.

2.8 That the Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy at 
Appendix B to the report, be adopted and that the Policy be effective from 1 April 
2017, for a three year period.



LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Council is responsible for the regulation of hackney carriage (taxi) and private 
hire services within the Borough of Dartford. The framework for the licensing 
system is contained within numerous pieces of legislation, but primarily the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847, the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 (as amended) and Hackney Carriage Byelaws.

3.2 On 22 September 2016 [Min.No.6] the Committee considered proposals for a 
number of amendments to the current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy (adopted on 01 April 2014 for a three year period). The aim of 
these amendments was simplification and consolidation and to ensure that the 
Policy correctly reflects current Government guidance and statutory requirements.  

3.3 Consultation on the amendments was carried out between the 24 October 2016 
and 31 December 2016, with details being published on the Council’s website and 
referred to in the printed newsletter sent to the trades in October 2016.  
Responses were received from the Dartford Private Hire Drivers Association 
(DPHDA) and Nick Morris – All Night Cars (NM), and are reproduced at Appendix 
A to the report.

3.5 The responses to the consultation raised a number of points which are addressed 
below: 

3.5.1 Consultation Process – Both the DPHDA and NM have questioned the 
method and validity of the consultation process.

The consultation was carried out between the period 24 October 2016 to 31 
December. All licensed drivers, proprietors and operators were sent a 
Newsletter detailing the consultation period, a copy of the amendments table 
(Appendix B), details of where to obtain further information and an enclosure 
explaining the question relating to the increase in Driving Qualifying Period. 

Copies of the consultation documents were sent to all Libraries within the 
Borough, to the police, LGA, TFL and other local authorities in Kent.

On 17 November 2016, it was bought to the attention of the Licensing Authority 
that the public could not access the documents on the website. This was 
rectified as soon as possible and the consultation period was extended to the 
13 January 2017.

NM has asked why a meeting was not carried out with the Trade prior to the 
consultation period and the DPHDA has asked why it was not consulted as an 
individual body. 

There was no representation body for either side of the Trade at the time 
respectively, of undertaking the amendments to the Policy and the consultation 
process. The DPHDA was asked, in June 2016, to provide documents relating 



LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

to the constitution of the Association and who it represented; this information 
was not received until November 2016, after the consultation had commenced

The DPHDA asked why a public announcement relating to the consultation was 
not made.  This is not a statutory requirement and public announcements have 
not previously been made in the press relating to any Policy consultation. 

3.5.2 Byelaws – Changes in legislation and policy direction have necessitated a 
review of the Hackney Carriage Byelaws. At the time of the Policy consultation, 
Officers were in discussions with the Department for Transport (DfT) to have 
the current Byelaws, which were adopted in 1977 repealed and for the 
Licensing Authority to adopt the DfT’s current model Byelaws. This is dealt with 
as a separate item on the agenda.

The response to the Policy consultation takes issue with the Licensing Authority 
for deciding not to enforce Hackney Carriage Byelaw 18 ‘lost/found property’ 
and questions the powers for taking such a decision.

In 2015, Kent Police had indicated that it would no longer accept ‘found/lost 
property’.  Officers considered that accepting ‘lost/found property’ could cause 
a security risk.  Kent Police has since changed its position and now accepts 
items linked to crime.  

The Policy’s Appendix L (para. 1.5) provides that any departure from the Policy 
must be exceptional, capable of justification, be fully considered and endorsed 
by Officers before the decision is taken.  The proposal not to enforce Byelaw 18 
was considered by the Strategic Director (External Services) and endorsed.

Having raised the matter informally with the DfT, the Licensing Authority will in 
its review of the Byelaws, include a Byelaw relating to ‘lost/found property’ 
which requires items linked to crime to be delivered to a police station.  

On the advice of the DfT, ‘lost/found property’ not related to crime, will be dealt 
with through the Policy.  

3.5.3 Versant English Test – (Versant™ measures English speaking skills)

The Versant English Test was introduced by the Licensing Authority to measure 
English speaking skills at a level of language proficiency needed to work 
effectively in a public facing environment. 

The Licensing Authority’s proficiency score of 56 is roughly equivalent to 
boundary levels B1 (Intermediate) and B2 (Upper Intermediate) of the Common 
European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR) scale.

B1 is the minimum requirement for naturalisation applications and is a level 
where mispronunciations may occur, but reasonably accurate. 

Research undertaken into other local authority practices (Dacorum, Cheltham 



LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

and Mid Sussex) confirms the application of a proficiency score of 55/56 with 
only Christchurch scoring lower, at 45. Stevenage had a proficiency score of 
50 between 2009-2014, with the score increased to 60, following complaints.

The DPHDA consultation response has suggested the lowering of the 
proficiency score from 56 to 45/46. The Licensing Authority considers that this 
would place an applicant at the CEFR’s elementary level of A2, where 
mistakes and misunderstandings are most likely to occur.  

For the purposes of driver licensing, applicants should have language 
proficiency equivalent to the threshold of levels B1 and B2 of the CEFR scale 
(an overall score on the Versant English Test of 55/80 or higher).

It is not recommended that the Versant English Test language proficiency score 
be lowered. 

It should be noted that the requirement for an English proficiency test is applied 
equally to all driver candidates, including those who may be expected to speak 
English as a first language by virtue of their country of birth, but subject to  
exempting a candidate from any English test requirement if they can 
demonstrate that they have previously passed a relevant English language 
qualification at a suitable level, such as a GCSE, GCE O-level or GCE A-level 
issued by a recognised examining body in the UK (grade C or higher) etc.

3.5.4 Knowledge Test – Both consultation responses recommend the knowledge 
test be returned to a paper test and the routes included in the Knowledge Test 
information pack. In April 2016, the Knowledge Test was changed from a 
written test to a computer based test, to streamline the process and to make it 
more cost effective and efficient for prospective drivers. Under the old style, 
the test was held every three months. The new test allows sittings every four 
weeks, making the process quicker for driver applicants. It also allows for the 
introduction of other modules, such as Safeguarding and Prevent.  

The routes have been removed from the new style computer based test. This 
ensures that driver applicants have a full geographical knowledge of the 
Borough and not just the routes. 

During the period April 2015 to April 2016, 48 applicants sat the old style written 
test which included learning all the routes. Of those 48, the following results 
were achieved:

HC Part 1 8 pass 6 fail
HC Part 2 12 pass 1 fail
Total 20 pass 7 fail

PH 9 pass 12 fail

During the period April 2016 to 31 January 2017, 51 driver applicants sat the 



LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

new style computer based test. Of those 51, the following results were 
achieved:

HC Part 1 5 pass 10 fail
HC Part 2 8 pass 4 fail
Total 13 pass 14 fail

PH 10 pass 14 fail

This shows that the number of HC driver applicants sitting the new style 
computer based test has slightly increased, but the numbers of PH driver 
applicants passing the same test has remained on par with the old style written 
test, whilst the number of HC driver applicants passing the new style computer 
based test has reduced. 

The recommendation is to continue with the new style computer based test 
(omitting the routes from the information pack) but to monitor the number of 
applicants and pass and fail rates over a period of six months to obtain 
comparable data.

3.5.5 Appeals relating to marking – To enable the handing of appeal into 
knowledge test results, the DPHDA has requested that copies of the completed 
marked Knowledge Test be sent to driver applicants who have sat the test. 

The request cannot be granted as the test is a computer based assessment 
which offers complete automated marking with no local assessment needed. 
An appeal against the result must be made in writing within seven days which 
may result in the test paper being remarked by the Vehicle Licensing Officer. 

3.5.6 Appendix H – Operator’s Conditions

The DPHDA recommends that that Condition 14(i) of the Operator’s Conditions 
(requirement to keep copies of drivers’ DBS enhanced DBS certificates) 
appears to be an unnecessary and inappropriate condition to place on a private 
hire operator. The DPHDA recommends that it be removed. 

The Licensing Authority concurs with the DPHDA’s views. It is therefore 
recommended that the Condition(14)(i) be deleted from Appendix H – 
Operator’s Conditions  

3.5.7 Three (3) year Driving Qualification Period 

The relevant licensing legislation only requires a UK or EU/EEA countries 
driving licence to have been held for a minimum period of twelve months on 
application to become a licensed HC/PH driver.  

A proposal to increase the period from 12 months to 36 months was put 
forward during the meeting of 22 September 2016, with a request for 
consultation with the Trade on the effect this increase would have. 



LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

Two written responses were received in response to this from the DPHDA and 
Mr Nick Morris respectively. Both make the comment that the length of time one 
holds a licence is not necessarily indicative the person has been actually driving 
for that period of time.  They also believe the three year term to be too onerous 
and a barrier to entry to the Trade.  It has also been stated that over a period of 
time, some evidence exists that poor practices can creep in. 

Five verbal responses were received from the Hackney Carriage trade who 
believed that extending the period to 36 months was a “good idea and would 
improve the standards of applicants”.

At a recent training course held by the LGA and Rotherham Borough Council 
the 3 year driving qualification period was advocated as an alternative to age 
restrictions and as an added Safeguarding criteria. 

Statistical information was requested from insurance companies to ascertain 
whether there was information relating to accidents and the length of time a 
person has held a driving licence. Unfortunately, this information was not 
available, but the insurance companies did state that they believe the length of 
time a person has held a driving licence affects the type of driver they are and 
this is why they offer discounts to drivers for each additional year of ‘accident 
free’ driving.

The recommendation is to implement the 3 year Driving Qualification period 
and to remove the age 21 restriction.  

3.5.8 Fire Extinguishers – The reintroduction of fire extinguishers in vehicles is 
requested by the DfT as part of the Byelaw consultation and not the Policy 
consultation.

At the Licensing Committee on the 16 July 2013 [Min. 5] it was agreed to 
remove the condition from Appendices B and C requiring private hire and 
hackney carriage vehicles to carry a fire extinguisher, as the Regulatory Reform 
(Fire Safety) Order 2005 made this requirement arguably unnecessary and to 
cover the issue through the Policy.  Following the recent informal discussions 
with the DfT regarding the Hackney Carriage Byelaws, the DfT has drawn the 
Licensing Authority’s attention to its duties relating to ensuring public safety and 
to the fact that it would be preferable to encapsulate the fire extinguisher 
requirement and ‘making it readily available’ as a Byelaw which would then 
provide the Licensing Authority with the power to impose a sanction or penalty 
for non-observance, rather than relying on the Policy and putting safety 
measures in the hands of proprietors and drivers .

The recommendation is to reinstate the condition for all private hire vehicles to 
carry a fire extinguisher and that a Policy provision to cover risk assessments 
involved in carrying such equipment be introduced.  For hackney carriages, the 
fire extinguisher requirement is currently covered by the Hackney Carriage 
Byelaws.



LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

In summary

3.6 The Licensing Authority is entitled to adopt policies which will regulate the 
exercise of a given discretionary power and which seeks, both in fairness to the 
licence holder potentially affected and also to protect the public interest, to have 
a staged process by which the cumulative effect of incidents of misconduct may 
well lead, ultimately, to the conclusion that, in the judgment of the Licensing 
Authority, a person is not a ‘fit and proper person’ to continue to enjoy the 
relevant licence (R (app Singh) v Cardiff City Council (2012) EWHC 1852 
(admin).  

The Committee is recommended to agree the recommendations in para. 2 of 
this report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
 
The licensing function supports the Safer Communities theme of the Corporate 
Plan, specifically, strategic objective SC1: To use the Council’s statutory functions 
to increase public safety in the Borough.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications As detailed in the body of the report
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultees’ responses
Appendix B – Draft Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing 
Policy - 1 APRIL 2017 – 31 MARCH 2020

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

02.02.17 Joanne Philpott Licensing N/A





1 

 

  
Dartford Private Hire Drivers 

Association 

 

 

c/o 34 Canterbury Avenue, Sidcup, Kent DA15 9AS  
 

 07715 986 998 
 dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com 

 
Licensing Section 
Civic Centre  
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
DAI IDR 
  
Sent by email to Licensing@dartford.gov.uk 

 
17 February 2017 

 
Dear Sirs 

 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYLAWS CONSULTATION 

 

Herewith is the DPHDA’s response to the Hackney Carriages Byelaws Consultation Notice 

dated 23 January 2017. 

 

Typographical errors 
 

Page 2; last sub-para of Byelaw 4. Change ‘(e)’ to ‘(f)’. 
 
Page 3; first word of Byelaw 16(ii).  Change to ‘Where’. 
 

Introduction 
 
The draft byelaws conform to the July 2005 edition of the Department for Transport 
Guidance Notes and Model Byelaws given in ‘Button on Taxis Licensing Law and Practice 
Edn 3, Appendix II, Circular A2.10’.  However, two additional byelaws (Byelaws 14 and 15) 
have been added under the heading ‘Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors 
and drivers of hackney carriages plying within the district in their several employments, and 
determining whether such drivers shall wear any and what badges’. 
 
Consideration of Byelaw 14 
 
Byelaw 14 states: 
 

The driver of a hackney carriage shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of 
any alteration to his/her declared circumstances in relation to the following:- 
 
(a) name or address; 
(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her driving ability; 
(c) vehicle which he/she rents (if applicable). 
 

Consideration of 14(a) name or address 
When filling in an application form for a hackney carriage of private hire drivers licences, the 
applicant must provide his/her name and address and the licence is registered in the 
applicants name at that address.  If the driver ceases to live at the address specified in the 
licence application, the licence becomes invalid. 

mailto:dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com


2 

 

 
S57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (LG(MP)A 1976), the 
Council has the power to require applicants to submit information.  Therefore, there appears 
to be no need for a byelaw. 
 
We consider Byelaw 14(a) to be unnecessary. 
 
Consideration of 14(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her driving ability 
Whilst the sentiment is appreciated, this condition is too vague in its present form. 
 
Further, for the reasons set out below, we consider that a byelaw is unnecessary.  Express 
powers already exist in primary legislation for dealing with this issue, therefore it can be dealt 
with by means of a licence condition. 
 
The following definition of a byelaw is taken from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government document: Communities in control: real people, real power - The making and 
enforcement of byelaws – Consultation August 2008: 

 
What is a byelaw? 
2.1  A byelaw is a law which is made by a body, such as a local authority, under an 
enabling power established by an Act of Parliament and which has been confirmed 
by the Secretary of State.  Byelaws generally require something to be done – or not 
to be done – in a particular location.  They are accompanied by a sanction or penalty 
for non-observance.  If validly made, byelaws have the force of law within the areas 
to which they apply.  Offences against byelaws attract a penalty fine which can, at 
present, only be enforced through the Magistrates’ Courts. 
 

2.2  Byelaws are not considered a suitable regulatory mechanism in cases where 
there are already express powers in primary legislation for dealing with an issue 
which is causing concern.  Where there are no such powers, byelaws should only be 
considered when all other avenues, such as voluntary schemes, have been 
exhausted. 

 
Under S57 of the LG(MP)A 1976, the Council has the power to require applicants to submit 
information. 
 
Sub-section 2(a)(i) deals specifically with the requirement for applicants to produce a 
certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to the effect that he is physically fit to 
be the driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle. 
 
In subsection 3 it goes on to state: 
 

If any person knowingly or recklessly makes a false statement or omits any material 
particular in giving information under this section, he shall be guilty of an offence. 

 
From this it is clear that there is already primary legislation enabling the Council to require 
applicants to provide a certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to the effect 
that he/she is physically fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle.  
Therefore, based on section 2.2 of the above definition of a byelaw, a byelaw is not 
considered a suitable regulatory mechanism. 
 
In an exchange of correspondence on this matter with the Head of Legal Services, her email 
dated 8 February 2017 contained the following statement: 
 

The Licensing Section’s response to your query is that whilst you are correct that 
drivers undertake a medical and this is used to determine if an applicant is ‘Fit and 



3 

 

Proper’ as a pre-requisite to the grant of a licence, this is only done every three 
years. Therefore, consideration needs to be given to addressing the in–between 
period. 

 
Like the DBS disclosure, the medical fitness report is one of the criteria used by the Council 
to determine whether an applicant for a hackney carriage or private hire drivers licence is a 
fit and proper person.  Both are required to be carried out every 31 years, this being the 
standard period for a driver’s licence. 
 
If during the term of his/her licence the driver fails to meet the required medical standard the 
Council must, depending on the circumstances, either suspend or revoke their licence. 
 
This is no different to the DBS disclosure where in the Council’s Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy 2017-20, the intervening period is covered by Condition 13 in 
both the Hackney Carriage and private Hire Licence Conditions. 
 
All that is required is to include a condition in both the hackney and private hire licence 
conditions. 
 
As there is primary legislation covering medical fitness and an identical situation exists with 
the DBS disclosure, which is not covered by a byelaw, we consider that the evidence 
provided supports the DPHDA’s conclusion that a byelaw is unnecessary and that medical 
fitness should be dealt with in the same way as the DBS disclosure. 
 
Consideration of the wording of 14(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her 
driving ability 
14(b) states: 
 

The driver of a hackney carriage shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of 
any alteration to his/her declared circumstances in relation to injury or illness, which 
may affect his/her driving ability. 
 

We have concerns about the wording of this condition. 

Does it refer to diagnosed injuries or illnesses for which a formal note from a medical 
practitioner would be required to facilitate the driver’s return to work, or does it mean self-
diagnosis, in which case every time a driver takes time off work for a minor ailment, it must 
be reported, or does it mean both? 

As with all things that there needs to be a standard to work to and the Council has adopted 
the DVLA Group 2 medical standard for determining a person’s fitness to drive a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle. 

How is this standard to be enforced for injury or illness that does not require the involvement 
of a medical practitioner? 

We suggest the requirement, which should be a licence condition, be amended to: 

The driver of a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle shall, within 7 days, notify the 
Council, in writing, of any an injury or illness that degrades their standard of fitness to 
be below the DVLA Group 2 medical standard and return their driver’s licence to the 
Council. 

                                                           
1
 Divers beyond the age of 70, are required to have a medical annually. 



4 

 

Drivers have a legal duty to notify the DVLA of any injury or illness that would have a 
likely impact on safe driving ability; but generally, do not need to notify the DVLA of 
conditions for which clinical advice has indicated less than 3 months of no driving. 

The Council will not reinstate the driver’s licence until he/she has sufficiently 
recovered and been declared fit to return to work by a qualified medical practitioner 
and, if necessary, the DVLA has reinstated his/her driving licence. 

 
Consideration of 14(c) vehicle which he/she rents (if applicable) 
What is the purpose of the byelaw? 

The application forms for a hackney carriage or a private hire drivers licence do not require 
the applicant to give details of the vehicle they will be driving. 

A driver rents a licensed vehicle does not become the proprietor or have any interest in the 
licence of that vehicle.  Therefore, how can the driver who has made no declaration of 
circumstances in relation to the vehicle to the Council report to any alteration? 

This condition seems more appropriate to a proprietor, in which case it is covered by   S40 
and S41 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (TPCA 1847) and S57 of the LG(MP)A 1976 
and is not required. 

This byelaw should be removed. 

 
Consideration of Byelaw 15 
Byelaw 15 states: 
 

If a hackney carriage driver is arrested for an offence of dishonesty, indecency or 
violence, drug or alcohol related matters, the driver shall notify the Council in writing 
within 48 hours of the arrest. The driver shall further inform the Council of any 
motoring fixed penalty endorsements received, in writing within 7 days of receiving 
the endorsement. 
 

This byelaw relates to whether an applicant for a drivers licence is a fit and proper person. 
 
Before a licence is granted checks are carried out to ensure the applicant is a fit and proper 
person, e.g. DBS check, DVLA licence check, medical, etc.  If the applicant meets the fit and 
proper criteria a licence is awarded.  If during the term of the licence the driver fails to meet 
any of those criteria the he/she runs the risk the loss of their licence. 
 
This would again appear to be something that could be dealt with under S57 of the LG(MP)A 
1976? 
 
Consideration of Byelaw 19 
 
Background 
Made under the heading ‘Provisions Securing the Safe Custody and Redelivery of Any 
Property Accidentally Left in Hackney Carriages, and Fixing the Charges to Be Made in 
Respect Thereof’, Byelaw 18, which draft byelaw 19 is intended to replace, states: 
 
18. Every proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left 

therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or 
handed to him: 
 
(i) carry it within twenty-four hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its 

owner, to the office of the Council, and leave it in the custody of the officer in 
charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it; 

 



5 

 

(ii) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-
delivered an amount equal to five new pence in the pound of its estimated 
value (or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to the office of the 
Council, whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

 
Byelaw 18 appears in both the current and previous editions of the Councils Hackney 
Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy, and in the draft Policy 1 April 2017 – 31 March 
2020, which finished the public consultation phase on 13 January 2017. 
 
Note that Byelaw 18(i) requires property found in a hackney carriage to be delivered into the 
custody of the Council within 24 hours.  Yet in all editions the of the Policy, the Conditions of 
Licence for Hackney Carriage Drivers and those for Private Hire Drivers it state: 
 

The driver shall at the end of each hiring inspect the licensed vehicle for any property 
inadvertently left in the vehicle, if any property is found carry it as soon as possible, 
and in any event within 48 hours, to a Police Station in the district and leave it in the 
custody of an Officer on his giving a receipt for it. 

 
Whist these conditions do not correspond with the Byelaw 18(i) they do provide a place of 
safe custody for all property handed in at a police station.  However, as will be seen in 
Annex A, the DPHDA’s comments on this matter that were submitted in response to the 
Policy public consultation, this changed when Kent Police limited the property they would 
accept to property that is believed to be related to a crime, poses a direct threat to the public, 
or contains personal details relating to the owner. This resulted in the Licensing Section in its 
October 2015 Newsletter informing drivers: 
 

If lost property is found you should contact the Licensing Officer who may have been 
contacted and have details of the owner.  However, the Council will not be 
collection/storing lost property. 

 
This action has prevented drivers from complying with Byelaw 18(i). 
 
Byelaw 19 states: 
 

19 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carnage shall, if any property accidentally left 
therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or 
handed to him, which the driver believes to be related to a crime, poses a direct 
threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner; 
 

(a) carry it a s soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and 
leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a 
receipt for it; and 
 

(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be 
redelivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value 
(or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to a Police station, 
whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

 
 

Comparison of Byelaws 18 and 19 
It will be seen that Byelaw 18 requires all property to be delivered into the custody of the 
Council within 24 hours.  This very effective one-stop-shop arrangement because: 
 

a. time is allowed for the driver to try and arrange to restore the property to the 
owner; 

 



6 

 

b. safe custody is provided for property that the driver has been unable to 
identify or make contact the owner; 

 
c. it enables the owner to contact the Council to find out if their property has 

been handed in. 
 

d. if the property has not been handed in but owner has details of the vehicle or 
driver, particularly licence numbers, the Council is in the best position to help. 

 
Bylaw 19 requires the property to be delivered to a police station in the district and limits the 
type of property to that which the driver believes to be related to a crime, poses a direct 
threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner. 
 
This raises the question of what happens to the property that the police will not accept. 
 
In an email dated 4 February 2017 the Head of Legal Services provided the following 
information to the DPHDA in relation to the Council’s deliberations on how to proceed with 
Byelaw 19(a): 
 

Byelaw 19 - You are all too aware of the discussions that have ensued between us 
on the issue concerning found property.  The Licensing Authority has numerous 
concerns regarding the delivery to it and acceptance of found property and wished to 
place the obligation on drivers/proprietors to make reasonable attempts to locate the 
rightful owner of found property. The DfT’s response ‘… the Council may wish to 
consider amending the byelaw, so that it reflects the circumstances in which 
lost property could be handed into the police station…. and provide for all 
other types of property within its policy document. For e.g. its byelaws could say 
something along the lines of:- 
  

“The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property 
accidentally left therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the 
carriage be found by or handed to him, which the driver believes to be related 
to a crime; poses a direct threat to the public, or contains personal details 
relating to the owner: 
  
(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 

claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and 
leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a 
receipt for it; 

 
As will be seen from the highlighted text, the circumstances in which lost property could be 
handed into the police station has been covered; but no proposal has been made to 
“provide for all other types of property within its policy document.” 
 
Surely if it requires a byelaw to deal with property the police will accept, it will require a 
byelaw for how to deal with the property that the police will not accept. 
 
Conclusion and recommendations in relation to Byelaw 19 
It is clear from the action taken by the Council in October 2015 and the discussions between 
the DPHDA and the Council, that the Council is determined to divest itself of all responsibility 
for dealing with lost property. 
 
This desire has been so great that the Council has taken no action to provide drivers with 
guidance on the legal liabilities associated with dealing with lost property nor on how to 
recognise and deal with property that may pose a direct threat to the public. 
 



7 

 

As the Council appears to be determined to push draft Byelaw 19(a) through, the DPHDA 
would request that the Council faces up to its moral obligations to the public and the trade 
and: 
 

a. make a byelaw for how all other types of property that the police will not accept are to 
be dealt with; 
 

b. provide drivers and proprietors with guidance on the legal liabilities associated with 
dealing with lost property; 
 

c. provide drivers and proprietors with guidance on how to recognise and deal with 
property that may pose a direct threat to the public. 

 
Comment on the Consultation 
The consultation should have been based on the draft of the documentation prepared by 
Legal Services for submission to the DfT for provisional approval of the byelaws.  Those that 
have taken the time and trouble to comment would then have been in a better position to 
assess the Council’ proposals. 
 
That concludes the DPHDA’s comments. 

 
(electronic signature) 
A G P Shilling 
Chair DPHDA 

 



A1 

 

Annex A 
 

DPHDA’s Comments on Byelaw 18(i) Submitted in Response to the Public Consultation on 
the Draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 

 
2. Byelaws 

 
2.1. DP17-20, Page 17; Section 12; Byelaws & Conditions of Licence 

 
2.1.1. Reproduced below are sections 12.1, 12.2 and 12.5 of Section 12 of DP17-20. 

 
12.1  On 30 March 1977, the Licensing Authority adopted local Byelaws in respect of 
Hackney Carriages (APPENDIX O). 
 
12.2  The Byelaws are currently under review in accordance with DFT guidelines. Until 
the new Byelaws have been agreed the current Byelaws will remain in force. 
 
12.5  Failure to comply with Conditions and/or Byelaws may result in the Licence Holder 
being prosecuted by the Licensing Authority and may call into question the Licence 
Holder’s fitness to hold a Licence. 
 

2.1.2. What is not mentioned in the DP17-20 is the fact that in a newsletter dated October 2015, 
circulated to holders of HC and PH licenses, the Council’s Licensing Section announced 
that: 
 

Drivers will need to ensure that they check the vehicles carefully at the end of each 
journey for any lost property that may have been behind as Police Stations are no 
longer taking lost property. 
If lost property is found you should contact the Licensing Officer who may have 
been contacted and have details of the owner.  However, the Council will not be 
collection/storing lost property. 

 
2.1.3. The refusal of Council to accept lost property prevents drivers from complying with Byelaw 

18(i). 
 

2.1.4. Attached (Annex A) is a copy of the DPHDA’s letter to the Head of Legal dated 3 July 2016.  
It makes the case that the Licensing Committee does not have the delegated authority to 
prevent compliance with Byelaw 18(i). 
 

2.1.5. In her letter dated 23 March 2016, the Head of Legal Services, states that: 
 

Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers the Council to bring 
proceedings for the promotion or protection of the interests of inhabitants in its area, 
where this is considered expedient by the Council. This is a matter of professional 
judgement. A decision by the Council as to whether or not to initiate legal proceedings 
for a breach of a Hackney Carriage Byelaw is therefore a matter of discretion.  The 
issue of delegation/constitution has no bearing on the matter. 

 
2.1.6. Again in her email dated 28 July 2016 Mrs Kelly-Stone states: 

 
As I have previously explained, the expediency of taking enforcement is a matter of 
professional judgement.   The Section 222 Local Government Act 1972 power to 
prosecute or defend legal proceedings would require the appropriate delegation 
under Section 101 of the Act. However, where Officers have exercised their 
professional judgement not to pursue legal action, there is no legal requirement for 
this decision to be taken under delegated powers. 
 



A2 

 

2.1.7. Regarding officers exercising their professional judgement in deciding whether to 
prosecute; as the licensing conditions set by the Council have required drivers to take lost 
property to a police station, the officers of the Council have no way of knowing whether 
there have been any contraventions of Byelaw 18(i).  So, how can professional judgement 
be exercised on whether to prosecute in the absence of any evidence if non-compliance? 
 

2.1.8. If Byelaw 18(i) is complied with, no offence is committed.  If an offence is committed the 
decision whether to prosecute will depend on the circumstances.  If the breach had little or 
no impact, then it could be dealt with under the penalty points scheme.  However, if the 
customer’s health had been put at risk and the breach could have been avoided, then, to 
encourage compliance with the Byelaw, prosecution would be appropriate.  The decision on 
whether to prosecute is based on ensuring compliance with the Byelaw to protect the public 
interest. 
 

2.1.9. The Licensing Committee has delegated to the Head of Legal Services “Authority to 
prosecute for offences under the Relevant Legislation.  However, it has not delegated to 
her the power to prevent compliance with the relevant legislation, not does it have the 
power to. 

 
2.1.10. An email from the Head of Legal Services dated 28 August 2016 contained an attachment 

that provided a copy of the notes made by the Strategic Director (External Services) at a 
meeting with the Senior Licensing officer and the Manager Enforcement and Regulatory 
Services on 4 November 2015 and a copy of her recollections of the gist of the discussions 
dated 4 August 2016 (Annex B). 

 
2.1.11. In her notes the Strategic Director (External Services) states that, to her knowledge, Byelaw 

18(i) has never been enforced and that is has been custom and practice for lost property to 
be taken to a police station and left with the Police.  She goes on to say that difficulty arose 
when Kent Police changed its policy on lost property. 
 

2.1.12. This situation could have been avoided if action had been taken to review the situation 
earlier, as Department for Transport Guidance Notes and Model Byelaws Dated July 2005 
provide the following option for the place of safe custody: 

 
It may be desired to substitute “a police station in the district”.  In this case, an 
assurance will be required that the consent of the police has been obtained. 
 

Regarding the change in Kent Police’s policy on lost property, it must be appreciated that 
there was no restriction on who could deposit lost property at a police station.  Further, 
there is no statutory obligation for the police to accept lost property; whereas Byelaw 18(i) 
is specific to hackney carriage drivers and in making it, the Council has placed upon itself a 
statutory obligation to provide safe custody for property accidentally left in hackney 
carriages. 
 

2.1.13. The Strategic Director (External Services’) notes contend that providing safe custody for 
lost property an onerous task, but as the Council has no experience of dealing with it they 
have no idea.  However, the Kent Police Control Point based in the Civic Centre were 
accepting lost property and will no doubt continue to do so if it meets their current criteria. 
 

2.1.14. Her notes go on to say that her biggest concern is the security of the Civic Centre and the 
safety of the staff, the reason being that 

 
“in the current climate, it being known that the Council takes in items (bags, packages, 
mobile phones, etc.) belonging to unidentified persons would put the building and 
everyone in it at risk.” 

 



A3 

 

2.1.15. However, her notes made at the 4 November 2015 meeting make no mention of the 
security threat, nor was it mentioned in the letters dated 4 November and 2 December 2015 
sent to the DPHDA by the Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager. 
 

2.1.16. If the risks are so great, how is unidentified property found in the Civic Centre dealt with, 
and why are there no security checks of the bags, packages, mobile phones, etc. carried by 
people entering the Civic Centre?  
 

2.1.17. Either the safety of hackney carriage drivers is of no concern to the Council, or else it is 
scaremongering.  If the risks are so great, then it is reasonable to expect that officers would 
have provided advice on the precautions drivers should take when handling property that 
appears to have been accidentally left in their vehicles.  The fact that no attempt has been 
made to provide such advice, suggests that the threat to life and property is being used by 
the Council as a convenient excuse to avoid its obligations under Byelaw 18(i). 
 

2.1.18. The 4 August 2016 notes end stating that she has been advised by Legal that the Council 
has absolute discretion not to enforce the byelaw; but like every other response it’s just an 
unsupported statement; it does not state the source of that empowerment and the 
conditions that must be met to satisfy its use. 

 
2.1.19. Recommendation: If there is to be a credible HC & PH Licensing Policy that has the 

respect of the trade and other stake holders; it is important that the Council takes on the 
responsibilities it imposed on itself when making the Byelaw 18(i).  The DPHDA therefore 
requests that the Council complies with its statutory obligations under the byelaw and in 
accordance with its Licensing Policy. 



Annex A 

A 4 
 

  
Dartford Private Hire Drivers 

Association 

 

 

c/o 34 Canterbury Avenue, Sidcup, Kent DA15 9AS  
 

 07715 986 998 
 dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com 

 

 
Marie Kelly-Stone 
Head of Legal Services 
Dartford Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
DA1 1DR 

 
By mail: 
marie.kellystone@dartford.gov.uk  
 

 
Your Ref: PMKS/EH13el 

 
Date:  3 July 2016 

 

Dear Mrs Kelly-Stone 
 
RE: THE DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL STATEMENT OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 01 APRIL 2014 – 31 MARCH 2017 - HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE BYELAW – LOST PROPERTY 
 
Thank you for your letter dated 21 June 2016 in which you state that consideration is being given 
to repealing and replacing the current byelaws with the DfT’s latest model byelaws, subject to DfT 
to approval.  That being the case, why did you not simply answer ‘Yes’ to the points on which I 
sought confirmation in my letter to you dated 29 October 2015. 
 
Unfortunately, you seem to have lost sight of the issue I was contesting, and the responses I have 
received from both you and Mark Salisbury have failed to address the questions I have raised and 
my arguments refuting the claims made by each of you.  It is therefore necessary for me to make 
an irrefutable case. 
 
Background 
 
The following statement appeared in the Licensing Section’s October 2015 Newsletter: 
 

Drivers will need to ensure that they check the vehicle carefully at the end of each journey 
for any property that may have been left behind as Police stations are no longer taking lost 
property. 
 
If lost property is found you should contact the Licensing Officer who may have been 
contacted and have details of the owner.  However the council will not be collecting/storing 
lost property. 

 
In a letter to you, dated 29 October 2015, I asked: 
 

Would you please confirm that with the exception of Byelaw 15, the Byelaws reproduced in 
Appendix O of the subject document; hereafter referred to as the Policy) are extant. 

 

mailto:dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com


Annex A 

A 5 
 

If the Byelaws are extant, would you please confirm that under Byelaw 18(i) the Council 
must accept and issue a receipt for lost property handed in at its offices by a hackney 
carriage proprietor or driver. 
 

My enquiry was answered by Mark Salisbury in a letter dated 4 November 2016 in which he stated: 
 

Dartford Borough Council have taken the decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) but have 
encouraged Hackney carriage drivers or proprietors to contact the Licensing Team so that 
they can take a note of the found property or, indeed, confirm that the loss has, in fact, 
been reported to them from the owner. 

 
In my reply to Mr Salisbury dated 1 December 2015 I asked him to respond to the following 
questions in order to ascertain the reason for this decision and on whose authority it was taken: 
 

 What is the scale of the problem, where is the supporting data and how was it assessed? 
 

 Where is the assessment of the impact on hackney carriage drivers/proprietors (particularly 
legal liabilities) and members of the public? 
 

 Where is the cost benefit analysis? 
 

 Where the case paper and supporting considerations and data?  
 

 Who took the decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) and when was it taken? 
 

 What authority does the Council have to repeal or amend a byelaw without making a formal 
application made to the appropriate Department of State? 

 

 Why has there been no consultation? 
 

 What advice does the Council propose to give to hackney carriage drivers/proprietors with 
regard to the legal liabilities and responsibilities for dealing with lost property? 

 
I also sought answers to these same questions from you in my letter dated 13 March 2016.  They 
remain unanswered. 
 
Conditions and Byelaws 
 
The Dartford Borough Council Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 01 
April 2014 – 31 March 2017 (hereafter referred to as the Policy) was approved by the Licensing 
Committee on 25 March 2014. 
 
The Policy makes provisions for securing the safe custody of any property accidentally left in 
hackney carriages of private hire vehicles.  These are set out in: 
 

Appendix E:  Hackney Carriage Driver Licence Conditions - Condition 16; 
 
Appendix F:  Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions – Condition 16; 
 
Appendix O:  Byelaws for Hackney Carriages – Byelaw 18(i). 

 
Condition 16 of both the Hackney Carriage and the Private Hire Driver Licenses, is the same and is 
given below: 
 



Annex A 

A 6 
 

The Driver shall at the end of each hiring, inspect the vehicle for any property left in the 
vehicle by the hirer and if found, within 48 hours, deliver the ‘lost property’ to a police 
station in the Borough of Dartford and obtain a signed and dated receipt from the police. 

 
Hackney Carriage Byelaw 18(1) requires that: 
 

18. Every proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left 
therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage, be found by, or 
handed to him: 

 
(i) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 24 hours, if not sooner 

claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to the office of the Council and leave it in 
the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it. 

 
It can be seen that the nominated place of safe custody in Condition 16 is ‘a police station in the 
Borough’ to which the driver must deliver property within 48 hours; whilst in Byelaw 18(1) the 
nominated place of safe custody is the ‘office of the Council’ to which the property must be 
delivered within 24 hours if not sooner claimed. 
 
Licensing authorities can attach conditions to private hire drivers’ licenses under Section 51(2) 
(Licensing of drivers of private hire vehicles) of the LG(MP)A 1976 which states: 
 

A district council may attach to the grant of a licence under this section such conditions as 
they may consider reasonably necessary. 
 

However, there is no such provision within the Act for hackney carriage drivers’ licenses. 
 
Conditions and Byelaws for Hackney Carriage Drivers Outside London are discussed in Chapter 
10; Sections 10.64 – 10.77, and Appendix ll; A2.10:  Hackney Carriage Byelaws – Guidance Notes 
and Model Byelaws (Dft July 2005) of ‘Button on Taxis Licensing Law and Practice (3rd Edition)’.  It 
considers various cases and arguments as to whether a licensing authority can legally attach 
conditions to a hackney carriage driver’s licence.  However, what is of note is Section 10.70.3 
which states: 
 

It appears to have been accepted amongst local licensing authorities that the judgement in 
the case of Wathan v Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council [2002 EWHC 1634] 
established a principal that there was no power available in law to attach conditions to a 
hackney carriage driver’s licence. 
 

Dartford Borough Council appear to have subscribed to this view, as the Byelaws for Hackney 
Carriages in Appendix O of the Policy were confirmed on 10 March 1975 and conform with the 
Model Byelaws contained in the Guidance Notes and Model Byelaws (Dft July 2005). 
 
Section 1.4 of the Policy states: 
 

This Policy is an authoritative statement of the Licensing Authority’s interpretation of the law 
relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle licensing and its powers under the 
Relevant Legislation. In all cases of interpretation of this Policy, proper consideration will be 
given to the relevant statutory provisions, which will take precedence. 
 

Byelaw 18(i) is a statutory provision; therefore, it takes precedence over Condition 16 of the 
Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence Conditions. 
 
This proves that Condition 16 of the Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence Conditions is invalid.  
Therefore, it should be revoked by the Licensing Committee in accordance with the Policy’s non-
substantial amendment procedure. 
 



Annex A 

A 7 
 

 
 
Making and Repealing Byelaws 
 
The legal position with regard to byelaws, as set out in my letter to you dated 6 June 2016, is as 
follows: 
 

S235 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers a council to make byelaws 
which must be confirmed by the Secretary of State. 
 
S236B of the Act (Revocation of byelaws) enables a council to make a byelaw to 
revoke a byelaw it had been made previously.  Here again the new byelaw must be 
confirmed by the Secretary of State 
 
Under S236B(5) of the Act, the Secretary of State may, in relation to England, by 
order revoke any byelaw which appears to him to have become spent, obsolete or 
unnecessary. 

 
As byelaws create criminal offences, S222 of the Act, which comes under the sub-heading 
Legal Proceedings, empowers the Council to initiate legal proceedings for breaches of the 
Byelaw.  Whether or not it is in the public interest to initiate legal proceedings will have to 
be decided on a case by case basis. 
 

You appear to concur with my assessment in your letter dated 21 June 2016 in which you refer me 
to the third paragraph of her letter dated 23 March 2016 which states: 

 
Consideration is being given to repealing the Hackney Carriage Byelaws and replacing 
these with the most up to date model produced by the Department for Transport, but 
excluding the ‘lost property’ Byelaw.  The issue of repeal and replacement (subject to DfT 
confirmation), will be a decision of the Council on the recommendation of the Licensing 
Committee (the Committee to be convened in or around the beginning of June). 

 
However, the fourth paragraph of your letter states: 
 

Similar ‘lost property’ requirements are referred to respectively, in the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Diver Licence Conditions.  As these Conditions were approved by the 
Licensing Committee [25 March 2014], the issue of deleting the Conditions will be a matter 
for the Committee. 

 
You appear to have failed to appreciate that these parts of the policy do not conform with Section 
1.4 of the policy as Bylaw 18(i) takes precedence and invalidates Condition 16 of the Hackney 
Carriage Drivers Licence.  Condition 16 should replicate the Byelaw. 
 
Delegated Powers 
 
The Licensing Committee’s delegated powers for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing are 
set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution under the heading Terms of Reference (for 
Committees) and are given in my letter to you dated 6 June 2016. 
 
They are limited to the licensing of:  
 

hackney carriages and private hire vehicles; 
 
drivers of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles; 
 
operators of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles: 
 



Annex A 

A 8 
 

in accordance with the specified Acts and Statutory Instruments. 
 
Delegations to officers are set out in Section 8 (Officer Delegated Authority) of the Policy.  
 
The Licensing Committee, and hence officers with delegated authority, have no express powers to 
make byelaws and no express discretionary powers to change the provisions of byelaws. 
 
This is confirmed in the third paragraph of your letter dated 23 March 2016 where states: 
 

The issue of repeal and replacement (of byelaws) (subject to DfT confirmation), will be a 
decision of the Council on the recommendation of the Licensing Committee. 
 

This makes it clear that any proposed change to a byelaw will require a case to be presented to the 
Council through the Licensing Committee. 
 
Enforcement 
 
In a letter dated 2 December 2015, which was based on advice received from the Council’s Legal 
Department, Mark Salisbury’s states: 
 

If the Council chooses not to enforce the byelaw, then that simply means that the drivers no 
longer have to comply with it and they no longer risk being prosecuted for any breach. 

 
Compare this statement with the second paragraph of your letter of dated 23 March 2016 which 
states: 
 

Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers the Council to bring proceedings 
for the promotion or protection of the interests of inhabitants in its area, where this is 
considered expedient by the Council. This is a matter of professional judgement. A decision 
by the Council as to whether or not to initiate legal proceedings for a breach of a Hackney 
Carriage Byelaw is therefore a matter of discretion.  The issue of delegation/constitution 
has no bearing on the matter. 

 
The comparison shows that the professional judgement was to abandon the interests of the 
inhabitants of the area.  This is because without enforcement, there is no possibility of initiating 
legal proceedings for breach of the byelaw and therefore there can be no requirement for 
discretion. 
 
Further, the issue of delegation constitution does have a bearing on the matter; because neither 
the Licensing Committee nor officers have the delegated authority to do anything other than to 
comply with the provisions of the byelaws that the Council has made. 
 
Conclusions 
 
Consideration is being given to repealing the Hackney Carriage Byelaws and replacing these with 
the most up to date model produced by the DfT.  A Council decision on whether or not to adopt 
them will be made based on the recommendation of the Licensing Committee a meeting of which 
was expected to be convened in or around the beginning of June 2016.  However, until such time 
as the new byelaws are confirmed, it is clear that the existing byelaws remain extant. 
 
The powers delegated to the Licensing Committee, and hence those delegated to officers, are to 
licence and enforce in accordance with the relevant legislation.  It has no power to amend byelaws 
as this can only be done through the Council by the making of another byelaw in accordance with 
S236B of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
Byelaws are made to meet specific policy objectives.  The policy objective which covers Byelaw 18 
is: 



Annex A 

A 9 
 

 
Provisions for securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in 
hackney carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof. 
 

Mark Salisbury in his letter dated 4 November 2016 states: 
 

Dartford Borough Council have taken the decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) 
 
In the Enforcement section above, a comparison of the statement made by Mark Salisbury in his 
letter dated 2 December 2015 with that made by you in your letter dated 23 March 2016, shows 
that because the Council would not accept lost property from hackney carriage drivers, they would 
not face prosecution.  Therefore, the professional judgement referred to by you was to abandon 
the interests of the inhabitants of the area.  This is because without enforcement, there is no 
possibility of initiating legal proceedings for breach of the byelaw; therefore, there can be no 
requirement for discretion. 
 
A decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) by preventing compliance with it, would need to have been 
approved by the Council on the recommendation of the Licensing Committee.  This would have 
had to have been managed under the substantial amendment procedure of the Policy and in 
accordance with the procedures for making byelaws.  This would require consultation and a case 
made and submitted to the Licensing Committee who would decide on whether or not it should be 
submitted to the Council.  Had such a case been made, officers would have been able to answer 
the questions asked in my letter dated 1 December 2015. 
 
It is clear that Mark Salisbury’s claim that the Council had decided not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) is 
without foundation because Byelaw 18(i) had not been repealed.  Further, the delegations to the 
Licensing Committee and hence to Officers make no provision for non-compliance with byelaws.  
Therefore, the Licensing Section acted improperly in publishing the statement relating to lost 
property in their October 2015 Newsletter. 
 
Officers have failed to appreciate that the Council has accepted that conditions can only be 
attached to a Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence by means of byelaws.  They have also failed to 
take note of Section 1.4 of the Policy which states that statutory provisions will take precedence 
over any other provisions. 
 
Action 
 
As you expect the new model byelaws and an alternative way of dealing with lost property to be 
introduced shortly, I would suggest that the most amicable way of dealing with the problems arising 
from Byelaw 18(i) is to amend Condition 16 of Appendixes E and F of the Policy to conform with 
the Byelaw.  These changes and the forthcoming changes to byelaws can be communicated to the 
hackney carriage and private hire trades in a Licensing Section Newsletter. 
 
I doubt that the changes to Condition 16 of Appendixes E and F of the Policy will cause an 
appreciable increase administrative work as in the 5 years I was Licensing Officer (Vehicles), I had 
only two pieces of property handed in.  The first was a large cool box full of used disposable 
nappies that was left at the reception by a driver who, unsurprisingly, did a drop and dash.  This 
was disposed of after a couple of days on health and safety grounds.  The second was an 
envelope containing a passport application that the driver insisted on handing to me personally.  I 
dealt with this in accordance with Byelaw 18(i) by issuing the driver a letter that gave details of the 
property and an acknowledgement that I had received it. The matter was resolved the same day. 
 
 
If it would help matters, I am more than willing to meet with you and Mr Salisbury to discuss the 
way forward on this matter and be brought up to date on what is happening with the repeal and 
replacement of the current byelaws. 
 



Annex A 

A 10 
 

Yours sincerely 

 
A G P Shilling 
 
 

Copy to (by email) 
Cllr A Bardoe     Licensing Committee Chairman 
Mark Salisbury    Manager Enforcement & Regulatory Services 



 

A 11 
 

 

 

 



 

A 12 
 

 



Company Registration No: 07253408  Registered Office: 3 Enterprise House, 8 Essex Road, Dartford, Kent DA12AU  Incorporated in England. 

Director: N Morris 

VAT Registration No. 994567160 

  

 
 

 

ALL NIGHT CARs ltd 
ALL VEHICLES HAVE GPS TRACKING AND DATA DESPATCH FOR A 

FASTER, SAFER & MORE RELIABLE SERVICE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS 
 

RADIO CONTROLLED              24 HOUR SERVICE 
 

 
 

47 Hythe Street, Dartford, Kent DA1 1BG 

Telephone Bookings:          01322 221100 

                                 Fax:           01322 222090 
www.allnightcars.co.uk 
 

 

 

Licensing Section 

Dartford Borough Council       11 January 2017 

Civic Centre, 

Home Gardens, 

Dartford 

DA1 1DR 

 

1. Introduction 

Herewith All Night Cars Ltd’s response to the consultation on the Draft DBC Statement of HC & 

PH Licensing Policy 01-04-2017 – 21-03-2020, hereafter referred to as ‘LP17-20’. 
 

1.1. General Comments 

1.1.1. At the time, the closing date for comments given on the Council’s website was 31 December 2016.  

However, in the Dartford Messenger under a heading ‘Have your say on taxi licensing’ the closing 

date is given as before 13 January 2017. 

 

1.1.2. In the list of proposed amendments, the reason given for the change in several cases is ‘Legislative’.  

The reason should also have specified the Act(s), if not otherwise mentioned, and the relevant 

section(s) of the Act. 

 

1.1.3. Prior to the approval of the current edition of the Licensing Policy, there was consultation with the 

trade. Why not this one? 

 

2. Byelaws & Conditions of Licence 

2.1. Para 12.2 states that the byelaws are currently under review and that until they are approved the 

current ones will remain in force. 

 

2.2. In both the HC & PH Driver Conditions of Licence (Appendixes E and F), Condition 16 requires a 

driver to inspect their vehicle at the end of each hiring and if they find any property left in it, take it 

to a police station in the Borough within 48 hours and obtain a signed and dated receipt for it. 

 

2.3. If the byelaws remain in force and as stated in para 1.4 of LP17-20, “statutory provisions will take 

precedence”; why has the Licensing Committee permitting the Licensing Section to prevent 

compliance with Byelaw 18(i) that requires the Council to provide safe custody for lost property? 

 

2.4. I have seen a note in which the Strategic Director (Eternal Services) claims that the Council are not 

accepting lost property because, in the current climate, there is a threat to the security of the Civic 

Centre and the safety of its staff, it being known that the Council takes in lost property. 

 

2.5. As the security threat has been with us a long time and in that time the Council has never taken in 

lost property how have the risks to property and life been assessed? 

http://www.allnightcars.co.uk/


Company Registration No: 07253408  Registered Office: 3 Enterprise House, 8 Essex Road, Dartford, Kent DA12AU  Incorporated in England. 

Director: N Morris 

VAT Registration No. 994567160 

  

2.6. When Kent Police were accepting lost property, how much of the lost property taken in by the Kent 

Police Contact Point, which is lodged within the Civic Centre, was identified as posing a potential 

threat? 

 

2.7. If the risk posed by lost property is so great; why were drivers not warned of the potential risks from 

property left in their vehicles and given advice on how it should be dealt with? 

 

2.8. What action will the Council take if Byelaw 18(i) is not repealed when the revised byelaws are 

presented for approval? 

 

2.9. The Council must comply with their HC & PH Licensing Policy and comply with its statutory 

commitment it made under its own HC Byelaws. 

 

3. Assessing an Application for a Licence 

 

3.1. 12 Months Driving Qualification Period 

3.1.1. An article in the Kentish Times, ‘Have your say on taxi licensing’, informed the public of the 

Licensing Committees proposal to increase the qualification period from 1 year to 3 years.  It gave 

no reasons for this change other than members of the Licensing Committee though that 1 year was 

insufficient time for a new driver to have obtained an adequate level of driving experience.  

However, it failed to mention that this had been proposed and defeated at defeated at the Licensing 

Committee meeting held on 14 July 2014 
 

3.1.2. At the same meeting the Committee agreed to the introduction of a Driving Proficiency Test to 

ensure a common standard for all drivers, a measure that has been carried forward into the LP17-20 

(page 21 para 15.5). 

 

3.1.3. The period of time a driver has held a licence is not a guide to driving proficiency, because having 

held a licence for 3 years does not mean that a person has gained 3 years driving experience.  If you 

want a pilot’s licence you have to log your flying hours and pass various tests and thereafter, to keep 

your licence you have to put in a certain number of flying hours each year to keep your licence.  

Driving is not like that!  There are those that passed their driving test more than 3 years ago who 

have never, since the day they passed, sat behind the wheel.  Yet under the 3 year qualification 

proposal, a person like that would be judged to have gained a minimum of 3 years driving 

experience.  That was the reason for the introduction of the Driving Proficiency Test. 

 

3.1.4. Apart from the public having been kept in the dark about the Licensing Committee having previously 

rejected this proposal, it is clear that the length of time a person has held a driving licence is not a 

reliable guide to driving proficiency. 

 

3.1.5. The proposal should be rejected. 

 

3.2. Language Proficiency Test 

3.2.1. As a Dartford Licensed PH Operator in a growing town, I, like other operators licensed by the 

Council, need more Dartford licensed PH drivers to meet my business needs which stem from the 

growth in Dartford’s population. 

 

3.2.2. I know of a number of PCO drivers that would like to become a licensed by Dartford. Some have 

passed the Knowledge Test but have failed the spoken English test, one of them having failed it 4 

times and each time by only a few marks, and a £40 a time that becomes expensive.  These drivers 

speak better English than many of the Dartford drivers that were license when the assessment of was 

carried out by the Licensing Officer. 
 



Company Registration No: 07253408  Registered Office: 3 Enterprise House, 8 Essex Road, Dartford, Kent DA12AU  Incorporated in England. 

Director: N Morris 

VAT Registration No. 994567160 

  

3.2.3. What would be the effect on the numbers passing the Language Proficiency Test if the pass mark 

were to be lowered by 10 marks and would this result in a significant drop in the level of English 

proficiency needed to be a private hire driver? 
 

4. Knowledge Test 

4.1. The pools of routes and location questions have been removed from the Knowledge Test Information 

Pack and now those wishing to become hackney carriage or private hire drivers are expected to know 

the whole of the Borough.  This means that the same level of knowledge will be required for both 

tests, the only difference being the pass mark.  When this change was made was an assessment made 

of the effect it was likely to have on the numbers passing the test.  Where is that assessment and why 

has it not been published? 

 

4.2. The trade has not been consulted about these changes yet they can have a profound effect on our 

businesses and the service that can be offered to those that seek the services provided by the 

Hackney Carriage and Private hire Trades.  Why has there been no consultation with the Trade? 

 

4.3. Over the last few years the number of people passing the Dartford Knowledge Test seems to have 

dropped and when this happens it becomes difficult to grow a business and meet the growing needs 

of an increasing population arising from the increase in house building going on within the Borough.  

Making the Knowledge Test harder will exacerbate this problem and lead to more out of town 

hackney carriages and private hire vehicles being used to satisfy demand. 

 

Nick Morris 
Nick Morris 

Director 
Electronic communication 

does not bear live signature 

 



THE DARTFORD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL 

STATEMENT OF HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 

LICENSING POLICY

01 APRIL 2017 – 31 MARCH 2020

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 



1.INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................... - 1 -

2.DEFINITIONS & INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................................... - 1 -

3.LICENSING OBJECTIVES.................................................................................................................................... - 5 -

4.CONSULTATION ............................................................................................................................................... - 5 -

5.POLICY STATUS ................................................................................................................................................ - 6 -

6.POLICY REVIEW & IN-YEAR AMENDMENTS .................................................................................................... - 7 -

7.COMPLIANCE WITH AMENDMENTS TO THIS POLICY ..................................................................................... - 7 -

8.OFFICER DELEGATED AUTHORITY ................................................................................................................... - 7 -

9.SUMMARY OF KEY CHARACTERISTICS - DIFFERENCE BETWEEN HACKNEY CARRIAGES & PRIVATE HIRE 
PROFILES ............................................................................................................................................................ - 9 -

10.VEHICLES ........................................................................................................................................................ - 9 -
10.1 Limitation of Numbers .............................................................................................................................................. - 9 -
10.2 Taxi Ranks ............................................................................................................................................................... - 10 -
10.3 Vehicle Type & specifications.................................................................................................................................. - 10 -
10.4 Vehicle Age & criterai ............................................................................................................................- 10 -
10.5 Vehicle Testing & Inspections ................................................................................................................................. - 11 -
10.6 Taximeters and Tariff Cards .................................................................................................................................... - 12 -
10.7 Licence Plate(s) ....................................................................................................................................................... - 13 -
10.8 Signage ..................................................................................................................................................- 13 -
10.9 Advertising .............................................................................................................................................................. - 14 -
10.10 Stretch Limousines................................................................................................................................................ - 14 -
10.11 Novelty (Speciality) Vehicles ................................................................................................................................. - 14 -
10.12 Motorbikes............................................................................................................................................................ - 14 -
10.13 Ambulances………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… ..- 14-

11.ACCESSIBILITY .............................................................................................................................................. - 15 -
11.1 WAV Compliant....................................................................................................................................................... - 15 -
11.2 Disability Awareness Training ................................................................................................................................. - 15 -
11.3 Equality Act 2010 Duties - Wheelchairs and Assistance Dogs ................................................................................. - 16 -

12.BYELAWS & CONDITIONS OF LICENCE ........................................................................................................ - 17 -

13.LICENCE DURATION ..................................................................................................................................... - 18 -

14.APPLICATION PROCESS & DECLARATIONS ................................................................................................. - 18 -
14.1 Application Process ................................................................................................................................................. - 18 -
14.2 Declarations ............................................................................................................................................................ - 19 -

15.ASSESSING AN APPLICATION FOR A LICENCE ............................................................................................. - 19 -
15.2 Fit and Proper Person (Drivers and Operators)....................................................................................................... - 19 -
15.3 Fitness of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles.......................................................................................... - 20 -
15.4 Thirty Six Months Driving Qualification Period ....................................................................................................... - 20 -
15.5 Driving Proficiency …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… -21-
15.6 Language Proficiency …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………- 21-
15.7 Safeguarding and Prevent (Counter Terrorism) Training                                                - 22-
15.8 Driver Knowledge Tests                                                                                                       22-

16.APPLICATION & ADMINISTRATION FEES .................................................................................................... - 23 -

17.INSURANCE & ROAD TAX ............................................................................................................................ - 23 -



18.CRIME & DISORDER (Driver, Passenger & Operating Premises' Staff Safety)
18.1 CCTV Cameras ......................................................................................................................................................... - 24 -
18.2 Clear Plastic Protective Screen ..............................................................................................................- 24 -

19.ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS ..........................................................................................................- 24 -

20.FARES ............................................................................................................................................................- 25 -
20.1 Hackney Carriages................................................................................................................................................... - 25 -
20.2 Private Hire Vehicles ............................................................................................................................................... - 25 -

21.IMMIGRATION (Right to Work in the UK) ................................................................................................... - 25 -
21.4 Asylum Seekers .......................................................................................................................................... - 25 -

22.TOUTING .......................................................................................................................................................- 26 -

23.HEALTH & SAFETY (of Employees and Passengers) .....................................................................................- 26 -

24.DRIVERS
24.1Minimum Age..............................................................................................................................................- 27 -
24.2Upper Age Limit .......................................................................................................................................... - 27 -
24.3 Medical Examination.................................................................................................................................. - 27 -

25.CRIMINAL RECORD CHECKS...................................................................................................................... - 28 -
25.1 Disclosure and Barring Services (DBS)..................................................................................................................... - 28 -
25.2 Certificate of Good Conduct.................................................................................................................................... - 29 -
25.3 Common Law Police Disclosures (CLPD) ................................................................................................................. - 29 -
25.4 Operators & Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974................................................................................................. - 30 -
25.6 DVLA Licence Authenticity Checks .......................................................................................................................... - 30 -

26.RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS & CAUTIONS ................................................................................................ - 30 -

27.STANDARDS EXPECTED OF DRIVERS ............................................................................................................- 31 -

28.OPERATORS
28.1 Operator's Licence .................................................................................................................................................. - 31 -
28.2 Transfer of Operator Licence .................................................................................................................................. - 32 -
28.3 Operator's Duties .................................................................................................................................................... - 32 -
28.4 Operator's Records ................................................................................................................................................. - 33 -
28.5 Address from which an Operator may operate....................................................................................................... - 33 -
28.6 Planning Laws/Regulations & Other Legislation...................................................................................................... - 33 -

29.ENFORCEMENT MEASURES......................................................................................................................... - 34 -
29.1 Taxi Licensing and Enforcement Policy & Practice .................................................................................................. - 34 -
29.2 Penalty Points Scheme............................................................................................................................................ - 34 -
29.3 Range of Enforcement Measures & Powers............................................................................................................ - 35 -
29.3.2 Suspension ........................................................................................................................................................... - 35 -
29.4 Revocation .............................................................................................................................................................. - 36 -
29.5 Warnings & Cautions............................................................................................................................................... - 36 -
29.6 Offences - Prosecutions .......................................................................................................................................... - 36 -
29.7 Found Property ....................................................................................................................................................... - 37 -
29.8 Breach of Conditions & Policy Requirements - 37 -

30.Rights of Appeal .......................................................................................................................................... - 37 -



APPENDICES

A Vehicle Specification 
B Conditions for Hackney Carriages
C Conditions for Private Hire Vehicles
D Conditions for Stretch Limousines
E Hackney Carriage Driver Standards of Service
F Private Hire Driver’s Licence Conditions
G Stretch Limo Driver Conditions
H Private Hire Operator’s Conditions
I Application Procedures
J Driver Knowledge Tests
K Relevance of Convictions
L Taxi Licensing Enforcement Policy
M Penalty Points Scheme
N Right of Appeal
O Byelaws for Hackney Carriages
P Safeguarding &  Extremism and Radicalisation 
Q Found Property Procedure



1

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Dartford Borough Council (“the Licensing Authority”) is responsible for 
exercising the licensing and associated functions relating to hackney 
carriages (taxis) and private hire vehicle activity in the Borough of Dartford.  
More specifically, it licenses:

• Hackney Carriages
• Hackney Carriage drivers
• Private Hire Vehicles (including Stretch Limousines)
• Private Hire Vehicle drivers
• Private Hire operators

1.2 This Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy (”the 
Policy”) sets out what is considered to be best practice.  It does not seek to 
cover the whole range of possible licensing requirements, but is intended to 
ensure that the hackney carriage and private hire trades and the public, have 
a document that fully explains the licensing function in a clear and transparent 
manner.  

1.3 In formulating this Policy, the Licensing Authority has had regard to:

• the legislative basis of the Licensing Authority’s licensing powers, contained 
in the Town Police Clauses 1847 Act, the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976 Act;

• the Human Rights Act 1998;
• the Provision of Services Regulations 2009;
• the Equality Act 2010;
• Department for Transport Guidance;
• the Deregulation Act 2015

to ensure that the requirements referred to in this Policy are:

∑ non-discriminatory;
∑ justified by an overriding reason relating to the public interest;
∑ necessary and proportionate to the public interest;
∑ clear and unambiguous;
∑ objective;
∑ made public in advance; and
∑ transparent and accessible.

1.4 This Policy is an authoritative statement of the Licensing Authority’s 
interpretation of the law relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle 
licensing and its powers under the Relevant Legislation.  In all cases of 
interpretation of this Policy, proper consideration will be given to the relevant 
statutory provisions, which will take precedence.

2. DEFINITIONS & INTERPRETATION

In this Policy, the following words and expressions have the following 
meanings

“1847 Act” means the Town & Police Clauses Act 1847



2

“1976 Act” means Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976

“Assistance Dogs” has the meaning set out in section 173(1) of the Equality 
Act 2010 

“Authorised Officer” means an officer of the Licensing Authority authorised 
to administer the licensing function under the 1847 Act and 1976 Act  

“Badge” means the badge issued by the Licensing Authority to a Driver 
under section 54 of the 1976 Act 

“Basic Disclosure” means the Operator’s unspent convictions to be 
disclosed in the manner prescribed by Disclosure Scotland

“Certificate of Good Conduct” means an extract from the judicial record or 
equivalent document issued by a competent judicial or administrative authority 
for the relevant country which documents any convictions recorded against an 
applicant for a Licence or to confirm ‘good conduct

“Certificate of Insurance” means an insurance policy to include hire and 
reward or equivalent, third party risks and where relevant, public liability

“Complaints Card” means the card issued by the Licensing Authority 
detailing the Licence Plate(s) number and the address for complaints

“Consultees” means the Trades, public and such other consultees as the 
Licensing Authority may determine from time to time

‘Contract for Hire’ means the use of a Vehicle for the purpose of Hire and 
Reward

“DBS” means the Disclosure and Barring Service

“Defect(s) Notice” means a notice issued by the Licensing Authority where 
the Vehicle defect is not considered detrimental to the comfort and/or safety of 
the travelling public 

“DfT” means the Department for Transport or any successor to that body with
national responsibility for hackney carriage and private hire legislation in 
England and Wales

“DfT Guidance” means guidance issued by the DfT titled ‘Taxi and Private 
Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance’1

“Driver” means a person who holds a HC Driver’s Licence or PHV Driver’s 
Licence

“Driver’s Licence’ means (in the context in which it is referred to) either in 
the singular or collectively, a HC Driver’s Licence and/or a PHV Driver’s 
Licence 

“DVSA Taxi Driving Test” means the Driving and Vehicle Standards 
Agency’s standard driving assessment

1
2 March 2010



3

“DVLA” means the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency or any successor 
body

“Enhanced DBS Certificate” means a certificate issued by the DBS 
following a DBS Enhanced Check which shall include ‘other workforce’ and 
specify ‘Taxi Driver’ 

“Enhanced DBS Check” means a DBS check disclosing all spent and 
unspent convictions, cautions reprimands and final warnings and which may 
include any other information held in police records that is considered relevant 
by the police, for example, details of minor offences, non-conviction 
information on the Police National Computer such as fixed penalty notices 
and, in some cases, allegations

“Fare Tariff(s)” means the maximum fare fixed by the Licensing Authority 
(which may be either the current table of fares or a previously fixed table of 
fares) in accordance with section 65 of the 1976 Act to be charged in respect 
of a journey in a Hackney Carriage 

“Hackney Carriage” has the meaning set out in sections 37 and 38 of the 
1847 Act and “HC Vehicle” shall be construed accordingly

“HC Driver’ means a person who has been granted a HC Driver’s Licence

“HC Driver’s Licence’ means a licence granted by the Licensing Authority 
under section 46 of the 1847 Act

“HC Licence’ means a vehicle licence granted by the Licensing Authority 
under section 37 of the 1847 Act

“Hire and Reward” means a Vehicle with a Driver, which is with a view to a 
profit, available for hire by the public, for personal conveyance 

‘Hirer’ means the passenger(s) who enters into a Contract for Hire

“Licence” means (in the context in which it is referred to) either in the 
singular or collectively, a Driver’s Licence, an Operator’s Licence and/or a 
Vehicle Licence 

“Licence Holder” means (in the context in which it is referred to) either in the 
singular or collectively, a Proprietor, Operator or any person who has been 
granted and holds a current and valid HC Licence, PHV Licence and/or 
Driver’s Licence

“Licence Plate(s)” means a plate affixed to a Vehicle showing the type of 
vehicle, the Vehicle Licence number and expiry date and the number of 
passengers the Vehicle is licensed to carry and “Plated” and “Plating” shall 
be construed accordingly

“Licensing Committee” means the committee of the Licensing Authority with 
delegated powers to exercise the Licensing Authority’s licensing functions

“MOT Certificate” means a certificate of mechanical fitness issued by the 
Vehicle and Operator Services Agency (VOSA)

“Non-substantial Amendment(s)” means on the evaluation of the Licensing 
Manager, an amendment to this Policy which has no impact on and/or other 



4

implications for Licence Holders or which does not add or subtract content or 
change the intended meaning of this Policy

“Officer Review Board” means a panel of officers authorised by the 
Licensing Authority to hear appeals against the imposition of penalty points or 
where a Licence Holder has been refused a deviation to the requirement(s) of 
this Policy 

“Operator” means a person(s) who in the course of business, makes 
provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a PH Vehicle

“Operating Premises” means the premises where bookings for Private Hire 
Vehicles are taken

“Operator’s Licence” means a licence granted by the Licensing Authority 
under section 55 of the 1976 Act

“PHV Driver” means a person who has been granted a PHV Driver’s Licence

“PHV Driver’s Licence” means a licence granted to a PHV Driver under 
section 51 of the 1976 Act 

“PHV Licence” means a vehicle licence granted by the Licensing Authority 
under section 48(3) of the 1976 Act

“Private Hire Vehicle” has the meaning set out in section 80 of the 1976 Act 
and "PH Vehicle” shall be construed accordingly

“Proprietor” has the meaning in section 80 of the 1976 Act

“Protected Characteristics”2 means age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex, and sexual orientation

“Relevant Legislation” means the 1847 Act, Hackney Carriage Byelaws, the 
1976 Act and/or the Deregulation Act 2015

“Relevant Offences” means the convictions which the Licensing Authority 
will have due regard to when considering an application for either the grant or 
renewal of a Licence as detailed in APPENDIX K

“Stretch Limousine” means a motor vehicle: 

• that has been lengthened by the insertion of an additional body section and 
modified by a coachbuilder to contain luxury facilities and fixtures; 

• that is capable of carrying up to but not exceeding eight (8) passengers; 
• that is not a decommissioned military or emergency service vehicle.

“Substantial Amendment(s)” means on the evaluation of the Licensing 
Manager, an amendment to this Policy which:

• will have a financial impact (excluding increases in application fees) on 
and/or other implications for Licence Holders, or

• may not be perceived by the Trades and/or the public, to be consistent with 
the published objectives in section 3 of this Policy

2
S4 Equality Act 2010



5

“Suspension Notice” means a notice issued by the Licensing Authority 
suspending a Licence, in accordance with APPENDIX L

“Tariff Card” means a card in the form approved by the Licensing Authority 
displaying the Fare Tariff(s) in a Hackney Carriage

“Taximeter” has the meaning in section 80 of the 1976 Act 

“Taxi Ranks” means Hackney Carriage stands appointed by the Licensing 
Authority under s63 of the 1976 Act, including any stands originally created 
under the Hackney Carriage Byelaws

“Trades” mean the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades or 
representatives thereof

“Vehicle” means (in the context in which it is referred to) either singularly or 
collectively, a Hackney Carriage and/or Private Hire Vehicle 

“Vehicle Licence” means (in the context in which it is referred to) either 
singularly or collectively, a HC Licence and/or a PHV Licence

"WAV Compliant Vehicle” means Vehicle(s) which are either purpose built or 
converted for wheelchair use and have as a minimum build standard, the 
Vehicle Certification Agency, Ministers Approval Certificate for a Low Volume 
Motor Vehicle or European Small Series Type Approval and “WAV Compliant” 
shall be construed accordingly

3. LICENSING OBJECTIVES

3.1 The aim of the licensing process is to regulate the Trades in order to promote 
well-run and responsible businesses that display sensitivity to the wishes and 
needs of the general public.  The Licensing Authority will promote the 
following objectives:

1. the safety of the travelling public and of Drivers;
2. the prevention of crime and disorder and protection of 

customers/passengers and Drivers from being the victims of crime;
3. the provision of professional and respected Trades, by continued 

partnership working with the Trades and by monitoring the standards of 
service provided by the Trades;

4. vehicle safety;
5. delivery of an efficient and effective regulatory licensing service 

proportionate to the risks involved.

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 The Licensing Authority is keen to hear the views of others who may be 
affected by this Policy and will consult with Consultees, on any Substantial 
Amendment(s) to this Policy.  The Licensing Committee will have due regard 
to Consultees’ comments before any Substantial Amendment(s) are approved 
and adopted by the Licensing Committee (see section 6 of this Policy).



6

5. POLICY STATUS

5.1 In carrying out its regulatory licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will 
have regard to the Relevant Legislation and this Policy.  Members and 
Officers will conduct themselves in accordance with the respective codes of 
conduct set out in Parts 5 and 6 of the Licensing Authority’s Constitution.

5.2 This Policy provides the strategic direction and rules under which the 
Licensing Authority and Authorised Officers discharge the Licensing 
Authority’s regulatory licensing functions.  Any ancillary procedures and 
guidelines in the Appendices to this Policy, provide the Licensing Authority 
and Authorised Officers with specific or procedural best practice within which 
to act. The Licensing Authority and Authorised Offices may from time to time 
have regard to guidelines issued by other bodies such as the Ministry of 
Justice, VOSA etc.

5.3 This Policy promotes efficient and effective approaches to regulatory 
inspection and enforcement, which improve regulatory outcomes without 
imposing unnecessary burdens.  Each application or enforcement measure(s) 
will be considered on its own merit, in accordance with the Relevant 
Legislation and this Policy.    

5.4 The Regulators Compliance Code3 is a central part of the Licensing 
Authority’s better regulation agenda.  This Code places a statutory duty on the 
Licensing Authority to have regard to the Code in developing the principles 
and policies which guide its regulatory activities.  The Licensing Authority 
embeds a risk-based, proportionate and targeted approach to its regulatory 
inspection and enforcement functions.  Each requirement in this Policy is 
properly justified by the risk it seeks to address, balancing the cost of the 
requirement against the benefit to the public.

5.5 The following principles will be adhered to by the Licensing Authority when 
carrying out licensing and enforcement measures:

Openness: The Licensing Authority will be open about how it enforces the 
Relevant Legislation.  It will consult with Consultees and ensure that 
Authorised Officers discuss compliance failures or problems with persons 
experiencing difficulties.

Helpfulness: The Licensing Authority will work with applicants and Licence 
Holders to advise on and assist with compliance of the Relevant Legislation.  
It will also strive to provide a courteous and efficient service to its customers.

Proportionality: The Licensing Authority will minimise the cost of compliance 
for businesses and individuals by ensuring that any action taken is 
proportionate to the risk or wider public benefit.  Authorised Officers will have 
regard to the human rights of all parties involved in the Licensing Authority’s 
enforcement activities.

Consistency: The Licensing Authority will carry out its duties in a fair, 
equitable and consistent manner.  Authorised Officers will have regard to 
national legislation and guidance, byelaws, corporate policies and procedures 
and this Policy.

3
Better Regulation Delivery Office (BDRO) – issued July 2013 (in force 6 April 2014)



7

Equality Act 2010: The Licensing Authority will have full and proper regard to 
the Equality Act 2010 in determining applications, so as to avoid any possible 
indirect discriminatory impact on particular groups (the Act places a legal 
obligation on public authorities to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation; to advance equality of 
opportunity; and to foster good relations, between persons with different 
Protected Characteristics).  

5.6 This Policy will take effect on the date it is approved by the Licensing 
Committee, for a period of three years, during which, it will be kept under 
review, in accordance with section 6 of this Policy.

6. POLICY REVIEW & IN-YEAR AMENDMENTS

6.1 In-year amendments to this Policy may need to be actioned from time to time 
in the context of legislative, social and economic changes and the continued 
development of the Borough of Dartford.  

6.2 Substantial Amendment(s) to this Policy will be subject to consultation with 
Consultees prior to adoption of the amendment(s) by the Licensing 
Committee.  

6.3 Following the adoption of Substantial Amendment(s) by the Licensing 
Committee, amendment(s) will be published on the Licensing Authority’s 
website www.dartford.gov.uk and notified to all Licence Holders.

6.4 Non-substantial Amendment(s) will be authorised by the Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services Manager (or nominee) and published on the Licensing 
Authority’s website www.dartford.gov.uk and notified to all Licence Holders.  

7. COMPLIANCE WITH AMENDMENTS TO THIS POLICY

7.1 Licence Holders will be required to comply with any amendment(s) to this 
Policy. 

8. OFFICER DELEGATED AUTHORITY

8.1 Authority to determine Licence applications is delegated to the following 
Officers: 

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing Manager
• Licensing Officer - Vehicle

8.2 Authority to inspect Vehicles is delegated to the following Officers: 

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing manager
• Vehicle Licensing Officer 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


8

8.3 Authority to immediately suspend Licences is delegated to the following 
Officers:

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing Manager
• Vehicle Licensing Officer

8.4 Authority to revoke Licences is delegated to the following Officers: 

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing Manager
• Vehicle Licensing Officer 

8.5 Authority not to renew Licences is delegated to the following Officers:

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing Manager
• Vehicle Licensing Officer 

8.6 Authority to issue a Suspension Notice is delegated to the following Officers:

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing Manager
• Vehicle Licensing Officer 

8.7 Authority to issue penalty points is delegated to the following Officers:

• Strategic Director
• Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager
• Licensing Manager

8.8 Authority to increase or decrease penalty points or to uphold the Officer 
decision to impose penalty points is delegated to the Officer Review Board, on 
appeal.

8.9 Authority to prosecute for offences under the Relevant Legislation is 
delegated to the Head of Legal Services.



9

9. SUMMARY OF KEY CHARACTERISTICS - HACKNEY CARRIAGES & 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES WITHIN THE BOROUGH OF DARTFORD

Hackney Carriage Private Hire
Applicable licences needed: 

Driver
Vehicle

(both must be licensed by the same 
licensing authority and are not 
interchangeable with private hire licenses) 

Applicable licences needed: 

Operator
Driver
Vehicle

(all must be licensed by the same licensing 
authority and are not interchangeable with 
hackney carriage licences) 

A hackney carriage is a public transport 
vehicle with no more than 8 passenger 
seats, that is licensed to ply for hire in the 
Borough of Dartford only

A private hire vehicle is a public transport 
vehicle with no more than 8 passenger 
seats, that is licensed to operate as a 
private hire vehicle  

Cannot in the course of business to make 
provision for the invitation or acceptance of 
bookings for a private hire vehicle

Address can be outside the Borough of 
Dartford
Can stand/wait on ranks 
Can be hailed on streets
(otherwise known as ‘ply for hire’)

All work must be pre-booked via a licensed 
operator 
The operator’s address must be in the 
Borough of Dartford
May not ply for hire in streets

The Fare Tariff governs the maximum fare 
– all fares for journeys within and outside 
the Borough may be negotiated, but the 
fare charged cannot be higher than the 
Fare Tariff

Operator sets fare and other fare related 
criteria, such as a waiting fee

Operators can sub-contract work to other 
licensed operators within or outside the 
Borough of Dartford. 

The operator who accepts the booking (the 
original operator or the sub-contracted 
operator) must use vehicles and drivers 
licensed by the same authority as they are.

Illegal to charge more than one Fare Tariff.  
Drivers can be prosecuted by the licensing 
authority/police for overcharging offences

Overcharging is a breach of Condition

Must display the appropriate licence plate 
at all times

Must display the appropriate licence plate 
at all times unless an exemption has been 
given i.e. stretch limo and/or executive 
vehicles used for chauffeur work

Must wear a badge with the licence number 
on person so as to be visible to passengers

Must wear a badge with the licence number 
on person so as to be visible to passengers

10. VEHICLES

10.1 Limitation of Numbers  

10.1.1 The present legal provisions on quantity restrictions for Hackney Carriages 
are set out in section 16 of the Transport Act 1985.  This provides that the 
grant of a HC Licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number 
of licensed Hackney Carriages “if, but only if the person authorised to grant 
licences is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the services of 
hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence would apply) which is 
unmet”.  



10

10.1.2 The Licensing Authority places no limit on the number of Hackney Carriages 
which it licences within the Borough of Dartford.   

10.1.3 No legislative powers exist for the Licensing Authority to limit the number of 
PH Vehicles it licences.   

10.2. Taxi Ranks

10.2.1 Taxi Ranks are appointed for the purpose of providing an identifiable place 
where the public can hire a Hackney Carriage.  Taxi Ranks also allow HC 
Drivers to ply for Hire and Reward without the need to drive around the streets 
of Dartford.  The Licensing Authority has designated the following Taxi Ranks 
within the Borough of Dartford: 

• Hythe Street;
• Station Approach Dartford;
• Kent Road;
• Lowfield Street;
• Spital Street;
• Suffolk Road;
• Station Road, Longfield;
• Bluewater Shopping Centre.

10.2.2 Hackney Carriages are permitted to ply for Hire and Reward at Ebbsfleet 
International Station at the discretion of Ebbfleet’s management, as the land is 
in private ownership.  HC Drivers must apply to the Licensing Authority for an 
‘Ebbsfleet permit’.  However, the decision remains with Ebbsfleet 
management to issue, revoke or suspend a ‘permit’.  There is no right of 
appeal to the Licensing Authority against Ebbsfleet management’s decision. 

10.2.3 The number and positioning of Taxi Ranks in the Borough of Dartford may be 
reviewed as and when regeneration schemes in the Borough are planned.

10.2.4 Taxi Ranks are provided for the use of Hackney Carriages that are plying for 
hire.  Drivers of unlicensed Hackney Carriages, or Hackney Carriages not 
plying for hire or drivers of Private Hire Vehicles found stopped or parked on 
any Taxi Rank, are committing an offence4 and risk prosecution by the 
Licensing Authority.

10.3 Vehicle Type & Specifications

10.3.1 The Licensing Authority has a wide range of discretion over the types of 
vehicle that it can licence as Hackney Carriages or Private Hire Vehicles.  In 
line with DfT Guidance, the Licensing Authority has adopted the principle of 
not specifying types of vehicle (emerging new designs for vehicles can then 
be readily taken into account).  Instead, the Licensing Authority has set 
minimum standards of specification for the external and internal condition of 
Vehicles, which are reasonable and proportionate and that all Vehicles must 
meet (APPENDIX A).  

10.4. Vehicle Age & Other Criteria

10.4.1 The Licensing Authority has set vehicle age limits as follows:

4
S64 Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976



11

∑ a ‘lower age limit’ for the initial licensing of a Vehicle; and
∑ an ‘upper age limit’ beyond which a Vehicle will not be licensed.

The vehicle age limits (APPENDIX A) are considered necessary and 
proportionate to protect public safety of the travelling population, road users 
and other objectives of this Policy. 

10.4.2 The vehicle age limit is not the only criteria to be used by the Licensing 
Authority in assessing whether to licence a Vehicle.  The Licensing Authority 
will also consider the physical condition (internal and external) of the Vehicle.  
A Vehicle Licence may not be granted or renewed, if the physical condition of 
the Vehicle is not of a suitable standard specified by the Licensing Authority 
(APPENDIX A), despite being within the vehicle age limit.

10.4.3 Once a Vehicle is licensed, the Vehicle will continue to be licensed until its 
‘upper age limit’ providing:

∑ the requirements of this Policy are met; and
∑ an application for renewal of the Vehicle Licence is submitted before the 

expiry of the Vehicle Licence; and
∑ the Vehicle is Plated before the expiry of the Vehicle Licence.

In exceptional circumstances (relating to Vehicles only), where the Licence 
Holder has notified the Licensing Authority before the expiry of the Vehicle 
Licence that his/her Vehicle for example has mechanical problems in getting 
the MOT Certificate passed, the Licensing Authority will grant the Licence 
Holder an exemption on the requirement to meet the new vehicle criteria for 
two (2) months to present his/her Vehicle to the Licensing Authority for 
Plating, after which the new criteria requirement will apply.

10.5 Vehicle Testing & Inspections

10.5.1 The Licensing Authority requires all Vehicles to be presented for inspection by 
an Authorised Officer, prior to the grant of a first Vehicle Licence or on 
renewal and to undergo a further inspection six (6) months after the grant of 
the Licence (the ‘6 month test’).  

10.5.2 A Vehicle Licence will be suspended on 21 days’ notice, if the Vehicle (and its 
MOT Certificate) is not presented for the ‘6 month test’.  An extension of time 
may be granted by the Licensing Authority, where a Vehicle is unable to be 
presented for its ‘6 month test’, due to mechanical problems in getting the 
MOT Certificate passed.  

10.5.3 Except during the testing of Vehicles for statutory purposes (i.e. MOT 
Certificate testing, fault finding and any necessary associated road testing that 
is being undertaken by an independent qualified vehicle mechanic utilising a 
trade plate that clearly indicates the Vehicle is not at that time being used for 
Hire and Reward), Vehicles must at all times be driven by a person holding a 
HC Driver’s Licence or PHV Driver’s Licence as appropriate. 

10.5.4 Vehicles may be subject to periodic, random inspections by an Authorised 
Officer to ensure the Vehicle and/or its Taximeter is fit for purpose5. Where 
there are reasonable grounds to suspect that the condition of a Vehicle poses 
a danger to either passengers and/or members of the public, a Suspension 

5S68 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976 



12

Notice will be issued by the Licensing Authority, detailing the grounds for 
suspension and the defect(s) to be remedied.  The Vehicle Licence will be 
immediately suspended, until such time as the defect(s) has been remedied 
(see section 10.5.6 below and APPENDIX L).  

If the Authorised Officer remains dissatisfied with the fitness of the Vehicle, 
the Vehicle Licence will be deemed to be revoked after the expiry of a two (2) 
month period (calculated from the date the Suspension Notice comes into 
effect)6.  Once the Vehicle Licence is deemed to be revoked, the Licence 
Holder has a right of appeal against revocation (see section 30 of this Policy).  

10.5.5 Where the Licensing Authority has reasonable grounds to suspect that the 
Vehicle has defects of a minor or cosmetic nature, it may require the Licence 
Holder to present the Vehicle for inspection to ascertain whether the defect(s) 
warrants a Defect(s) Notice. 

A Defect(s) Notice will specify the remedial works to be undertaken and a 
period of time to allow for the defect(s) to be remedied to the Authorised 
Officer’s satisfaction (see APPENDIX L).  Failure to comply with a Defect(s) 
Notice within the time period for compliance, may result in the imposition of 
penalty points in accordance with the Penalty Points Scheme.

10.5.6 Any accident or incident causing damage to a Vehicle which materially affects 
the safety, performance or appearance of the Vehicle or the comfort or 
convenience of passengers, must be reported to the Licensing Authority 
within seventy two (72 hours) of the occurrence.  For any damage which 
affects or is likely to affect the safety and/or performance of the Vehicle, the 
Licensing Authority may require an inspection certificate issued by an 
independent qualified vehicle mechanic or equivalent, confirming completion 
of repairs.  Until such certificate is submitted to the Licensing Authority, the 
Vehicle Licence will remain suspended.  

10.5.7 Where an inspection certificate issued by an independent qualified vehicle 
mechanic or equivalent, confirming completion of repairs cannot be produced 
to the Licensing Authority, at the discretion of the Licensing Authority, an MOT 
Certificate (costs to be borne by the Licence Holder) may be required to be 
presented before the [original] Vehicle Licence is re-instated.

10.5.8 If a Vehicle is off road for repair, the Licence Holder may apply to the 
Licensing Authority for a temporary transfer of the Vehicle Licence to another 
vehicle, providing the replacement vehicle meets the lower vehicle age limit 
(APPENDIX A).  A non-refundable administration fee is payable.  

10.6 Taximeters and Tariff Cards

10.6.1 Hackney Carriages must be fitted with a Taximeter.  On application for a HC 
Vehicle Licence, Taximeters must be calendar controlled, tested, sealed and 
calibrated (to the Fare Tariff(s)), by an independent qualified meter installation 
engineer and thereafter, calibrated annually.  

10.6.2 Taximeters must be positioned so that the Fare Tariff’(s) is clearly visible to 
passengers.

6S68 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976



13

10.6.3 For journeys with a destination within the Borough of Dartford, the cost of the 
journey is calculated by the Taximeter.  For journeys within or a destination 
outside the Borough of Dartford, the Driver may negotiate the fare with the 
Hirer before the start of the journey (see section 20.1.4 of this Policy).

10.6.4 The Taximeter must be started at the commencement of the Contract for Hire 
and left running, until the Hirer has paid the fare at the end of the journey.

10.6.5 When the Taximeter is operating, the Hackney Carriage illuminated roof-
mounted sign must be extinguished, indicating that the Vehicle is no longer 
available for Hire and Reward.

10.6.6 Taximeters must be operated in accordance with the Hackney Carriage 
Byelaws (APPENDIX O) and Conditions (APPENDICES B & C).

10.6.7 If the seal(s) on a Taximeter is broken, the Licence Holder must immediately 
notify the Licensing Authority.  The Taximeter must be retested and resealed 
by a qualified meter installation engineer, prior to use of the Vehicle.  

10.6.8 A Tariff Card must be displayed in a Hackney Carriage, in a prominent 
position, clearly visible to all passengers.

10.6.9 It is an offence7 to tamper with a seal on a Taximeter (without lawful excuse) 
or to alter a Taximeter with the intent to mislead or to knowingly cause or 
permit a Vehicle to be used, where a Taximeter has been tampered with or 
altered.

10.6.10 Private Hire Vehicles do not have to be fitted with a Taximeter but if fitted, the 
Taximeter must be tested and sealed by an independent qualified meter 
installation engineer.8

10.7 Licence Plate(s)

10.7.1 The Licence Plate(s) must be displayed externally, on the rear of the Vehicle, 
in accordance with APPENDICES B, & C & O.

10.7.2 Vehicles must not be used to convey a greater number of passengers than 
shown on the Licence Plate(s). 

10.7.3 On the expiry, suspension or revocation of a Vehicle Licence, the Licensing 
Authority will by notice, require the Licence Holder to return the Licence 
Plate(s) to it, within seven (7) days of service of the notice. 

10.7.4 A Licence Holder who fails without reasonable excuse to return the Licence 
Plate(s) to the Licensing Authority in accordance with section 10.7.3, will be 
committing an offence9.

10.8 Signage

10.8.1 All Hackney Carriages, except those with built-in roof signs must carry 
illuminated roof-mounted signs in accordance with APPENDIX B.  Signage 
may also incorporate an internal “for hire/hired” illuminated sign that is visible 
from the nearside of the pavement. 

7
S71 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

8
S71 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

9S58(2) Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976



14

10.8.2 Private Hire Vehicles are not permitted to carry roof-mounted signs of any 
kind or display any references to the words ‘Taxi’ ‘Cab’ or ‘Hackney Carriage’ 
but may contain signage, to the fact, that the Private Hire Vehicle can only be 
pre-booked.

10.8.3 Conditions attached to a Vehicle Licence, regulate external signs on the 
Vehicle (APPENDICES B & C). 

10.8.4 A Complaints Card must be displayed in the Vehicle at all times.

10.8.5 In relation to Stretch Limousines and chauffeur driven Private Hire Vehicles, 
on the request of a Licence Holder, an exemption may be granted by the 
Licensing Authority not to display a Licence Plate(s) and/or Complaints Card.  
However, the Licence Plate(s) and/or Complaints Card and the letter of 
exemption from the Licensing Authority, must be carried in the Vehicle at all 
times.  In the absence of a letter of exemption, the Licence Plate(s) must be 
permanently affixed and displayed externally on the rear of the Vehicle and 
the Complaints Card clearly displayed inside the Vehicle.  

10.9 Advertising

10.9.1 External advertising on Vehicles must comply with Licensing Authority’s 
requirements detailed in APPENDICES B & C. 

10.10 Stretch Limousines

10.10.1 Stretch Limousines must be licensed as Private Hire Vehicles, booked 
through an Operator and comply with the minimum standards of 
specification for the external and internal condition of Vehicles at 
APPENDICES C & D.  

10.10.2 The Licensing Authority strongly recommends that anyone wishing to 
licence a Stretch Limousine as a Private Hire Vehicle, contacts the 
Licensing Authority before purchasing the vehicle, to ensure that they are 
aware of all the criteria the vehicle must meet to be licensed.

10.11 Novelty (Speciality) Vehicles

10.11.1 The Licensing Authority does not currently licence other categories of 
novelty/specialised vehicles (i.e. fire engines, tanks, classic cars etc.) as 
Private Hire Vehicles.

10.12 Motorbikes 

10.12.1 The Licensing Authority does not currently licence motorbikes as Private 
Hire Vehicles.

10.13 Ambulances

10.13.1 The Licensing Authority considers that any vehicle (described as an 
‘ambulance’) carrying out predominantly transport work involving medical-
related journeys which does not meet the definition of ‘ambulance’10 or 

10
Schedule 2 - Vehicle Excise and Registration Act 1994



15

operate under the auspices of a formal patient transport service11, is likely 
to be a vehicle requiring licensing as a Private Hire Vehicle.  

11. ACCESSIBILITY

11.1 WAV Compliant

11.1.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to social inclusion and ensuring a wide 
range of opportunities is available to disabled residents to enjoy a high quality 
of life.  The Licensing Authority considers it important that people with 
disabilities have access to all forms of public transportation. 

11.1.2 Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles are an essential mode of 
transport for disabled and older people.  The combination of the personal
service they offer, their wide availability and door to door operations, enable 
them to respond particularly well to the travel needs of older people and 
people with disabilities (including, but not limited to people who need to travel 
in a wheelchair).  Accessibility is therefore an important consideration for the 
Licensing Authority in respect of its Vehicle licensing functions.

11.1.3 The Licensing Authority requires all Hackney Carriages to be WAV Compliant.  
HC Licences will not be granted for Hackney Carriages which are not WAV 
Compliant.  

11.1.4 All Private Hire Vehicles that are WAV compliant must comply with the vehicle 
specifications applying to Hackney Carriages (APPENDIX A).  The Private 
Hire Vehicle will be provided with a unique licence plate identifier to 
distinguish it from the general private hire fleet.   

11.2 Disability Awareness Training

11.2.1 Differing disabilities may be encountered by the Trades.  It is therefore 
imperative that all Drivers are made aware of the differing disabilities they may 
encounter and are educated in safe transportation of wheelchair passengers 
and in the use of relevant belts and other restraint and locking mechanisms.  

11.2.2 The Licensing Authority adopted a policy in 2007/08 that all Drivers must 
undertake disability awareness training.  Applicants licensed as Drivers for the 
first time must undertake the training within twelve (12) months of the grant of 
the Driver’s Licence.  All other Drivers must undertake the training on being 
invited by the Licensing Authority.  If there are mitigating factors that prevent 
attendance at the first invite, a second invite will be issued by the Licensing 
Authority.  Failure to attend the second invite, may lead to the suspension or 
non - renewal of a Driver’s Licence until such time as the training has been 
undertaken.   Exemptions may be granted for Drivers who have undertaken 
recognised disability awareness training prior to becoming licensed, provided 
the training was undertaken no more than two (2) years prior to the date of the 
application for a Driver’s Licence. 

11
Usually non-emergency planned transport of patients, where the booking will only be made if the person to be carried has 

been assessed by a health professional as having a medical need for transport - vehicles contracted to a health care provider, 
registered with the Care Quality Commission, and as exempt from road tax, cannot be used for "social" hirings



16

11.3 Equality Act 2010 Duties – Wheelchairs and Assistance Dogs

11.3.1 The Equality Act 2010 generally provides that no one should be discriminated 
against, harassed, victimised or subject to less favourable treatment on the 
basis any one or more Protected Characteristics.  It also ensures rights of 
access to everyday facilities and services and, in the context of disability, 
places duties on Drivers of WAV Compliant Vehicles12:

∑ to carry the passenger while in the wheelchair and not to make any 
additional charge for doing so;

∑ if the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the 
wheelchair;

∑ to take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 
carried in safety and reasonable comfort; 

∑ to give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required; 
and

∑ to carry Assistance Dogs and not to make any additional charge for doing 
so. 

11.3.2 A Driver, who for medical reasons is unable to accept wheelchair passengers, 
or carry Assistance Dogs, may apply to the Licensing Authority for an 
exemption certificate.  The Licensing Authority will issue an exemption or part 
exemption if it is satisfied that the Driver has produced relevant medical 
evidence to support his/her application for an exemption or part exemption 
e.g. consultant’s/hospital’s written confirmation that the Driver has allergies to 
animals or a physical condition which makes it impossible or unreasonably 
difficult for him/her to assist a passenger in a wheelchair.

11.3.3 Exemption certificates, which show the photograph of the Driver, must be 
displayed in the Vehicle at all times.

11.3.4 A Driver will commit an offence13 if he/she fails to comply with the duties listed 
in section 11.3.1 above, unless the Driver can show that at the time of the 
alleged offence, the Vehicle conformed to the accessibility requirements which 
applied to it, but it would not have been possible for the wheelchair to be 
carried safely in the Vehicle or the Driver is exempted by the Licensing 
Authority from the duty to assist passengers in wheelchairs14 or carry 
Assistance Dogs15.

11.3.5 The Trades’ attention is drawn to the ‘Code of Practice - Provision and use of 
transport vehicles’16 on the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s 
website.

11.3.6 As a provider of transport services and where applicable, as an employer of 
Drivers, an Operator has a legal duty under the Equality Act 2010, not to 
discriminate against those with Protected Characteristics.  The onus is on the 
Operator to comply with the 2010 Act and any codes of practice issued by the 
EHRC covering discrimination in employment and work related activities.

12
Ss165(1), (4) & (5) Equality Act 2010

13
Ss165(7) & 168(3) Equality Act 2010

14
Ss165(3) & (4) Equality Act 2010

15
Ss169(4) & 171(4) Equality Act 2010

16
Although issued prior to the introduction of the Equality Act 2010, this Code may be of assistance in providing guidance 

where the law has not changed substantially



17

11.3.7 An Operator will commit an offence17:

(a) if it fails or refuses to accept a booking requested by a disabled person (or 
booked by someone who wishes to accompany the disabled person), if 
the reason for the failure or refusal is that the disabled person will be 
accompanied by an Assistance Dog; or

(b) if it makes an additional charge for carrying an Assistance Dog.

11.3.8 Unless Drivers are exempted by the Licensing Authority from the duty to carry 
Assistance Dogs18, a driver of a PH Vehicle commits an offence19 by failing or 
refusing to carry out a booking accepted by the Operator:

(a) if the booking is made by or on behalf of a disabled person or a person
who wishes to be accompanied by a disabled person, and

(b) the reason for the failure or refusal is that the disabled person is 
accompanied by an Assistance Dog.

11.3.9 The Licensing Authority may take action against Drivers and Operators who 
do not comply with their duties under the Equality Act 2010.  Such action may 
involve for example imposing Conditions, applying penalty points or, 
ultimately, the suspension, revocation of, or refusal by the Licensing Authority, 
to renew a Driver or Operator’s Licence. 

12. BYELAWS & CONDITIONS OF LICENCE

12.1 On 30 March 1977, the Licensing Authority adopted local Byelaws in 
respect of Hackney Carriages (APPENDIX O). 

12.2 The Byelaws are currently under review in accordance with DfT guidelines. 
Until the 1977Byelaws have been repealed and replaced with the DfT model 
Byelaws, the 1977 Byelaws remain in force.  

12.3 The Licensing Authority may attach to the grant of a Licence, such 
standards and/or Conditions (Hackney Carriages, Private Hire Vehicles, 
PHV Drivers & Operators) 20 as it considers reasonably necessary.  
Conditions have been imposed as follows:

∑ Hackney Carriages - APPENDIX B; 
∑ Private Hire Vehicle – APPENDIX C
∑ Stretch Limousine – APPENDIX D;
∑ Proprietor/Driver (Hackney Carriages) - APPENDIX E (Standards of 

Service) and APPENDIX O (Hackney Carriage Byelaws);
∑ Driver (Private Hire Vehicle) – APPENDIX F;
∑ Stretch Limousine – APPENDIX G
∑ Operator - APPENDIX H

12.4 There is a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against the imposition of 
Conditions by the Licensing Authority (see section 30 of this Policy and 
APPENDIX N.

17
S170(1) & (2) Equality Act 2010

18
S171(4) Equality Act 2010

19 S170(3) Equality Act 2010
20

Ss47(1), 48(7), 51(2) & 55(3) Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions) Act 1976



18

12.5 Failure to comply with Conditions and/or Byelaws may result in the Licence 
Holder being prosecuted by the Licensing Authority and may call into question 
the Licence Holder’s fitness to hold a Licence.  

13. LICENCE DURATION

13.1 Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles are licensed for a period of one 
(1) year, or for a shorter period, should this be appropriate. 

13.2 A Driver is licensed for a period of three (3) years. In exceptional 
circumstances, a Driver can request, in writing, to be licensed for a period of 
one (1) year.

13.3 An Operator is licensed for a period of five (5) years. In exceptional 
circumstances, an Operator can request, in writing, to be licensed for a period 
of one (1) year.

13.4 The Licensing Authority will issue Licence renewal reminders to Licence 
Holders.

14. APPLICATION PROCESS & DECLARATIONS

14.1 Application Process

14.1.1 Applications for Licences must be presented in the manner prescribed by the 
Licensing Authority and accompanied by the appropriate non-refundable 
application fee, signed personal declaration(s) and any other documents 
required by the Licensing Authority. 

14.1.2 Application forms must be signed by the applicant and cannot be by proxy:

14.1.3 The application procedure and the documents required to support an 
application, are detailed in APPENDIX I and on the Licensing Authority’s 
website www.dartford.gov.uk Application forms can be downloaded from the 
website.  Failure to provide the appropriate documentation and fee, may result 
in delays in the application being processed.  

14.1.4 On a first application for a Licence, applicants will be required to provide 
written references of suitability from two (2) people that have known them for 
a period of two (2) years and who are not family members.

14.1.5 Use of Proxies

Other than on first application for a Vehicle Licence, a Proprietor may on 
subsequent applications and subject to the following rules, appoint a proxy to 
present the Vehicle for inspection by the Licensing Authority.  The Proprietor:

(a) in advance of any inspection, must submit a signed letter to the Licensing 
Authority appointing/authorising a named proxy, together with proof of ID 
which can be either a copy of the proxy’s driving licence or passport;

(b) must renew the appointment annually; 
(c) must immediately notify the Licensing Authority in writing of any change to 

the proxy arrangements.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


19

14.2 Declarations

14.2.1 Taking into account the need to have available safe and suitable Hackney 
Carriages and having proper regard to the safety of the public, a HC Driver’s 
application form requires a declaration of intent to mainly work in the Borough 
of Dartford21.

14.2.2 Applicants for a Licence are required to declare that the information they 
provide to the Licensing Authority is true and correct to the best of their 
knowledge.  If it subsequently comes to light that the information provided was 
false or misleading, the Licensing Authority may instigate legal proceedings 
against the Licence Holder under the Relevant Legislation.  Licences may 
also be suspended, revoked or not renewed.  Future applications for a 
Licence may be refused on the grounds that the applicant is not a ‘fit and 
proper person’.

14.2.3 Declarations must be signed by the applicant and cannot be by proxy.

15. ASSESSING AN APPLICATION FOR A LICENCE

15.1 The overriding aim of the Licensing Authority is to protect the safety of the 
travelling public and road users.

15.2 Fit and Proper Person (Drivers and Operators)

15.2.1 There is no absolute definition as to what constitutes a ‘fit and proper person’.
However, considering the range of passengers that a Driver or Operator may 
deal with (for example, elderly people, unaccompanied children, the disabled, 
vulnerable people, those who have had too much to drink, lone women and 
foreign visitors), the Licensing Authority relies on a common sense approach.

15.2.2 In order for an individual applicant to be granted an Operator’s Licence or to 
have a Licence renewed, the Licensing Authority must be satisfied that he/she 
is a ‘fit and proper person’.  In order for a company or a firm or partnership 
applicant to be considered ‘fit and proper’, the Licensing Authority has to be 
satisfied that the individuals who make up that company or partnership, are 
themselves ‘fit and proper’.

15.2.3 The Licensing Authority will apply a set of criteria to assess whether an 
applicant for a Driver or Operator’s Licence is a ‘fit and proper person.’  
Relevant Offences will be considered by the Licensing Authority (APPENDIX 
K).   

15.2.4 The Licensing Authority will consider each application for a Driver or 
Operator’s Licence on its merits, once the appropriate checks have been 
undertaken and the application form has been completed to the satisfaction of 
the Licensing Authority and the relevant supporting documents submitted.  If 
the Licensing Authority is not satisfied that an applicant meets its ‘fit and 
proper person’, criteria, it will refuse the grant or renewal of the Driver’s or 
Operator’s Licence.  The applicant has a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ 
Court (see section 30 of this Policy).

15.2.5 Once licensed, Licence Holders will be expected to ensure that they remain 
‘fit and proper’ to hold a Driver or Operator’s Licence.

21
Newcastle City Council, Regina (on the Application of) -v- Berwick-Upon-Tweed Borough Council and others; Admn 5-Nov-

2008



20

15.3 Fitness of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles

15.3.1 The Licensing Authority will consider an application for the grant or renewal of 
a Vehicle Licence on its merits, once the appropriate inspection and/or testing 
of the Vehicle and/or the Taximeter have been undertaken and the application 
form and supporting documents are complete and to the satisfaction of the 
Licensing Authority.  

15.3.2 The Licensing Authority may exercise its discretion and either:

(a) suspend, revoke or refuse to renew22 the Vehicle Licence on the ground 
that the Vehicle is unfit for use as a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle; or

(b) if the Licensing Authority is not satisfied as to the fitness of the Vehicle or 
as to the accuracy of the Taximeter:

(i) it may require further inspection and/or testing for the purpose of 
ascertaining the Vehicle’s/Taximeter’s fitness; and/or

(ii) it may suspend the Vehicle Licence with immediate effect23, until such 
time as the Authorised Officer is satisfied as to the fitness of the 
Vehicle/Taximeter (see APPENDIX L).

15.3.3 The applicant has a right of appeal to the Magistrates’ Court against 
suspension, revocation of or refusal to renew a Vehicle Licence on the ground 
that the Vehicle is unfit for use as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
(see section 30 of this Policy).

15.3.4 An Authorised Officer may suspend a Vehicle Licence (under Section 68 of 
the 1976 Act), if they are not satisfied with the fitness of the vehicle or 
accuracy of the taximeter. The Suspension Notice will be given in writing 
detailing the faults with the vehicle. The Vehicle Licence will remain 
suspended until the Authorised Officer is satisfied that the faults have been 
rectified. There is no right of appeal against a suspension made under Section 
68 of the 1976 Act.   

15.3.5 If the Authorised Officer remains dissatisfied with the fitness of the Vehicle, 
the Vehicle Licence will be deemed to be revoked after the expiry of a two (2) 
month period (calculated from the date the Suspension Notice comes into 
effect).  

15.3.6 There is no right of appeal against a suspension (under Section 68 of the 
1976 Act).  Once the Vehicle Licence is deemed to be revoked, the Licence 
Holder has a right of appeal against revocation (see section 30 of this Policy).

15.4 36 Month (3 years) Driving Qualification Period

15.4.1 United Kingdom/Great Britain - a UK applicant for a Driver’s Licence must 
have held a full ordinary GB driving licence (issued by the DVLA) for at least
36 months preceding the date of the application24.  

22
S60 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

23
S68 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976 

24
Ss51 &59 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976



21

15.4.2 European Economic Area (EEA) - full and valid ‘Community driving 
licences’, count towards the 36 month qualification period referred to in 
section 15.4.1.

15.4.3 Northern Ireland - full and valid driving licences count towards the 36 month 
qualification period referred to in section 15.4.1.

15.4.4Gibraltar, British Forces Germany and a 'designated country25' – full and 
valid driving licences count towards the 36 month qualification period referred 
to in section 15.4.1. However, the Licensing Authority will not consider an 
application for a Driver’s Licence, unless the applicant has exchanged their 
issuing country’s driving licence for a full ordinary GB driving licence (issued 
by the DVLA). 

15.4.5 Jersey, Guernsey, Isle of Man - full and valid driving licences count towards 
the 36 month qualification period referred to in section 15.4.1. However, the 
Licensing Authority will not consider an application for a Driver’s Licence, 
unless the applicant has exchanged their issuing country’s driving licence for 
a full ordinary GB driving licence (issued by the DVLA).

15.4.6 Other Countries – applicants must have held a full ordinary GB driving 
licence (issued by the DVLA) for at least 36 months preceding the date of the 
application for a Driver’s Licence. 

15.4.7 The onus is on applicants to make enquires through the GOV.UK website or 
DVLA, about their right to drive in Great Britain and/or whether they qualify for 
an exchange of their licence, for a GB driving licence.

15.5 Driving Proficiency

15.5.1 The DVSA Taxi Driving Test provides assurance to the Licensing Authority, of 
a common standard of driving for all Drivers, regardless of where and when 
their full driving licences were obtained.

15.5.2 Prior to the submission of an application for a Driver’s Licence, ‘first time’ 
applicants will be required to have undertaken (at their own expense) and 
passed, the DVSA or other Approved Provider Taxi Test (see Information 
Pack). 

15.5.3 Where complaints are received by the Licensing Authority relating to bad 
driving, the Licensing Authority may as a form of enforcement action, require 
the Driver to undertake a DVSA or other Approved Provider Taxi Test as an 
alternative to the issue of penalty points.  

15.6 Language Proficiency

15.6.1 Any person applying for the first time to the Licensing Authority for a Driver’s 
Licence, must provide (at their own expense), proof of their oral competency 
in the English language, by means of a recognised certificate or by 
undertaking the Licensing Authority’s approved English Test (see Information 
Pack under services “Taxi licensing” at www.dartford.gov.uk).

25
Andorra, Australia, Barbados, British Virgin Islands, Canada, Faroe Islands, Falkland Islands, Gibraltar, Hong Kong, Japan, 

Monaco, New Zealand, Republic of Korea, Singapore, South Africa, Switzerland, Zimbabwe

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


22

15.7 Safeguarding and Prevent (Counter Terrorism) Training

15.7.1 Safeguarding (APPENDIX P)

The Licensing Authority is committed towards meeting its statutory and moral 
duties to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, young persons and
adults at risk who come into contact with its services and activities.

The Licensing Authority has a duty to co-operate to improve the wellbeing of 
children, young persons and adults at risk. This requires the Licensing 
Authority to make arrangements to promote co-operation between it, each of 
its relevant partners and such other persons or bodies working with children in 
its area, as the Licensing Authority considers appropriate.  Arrangements 
include improving the wellbeing of children in the Licensing Authority’s area, 
encompassing the protection from harm or neglect. 

15.7.2 Extremism and radicalisation (APPENDIX P)

The Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty on specified 
authorities to have due regard to the need to prevent people (children and 
adults) from being drawn into terrorism (the ‘Prevent duty’). This statutory duty 
applies to the Council as a local authority.

The Prevent duty is addressed through a multi-agency approach to identify 
and provide support to individuals who are at risk of being drawn into 
committing acts of terrorism, through a process known as ‘Channel’. A 
‘Channel Panel’ comprising of agencies who have a role in the Prevent 
process look at putting into place interventions and a tailored support package 
to safeguard those at risk based on an assessment of their vulnerabilities.

15.7.3 All Drivers are required to undertake bespoke training designed to help them 
as a licence holder to be aware of those who may be vulnerable or being 
exploited, and to undertake the relevant modules relating to these subjects as
posed within the Knowledge Test. The test must be undertaken and passed
as part of the criteria for the grant/renewal of a licence.

15.8. Driver Knowledge Tests

15.8.1 Drivers are expected to know their way around the Borough of Dartford with a 
degree of competence.  The travelling public have a right to expect this. The 
Licensing Authority will test topographical, licensing law/policy/etiquette, 
Highway Code, numeracy, Prevent (Counter Terrorism) and Safeguarding 
knowledge as a condition of first grant of a Driver’s Licence. 

15.8.2 Private Hire Vehicles are not available for immediate hiring in the same way 
as Hackney Carriages and must be pre-booked.  Consequently, a PHV Driver 
has an opportunity to check the details of a route before starting a journey.  
Therefore, the Licensing Authority considers it would be unnecessarily 
onerous to require prospective PHV Drivers to pass the same 'knowledge test’ 
as HC Drivers. 

15.8.3 The Licensing Authority requires HC Drivers to pass two local topographical 
knowledge tests plus one test comprising of modules on Prevent (Counter 



23

Terrorism), Safeguarding, Policy/Legislation and Highway Code (APPENDIX 
J).

15.8.4 The Licensing Authority requires PHV Drivers to pass one local topographical 
knowledge test plus one test comprising of modules on Prevent (Counter 
Terrorism), Safeguarding, Policy/Legislation and Highway Code (APPENDIX 
J). 

15.8.5 If a candidate fails the examination, a non-refundable re-test fee will be 
incurred each time the candidate resits the ‘knowledge test’ and he/she will 
have to re-apply as a new applicant.  

15.8.6 There is no limit to the number of times a candidate can take the ‘knowledge 
test’. However, repeated failure of the ‘knowledge test’ particularly the 
Highway Code section will result in a review of the suitability of the applicant
which will include [licensed] Drivers undertaking a different category of test. 

16. APPLICATION & ADMINISTRATION FEES

16.1 Licensing fees26 are subject to periodic review by the Licensing Authority.  
Notification of variation to the fees will be published in a local newspaper [and 
on the Licensing Authority’s website www.dartford.gov.uk] to provide the 
opportunity for objections to be submitted to the Licensing Authority, within a 
period of at least twenty eight (28) days from the date of publication.  

16.2 In respect of Vehicle and Operator Licences, the Licensing Authority may 
charge such fees to cover in whole or in part:

• the reasonable cost of inspecting Vehicles to ascertain whether a licence 
should be granted or renewed;

• the reasonable cost of providing Taxi Ranks;
• any reasonable administrative or other costs in connection with the above 

and with the control and supervision of Vehicles.

16.3 Administration fees in accordance with APPENDIX I, will be charged by the 
Licensing Authority.

17. INSURANCE & ROAD TAX

17.1 The onus is on Licence Holders to check with their insurance provider that the 
services they are providing are adequately covered by the relevant policy of 
insurance.  

17.2 Vehicles must be insured and have a third party risks' insurance policy which 
complies with the requirements of Part VI of the Road Traffic Act 1988. 

17.3 If a Vehicle is found to be uninsured, the Vehicle Licence will be suspended 
until the presentation of the relevant Certificate and following an investigation 
by the Licensing Authority. .

17.4 The relevant Certificates of Insurance must be presented:

∑ with the Licence application and at the six (6) month inspection;
∑ within seven (7) days of the Certificate of Insurance’s expiry date;

26
S39 Town Police Clauses Act 1847 & S70 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


24

17.5 Failure to comply with the requirements in this section 17 may result in 
suspension of the Vehicle Licence.  

17.6 It is an offence for a Licence Holder to use or keep a Vehicle on a public road. 
without holding the appropriate road tax for the vehicle class27.  Unless the 
Vehicle Licence is surrendered, failure to have road tax may result in 
suspension of the Vehicle Licence. 

18. CRIME & DISORDER ADVICE (Driver, Passenger & Operating Premises’ 
Staff Safety)

18.1 CCTV Cameras

18.1.1 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the Licensing Authority to consider 
crime and disorder reduction while exercising its duties.  Research has shown 
that anti-social behaviour and crime affects Drivers and Operating Premises’ 
staff.  It is therefore important that the personal security of these persons is 
considered.

18.1.2 The installation of CCTV cameras in Vehicles and/or Operating Premises may 
prevent: 

∑ threats and assaults/violence on Drivers;
∑ allegations of Drivers assaulting passengers;
∑ passengers leaving Vehicles without paying;
∑ allegations of theft associated with licensed Vehicles; 

and

∑ help to prevent crime;
∑ identify the perpetrators of crime;
∑ reduce the fear of crime. 

18.1.3 The installation of security measures is left to the judgement of Licence 
Holders themselves.  

18.1.4 The onus is placed on Licence Holders to comply with the Data Protection Act 
1998 and any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner and to 
register as a Data Controller, with the Information Commissioner 
www.ico.org.uk

18.2 Clear Plastic Protective Screen

18.2.1 The installation of a clear plastic protective screen around the Vehicle’s 
driving seat, is left to the judgement of Licence Holders themselves. 

19. ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

19.1 Although the Licensing Authority has not adopted a specific environmental 
policy with regard to Vehicles, it encourages:

∑ the use of environmentally friendly Vehicles e.g. hybrid/electric/hydrogen
to reduce levels of fuel consumption and thus emissions;

∑ better maintenance of Vehicles;

27
S29 Vehicle Excise & Registration Act 1994 

http://www.ico.org.uk/


25

∑ switching off engines when stationary or idling, particularly at Taxi Ranks;
∑ the use of alternative/cleaner fuels;
∑ LPG conversions to Vehicles (carried out by a LPGA-approved garage).

20. FARES

20.1 Hackney Carriages

20.1.1 The Licensing Authority sets the Fare Tariff(s) (for Hackney Carriages)28.  The 
Fare Tariff(s) is the maximum fare that can be charged for any journey 
whether inside the Borough or to a destination outside the Borough. 

20.1.2 Fares may be negotiated prior to the commencement of the journey.  
However, the Driver must set the Taximeter to run, even though a fare has 
been negotiated down.  A Hackney Carriage fare can never be higher than 
the metered fare29.

20.1.3 Licence Holders may advertise that they charge less than the Fare Tariff(s). 

20.1.4 Fare Tariff(s) are reviewed at regular intervals by the Licensing Authority. 
Changes to the tariff are based on the Consumer Price Index as published 
annually in October and take effect in the following April and published in a 
local newspaper [and on the Licensing Authority’s website 
www.dartford.gov.uk] to provide the opportunity for objections to be submitted 
to the Licensing Authority, within a period of at least 14 (fourteen) days from 
the date of publication.  

20.2 Private Hire Vehicles

20.2.1 Private Hire Vehicle fares are not regulated by the Licensing Authority and 
may be negotiated prior to the commencement of the journey.

21. IMMIGRATION (Right to Work in the UK)

21.1 The Licensing Authority is responsible for ensuring that it only issues Licences 
to persons who have a legal entitlement to work in the UK30.

21.2 Any one of the documents listed on the Gov.Uk website will provide proof of 
the right to work in the UK. The original document must be submitted at the 
time of application.  

21.3 Asylum Seekers

21.3.1 An applicant for a Driver or Operator’s Licence who has been granted or is 
awaiting a decision to be granted asylum/refugee status, must produce to the 
Licensing Authority:

(a) a Certificate of Good Conduct from any other country31 he/she has 
resided within the three (3) years prior to the date of the Licence 
application, in accordance with the guidelines at section 25.2 of this 
Policy; 

28
S65 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

29
S66 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

30
Ss 15 to 25 of the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006 

31
An applicant will not be required to produce a Certificate of Good Conduct from the country he/she is claiming asylum from

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


26

(b) [for a Driver’s Licence] an Enhanced DBS Certificate in accordance with 
section 25.1 of this Policy;

(c) [for an Operator’s Licence] a Basic Disclosure in accordance with section 
25.4.1 of this Policy;

(d) references in accordance with section 25.2.2 of this Policy 

21.3.2 An applicant for a Driver’s Licence may need to undergo an independent third 
party ‘identity verification check’ or ‘ID check’ by a pre-approved identity 
checking supplier, who will compare the data provided by the applicant, 
against a range of independent, external data sources.  Please refer to the 
DBS’s website for further details.

21.3.3 If documentation to support an Enhanced DBS Check cannot be produced by 
an applicant, or where an applicant’s details are similar to another person e.g. 
name and date of birth, DBS may require the applicant to be fingerprinted by 
the police. 

22. TOUTING & PLYING

22.1 Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles can be legally hired to carry 
passengers.  It is a criminal offence32 for Private Hire Vehicles to display the 
word “taxi”, “cab” or “hire” or for drivers of Private Hire Vehicles, to solicit 
people in a public place with a view to hiring a PH Vehicle to carry them as 
passengers and committing such an act, usually not only carries the financial 
penalty directly associated with it, but may invalidate insurance policies.

22.2 The offence of unlawful plying or standing for hire in section 45 of the 1847 
Act is not made out by the mere presence of a parked vehicle.  It is the 
intentions of the driver, evidenced when approached by a prospective 
passenger, that determine if the vehicle was standing or plying for hire.

22.3 The Licensing Authority takes a serious view of any Licence Holder who has 
been convicted of touting, or uses touts or encourages the practice of touting.  
Licences may be revoked and the fitness of the Licence Holder to remain 
licensed, may also come under scrutiny.

22.4 Any person who takes bookings, supplies drivers and/or vehicles for private 
hire without an Operator's Licence, will be in breach of the Relevant 
Legislation and may be prosecuted33.  The Licensing Authority may also take 
enforcement measures in accordance with section 29 of this Policy.

23. HEALTH & SAFETY (of Employees and Passengers)

23.1 The Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (the 1974 Act) applies to on-the-
road work activities as to all work activities.

23.2 The 1974 Act requires employers to ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, the health and safety of all employees while at work.  Employers 
also have a responsibility to ensure that others e.g. passengers, are not put at 
risk by their work-related driving activities. 

23.3 Self-employed persons have similar responsibilities, under the 1974 Act, to 
that of employers.

32
S167 Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994

33
S72 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976



27

23.4 Under the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, 
employers have a responsibility to manage health and safety effectively by 
carrying out an assessment of the risks to the health and safety of their 
employees, while they are at work, and to other people who may be affected 
by their work activities.

23.5 Responsibility for the health and safety of employees and the travelling public, 
the provision of preventive and protective measures in Vehicles e.g. fire 
extinguishers, first aid kits34 and health and safety training, is that of a Licence 
Holder, where that Licence Holder is an employer or self-employed. The 
Licensing Authority has its own duties relating to ensuring public safety.

Licence conditions and Hackney Carriage Byelaws (Appendices B, C, D & O) 
require an efficient fire extinguisher to be carried in Vehicles and available for 
use.

In the event of fire, Drivers should:

• switch off the engine
• release the bonnet – do not open
• get everyone out of the vehicle
• get far away from the vehicle and stay away, keeping onlookers and 

others away
• dial 999 and call the fire and rescue service
• warn oncoming traffic, if safe to do so.

If and only if a Driver believes it is safe to do so, attempt to put out the fire 
with a dry powder or foam extinguisher. If the fire is in the engine 
compartment, the bonnet must NOT be opened - the extinguisher should be 
aimed through the radiator grille or under the edge of the bonnet. 

Fire extinguishers must be used with caution and if in doubt, Drivers should 
not attempt to tackle the fire.

Drivers should never use water on an engine fire – it can short out wiring and 
spread burning petrol with disastrous effect.

24. DRIVERS

24.1 Upper Age Limit

24.1.2 The Licensing Authority has set no upper age limit.  However, if a Driver 
wishes to continue to be licensed beyond the age of seventy (70), he/she will 
have to demonstrate that he/she is medically fit, by obtaining a medical 
certificate at yearly intervals.  

24.2 Medical Examination

24.2.1 The DfT Guidance explains ‘it is clearly good practice for medical checks be 
made on each driver before the initial grant of a licence and thereafter for 
each renewal. There is general recognition that it is appropriate for taxi/PHV 

34
Health & Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981 & the First Aid at Work (Approved Code of Practice) Guidance 1997



28

drivers to have more stringent medical standards than those applicable to 
normal car drivers because:

∑ they carry members of the general public who have expectations of a safe 
journey;

∑ they are on the road for longer hours than most car drivers; and
∑ they may have to assist disabled passengers and handle luggage’.

24.2.2 The Licensing Authority applies DVLA’s "Group 2" medical standards for a 
Driver’s Licence and the C1 standards for Drivers with insulin treated 
diabetes, who can meet a series of medical criteria. Further information may 
be obtained from the DVLA’s website.  

24.2.3 Medical checks (at the applicant’s/Driver’s expense), will need to be 
undertaken as follows:

∑ on initial application; then
∑ every three (3) years up to the age of seventy (70), unless restricted to 

a shorter period for medical reasons;
∑ at the age of seventy (70), annually, without an upper age limit.

24.2.4 Drivers must immediately advise the Licensing Authority of any deterioration 
in their health that may affect their driving capabilities35.  

24.2.5 The Licensing Authority may require more frequent medical checks and/or 
supporting evidence from medical specialists or consultants, where a Driver’s 
medical condition or pre-existing illness deteriorates to the extent, that it may 
affect his/her driving ability at any time.

24.2.6 Where there is any doubt as to the medical fitness of a Driver, the Licensing 
Authority may require a medical examination (at the Driver’s expense) by a 
medical specialist, appointed by the Licensing Authority.  A Suspension Notice 
may be issued in accordance with the Licensing Authority’s Taxi Licensing 
and Enforcement Policy (APPENDIX L) until such time as the Driver meets 
the medical criteria referred to in section 24.3.2 of this Policy.

25. CRIMINAL RECORD CHECKS

25.1 Disclosure and Barring Services (DBS) 

25.1.1 A criminal record check of current and spent convictions and police cautions, 
is seen as an essential safety measure in assessing whether or not an 
applicant is suitable to hold a Driver’s Licence.  

25.1.2 HC Drivers and PHV Drivers are an ‘excepted profession’ under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 197436.  An applicant for a Driver’s Licence, 
must submit a current (no less than three (3) months old) Enhanced DBS 
Certificate with his/her application.  Enhanced DBS Checks are undertaken by 
the applicant at his/her expense.  Further information may be obtained from 
the DBS’s website. 

25.1.3 An Enhanced DBS Certificate must be obtained and submitted to the 
Licensing Authority at three (3) yearly intervals.  The Licensing Authority 

35
S57 Local government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

36
Police Act 1997 (Criminal Records) Regulations 2002 (as amended) & Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) 

Order 1975 (as amended)



29

reserves the right to request (at the Driver’s expense), the submission of an 
Enhanced DBS Certificate at any time during the currency of a Driver’s 
Licence, should the Licensing Authority have grounds to suspect that the 
Driver does not meet its ‘fit and proper person’ criteria (see section 15.2 of this 
Policy).

25.1.4 Within seven (7) days of the following, Drivers must disclose/report to the 
Licensing Authority:

∑ all new convictions, official cautions and fixed penalty notices;
∑ any incident involving a passenger(s), Driver and/or the police.

Relevant forms can be downloaded from the Licensing Authority’s website 
www.dartford.gov.uk

25.2 Certificate of Good Conduct and References

25.2.1 An applicant for a Driver’s licence who has lived in a country other than the 
UK (for the purposes of this section, referred to as ‘the Country of Domicile’) 
for one or more continuous periods of between three (3) and twelve (12) 
months within five (5) years of the date of the application, will be required to 
produce (at their expense), a Certificate of Good Conduct (translated into 
English).  The responsibility for obtaining such a Certificate falls to the 
applicant and not the Licensing Authority.  Further information is obtainable 
from the DBS’s website.

25.2.2 The requirement to produce a Certificate of Good Conduct is in addition to:

∑ the Enhanced DBS Check which is required for all applicants applying for 
a Driver’s Licence;

∑ the Basic Disclosure which is required for all applicants applying for an 
Operator’s Licence;

∑ two (2) references from individuals or organisations who can confirm the 
applicant’s conduct for their time in the Country of Domicile (referees must 
not be family members).

25.2.3 Certificates of Good Conduct and references will be retained by the Licensing 
Authority for as long as is considered necessary.  

25.3 Common Law Police Disclosures (CLPD)37

Licence Holders need to note the following:

25.3.1 The CLPD relates to professions or occupations which carry special trust or 
responsibility, in which the public interest in the disclosure of convictions and 
other information held by the police, generally outweighs the normal duty of 
confidentiality owed to the individual.  

25.3.2 Under the CLPD, when an individual comes to the notice of the police and 
identifies their occupation as a Driver, the police may notify the Licensing 
Authority of convictions and any other relevant information that indicates that 
the person poses a risk to public safety.  Most notifications will be made once
an individual is convicted however, if there is a sufficient risk, the police will 
notify the Licensing Authority immediately.

37
CLPD replaced the Notifiable Occupation Scheme (NOS) in March 2015

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


30

25.3.3 The police may occasionally notify the Licensing Authority of offences 
committed abroad by an individual.

25.4 Operators & Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974

25.4.1 As Operators are not an ‘excepted profession’ under the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974, the Licensing Authority cannot require an Enhanced DBS 
Check (or standard DBS check) as a condition of grant of an Operator’s 
Licence.  However, the Licensing Authority will require a Basic Disclosure.

25.4.2 Each applicant for an Operator’s Licence, must submit a current (no less than 
three (3) months old) Basic Disclosure with his/her application.  Basic 
Disclosure checks are undertaken by the applicant at his/her expense.  
Further information may be obtained from the Disclosure Scotland website.

25.5 DVLA Driver’s Licence Authenticity Checks

25.5.1 The Licensing Authority requires Drivers at three (3) yearly intervals to verify 
(at their expense), the authenticity of their driving licences against the DVLA 
database38. 

25.5.2 The Licensing Authority reserves the right to request (at the Driver’s expense), 
the verification of his/her driving licence at any time during the currency of the 
Licence, should the Licensing Authority have grounds to suspect that the 
Driver does not meet its ‘fit and proper person’ criteria (see section 15.2 of this 
Policy).

26. RELEVANCE OF CONVICTIONS & CAUTIONS

26.1 The overriding consideration for the Licensing Authority in reaching a decision 
on whether to grant or renew a Driver’s Licence, will be the general safety of 
the travelling public and whether the Enhanced DBS Certificate, Certificate of 
Good Conduct and/or references, disclose information that would render the 
applicant not ‘fit and proper’ (see section 15.2 of this Policy).  

26.2 The Licensing Authority will take a particularly cautious view of any Relevant 
Offences in accordance with its guidelines at APPENDIX K.  These guidelines 
also detail the number of years the Licensing Authority will require to have 
elapsed, since the commission of particular kinds of offences, before it will 
grant or renew a Driver’s Licence.

26.3 In assessing whether an applicant for a Driver’s Licence is a ‘fit and proper 
person’ to hold the Licence, the Licensing Authority will consider each 
application on its merits.  It will take account of cautions, convictions, and 
fixed penalty notices whether spent or unspent, but only in so far as they are 
relevant to the application as follows:  

26.3.1 In relation to caution(s), the Licensing Authority will have regard to the class 
and age of the offence and the age of the applicant when the offence 
occurred.

26.3.2 In relation to convictions, the Licensing Authority will have regard to: 

38
The European Car and Driver Licence Information System (EUCARIS) facilitates the exchange of driver and vehicle 

information between participating countries and enables EU registration authorities to check that a vehicle presented for 
registration has not been scrapped or stolen in another Member State. It is also used by DVLA to check the validity and 
authenticity of non-UK driver licences presented for exchange and vice versa and/or the authenticity of vehicles imported into 
the UK



31

∑ whether the convictions are spent or unspent;
∑ the class of the offences;
∑ the age of the offences;
∑ the apparent seriousness, as gauged by the penalty imposed by the 

courts.

26.4 In general terms, the more recent, serious and relevant to public safety the 
offence is, the less likely an application will be granted.  In particular, 
applications will generally be rejected where the applicant’s record includes 
one or more of the following:  

∑ any term of imprisonment or custody for violent behaviour (dependent 
on class of the offence);

∑ any conviction for a violent offence, or dishonesty, which is of a serious 
nature;

∑ a conviction for a sexual offence including those which results in the 
offender being listed in the Sex Offenders Register;

∑ any serious motoring offence, such as dangerous driving, driving whilst 
disqualified, or drink driving.

27. STANDARDS EXPECTED OF DRIVERS

27.1 The general standards expected of Drivers are set out in the Relevant 
Legislation, Conditions and Byelaws (the ‘Standards’) in accordance with 
Appendices B, E, F, G and O.  

27.2 Failure to comply with any aspect of the Standards may be taken into 
consideration by the Licensing Authority when deciding whether enforcement 
measures should be taken against a Licence Holder. 

27.3 Breach of the Standards may result in advice or warnings and/or penalty 
points being issued by an Authorised Officer.  Repeated breaches may lead to 
more serious consequences including, if necessary, suspension, revocation 
of, or refusal by the Licensing Authority, to renew Licences and call into 
question the fitness of the Licence Holder to hold a Licence. 

28. OPERATORS

28.1 Operator’s Licence

28.1.1 The Licensing Authority may grant an Operator’s Licence39 to any individual, 
registered company or any unregistered business/firm or partnership 
considered ‘fit and proper’ to hold the Operator’s Licence:

∑ where the applicant is an individual the Operator’s Licence, if granted, 
will be issued in the name of that individual;

∑ where the applicant is a registered company (or other body corporate), 
the Operator’s Licence, if granted, will be issued in the name of the 
applicant(s) trading as the registered Company;

∑ where the applicant is an unregistered firm (two or more people trading 
in partnership) the Operator’s Licence, if granted, will be issued in the 
name(s) of the applicant(s) trading as the Company name.

39
S55 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976



32

28.1.2 An Operator’s Licence entitles the Operator to make provision for the 
invitation or acceptance of private hire bookings from the Operating Premises 
referred to in the Operator’s Licence.

28.1.3 An Operator’s Licence does not entitle an individual (e.g. sole person 
Operator) to drive a Private Hire Vehicle.  To act as a PHV Driver, the 
individual must obtain a PHV Driver’s Licence.  The law governing suitability 
to be a PHV Driver is quite distinct from that governing suitability to be an 
Operator.  It is quite feasible for an applicant to be granted an Operator’s 
Licence, but to be refused a PHV Driver’s Licence.

28.2 Transfer of Operator’s Licence 

28.2.1 An Operator’s Licence is not transferable.  If the licence has been issued in 
the name of two or more applicants, then either party can request to be 
removed from the licence by notifying the Licensing Authority in writing. 

28.2.2 The only exception to this is where the Licensing Authority has issued a 
direction that permits another individual to be named on the Operator’s 
Licence where an Operator, during the term of the Licence dies, becomes 
insolvent or is deemed to lack the capacity (within the meaning of the Mental 
Capacity Act 2005 (as amended)) to carry on the activities covered by the 
Operator’s Licence.  

28.2.3 Subject to the production of the relevant document (e.g. certified death 
certificate40 or certificate as to capacity41,) within twenty eight (28) days of the 
occurrence and the completion of a personal declaration by the new individual 
and the Licensing Authority being satisfied that this individual is a ‘fit and 
proper person’ to hold an Operator’s Licence, the direction will permit the new 
individual to be named on the Operator’s Licence.  

28.3 Operator’s Duties

28.3.1 An Operator provides for the taking of a booking for a PH Vehicle and 
dispatching the PH Vehicle and PHV Driver to fulfil that booking. 

28.3.2 Relevant Legislation places duties on an Operator to ensure that it’s PH 
Vehicles, PHV Drivers are licensed by the same licensing authority in 
accordance with Appendix H.

28.3.3 Bookings can be sub-contracted only to licensed private hire operators or 
private hire drivers, anywhere in the country. Operators are not permitted to 
pass bookings directly to private hire drivers/vehicles from other areas. If a 
booking is sub-contracted, Operators must still make sure the three licences 
(operator, private hire driver & private hire vehicle) are issued by the same 
licensing authority i.e. a Gravesend licensed operator must use a Gravesend 
vehicle and driver.

40
See GOV.UK website

41 See Office of the Public Guardian website



33

28.4 Operator’s Records42

28.4.1 Records maintained by Operators will enable passengers to be traced if this 
becomes necessary and will improve PHV Driver security and facilitate 
enforcement measures.

28.4.2 Conditions (Appendix H) require Operators to keep at their Operating 
Premises, records (paper or electronic) relating to all PHV Drivers, PH 
Vehicles and Contracts for Hire.  Records must be kept for the period of time 
specified in Conditions and be produced on request, to the Authorised Officer 
for inspection, within a period specified by the Authorised Officer.

28.4.3 Where a booking has been sub-contracted, or a sub-contracted booking has 
been received from another Operator, details of the sub - contracted work 
must be completed in accordance with 28.4.2 above including details of the 
Operator who has taken or passed on the booking.

28.4.4 Records kept electronically must be able to be reproduced in a legible format 
in the form requested by the Authorised Officer.

28.4.5 A schedule of all PHV /HC Drivers and PH /HC Vehicles used in the 
preceding month must be sent to the Licensing Authority on a monthly basis 
within the time specified on the return.  

28.4.6 It is an offence for an Operator not to maintain records in the form prescribed 
by the Licensing Authority and to fail to produce records for inspection, when 
requested by the Licensing Authority43.

28.5 Address from which an Operator may operate

28.5.1 All PH Vehicle bookings must be made through an Operator with a fixed base 
in the Borough of Dartford.  The Operating Premises may be an office, a unit 
in the town centre or a home address. 

28.5.2 The Operating Premises address will be noted on the Operator’s Licence.  
Bookings cannot be taken from premises other than the Operating Premises. 

28.5.3 Change of Operating Premises address within the Borough of Dartford must 
be notified to the Licensing Authority, in writing, before the change takes 
place.  A new Operator’s Licence will be issued by the Licensing Authority on 
completion of the notification form and payment of administration fee. 

28.5.4 So as to ensure that proper regulation and enforcement measures may be 
taken by the Licensing Authority, an Operator’s Licence will not be granted for 
an operating premises outside the Borough of Dartford.  

28.6 Planning Laws/Regulations and Other Legal Requirements

28.6.1 The existence or otherwise of planning permission, is not relevant to the grant 
of an Operator’s Licence.  No considerations apart from the fitness and 
propriety of an applicant can be taken into account by the Licensing 
Authority44.

42
S56 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

43
S55(5) Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976

44S57(2)(b) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976



34

28.6.2 The onus is on the Operator to ensure that the Operating Premises meets 
other legal requirements connected with running the business, including 
compliance with the necessary planning laws/regulations. 

28.6.2 If land is used without or in contravention of planning permission, the Local 
Planning Authority has discretion as to whether or not to take enforcement 
action under the relevant planning legislation. Failure to comply with 
necessary planning laws/regulations may result in closure of the Operating 
Premises by the Local Planning Authority, through the planning enforcement 
process.

28.6.3 Where an Operating Premises is accessible to the public, the Operator should 
have public liability insurance.  

29. ENFORCEMENT MEASURES

29.1 Taxi Licensing and Enforcement Policy 

29.1.1 In pursuance of its objective to encourage responsible Trades, the Licensing 
Authority operates a firm but fair enforcement regime, with a view to balancing 
the promotion of public safety with the need to permit individuals to safeguard 
their livelihood without undue interference.  The Licensing Authority will only 
intervene where it is necessary and proportionate to do so, having regard to 
the objectives outlined in section 3 of this Policy. 

29.1.2 The Taxi Licensing and Enforcement Policy at APPENDIX L, will be applied to 
ensure that the Licensing Authority’s enforcement measures are reasonable, 
necessary, proportionate, transparent and well directed. 

29.2 Penalty Points Scheme

29.2.1 The Licensing Authority has adopted a Penalty Points Scheme (APPENDIX 
M).  Adoption of the Penalty Points Scheme does not however compromise 
the Licensing Authority’s ability to instigate legal proceedings in the courts, 
should an offence under the Relevant Legislation warrant such action.

29.2.2 The Penalty Points Scheme acts as a first step in ensuring compliance with 
the Relevant Legislation, Conditions and this Policy and serves as an ‘early 
warning’ system to Licence Holders who see fit to ignore their responsibilities 
or fail to meet the requirements of Relevant Legislation, Conditions and/or this 
Policy.

29.2.3 Penalty points will be issued by an Officer under delegated authority or by the 
Officer Review Board (see section 8 of this Policy).  

29.2.4 Penalty points will remain on a Driver or Operator’s Licence for a rolling thirty 
six (36) month period from the date on which the points are imposed.  If a 
Licence Holder accumulates twenty five (25) or more penalty points within this 
period, commencing from the date of imposition of the earliest ‘live’ penalty 
points, he/she will be invited to a meeting before the Officer Review Board 
(APPENDIX M).

29.2.5 Investigations will be undertaken into complaints against Licence Holders in 
accordance with APPENDIX L.  Where penalty points are to be issued, the 
Licence Holder will be given the option of either:



35

∑ accepting the points; or 
∑ appealing within twenty (21) days of the date of the decision, to the Officer 

Review Board.  The Board may on the evidence available to it, uphold the 
decision, or increase or decrease the penalty points (APPENDIX M). 

29.3 Range of Enforcement Measures & Powers

29.3.1 The Licensing Authority has a range of powers available to it for dealing with 
breaches or contraventions of the Relevant Legislation, Conditions and this 
Policy.  One or more of the following steps may be taken by the Licensing 
Authority:

∑ suspension of a Licence;
∑ revocation of a Licence;
∑ refusal to renew a Licence;
∑ issuing of warnings or cautions;
∑ prosecution.

29.3.2 Suspension

29.3.2.1 Vehicles must be kept at all times in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean 
condition.  Compliance with the vehicle specifications and Conditions 
(APPENDICES A - C) is essential and will be enforced by periodic, random 
vehicle inspections and testing by the Licensing Authority (see section 10.5 of 
this Policy).  

29.3.2.2 Where public safety is likely to be compromised by the condition of a Vehicle, 
a Suspension Notice may be issued by the Licensing Authority and the 
Vehicle Licence suspended immediately, until the defect(s) have been 
remedied (see APPENDIX L).  Where the Vehicle is unfit for use, the 
Licensing Authority may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the Vehicle 
Licence (see section 15.3.2(a) above). 

29.3.2.3 The Licensing Authority may suspend a Driver or Operator’s Licence
immediately, or for a specified/predetermined period (see APPENDIX L). 

29.3.2.4 If a Driver or Operator’s Licence has previously been suspended, a further, 
longer period of suspension may be considered as an alternative to 
revocation.  The length of any suspension will be determined on an individual 
basis.  The decision to suspend may be taken by an Officer under delegated 
authority (see section 8 of this Policy).  

29.3.2.5 If a Driver has been arrested, charged or cautioned or subject to bail 
conditions for a serious offence (e.g. includes serious assaults; rape, 
paedophilia and other serious sexual and indecency offences and use of illicit 
drugs or excess alcohol whilst at work) which suggests he/she would be a 
danger to the public, or an Operator’s conduct appears to render it unfit to 
hold an Operator’s Licence, the Licensing Authority may, in the interests of 
public safety, consider immediate suspension of the Driver or Operator’s 
Licence.  In assessing the action to take, the safety of the travelling public will 
be the paramount concern and where the risk justifies such an approach.  

29.3.2.6 Any decision by the Licensing Authority to immediately suspend a Licence 
until the outcome of criminal proceedings are known, will be conveyed to the 
Licence Holder as soon as possible following the decision being made.  The 



36

Licence Holder has a right of appeal against the decision (see section 30 of 
this Policy).

29.3.2.7 A suspension will remain in place, until withdrawn by the Licensing Authority 
in writing.

29.4 Revocation 

29.4.1. Revocation will never be considered lightly by the Licensing Authority.  In 
assessing whether revocation is appropriate, the safety of the travelling 
public and road users will be the paramount concern and where the risk 
justifies such an approach.  

29.4.2 A Driver or Operator’s Licence may be revoked with immediate effect
where a Driver or Operator has accumulated twenty five (25) penalty points or 
more under the Licensing Authority’s Penalty Points Scheme (APPENDIX 
M), or where the Licensing Authority considers that it is in the interests of 
public safety e.g. where an Operator is employing un-licensed drivers or 
using uninsured vehicles, or where a Driver has been convicted of a serious 
criminal offence. 

29.4.3 The decision to revoke a Driver or Operator’s Licence will be taken by an 
Officer under delegated authority (see section 8 of this Policy).  

29.4.4 A Vehicle Licence will be deemed to be revoked after the expiry of a two (2) 
month period (calculated from the date the Suspension Notice comes into 
effect) where the Licensing Authority is not satisfied as to the fitness of the 
Vehicle or as to the accuracy of the Taximeter.    

29.4.5 Where a Licence is revoked, all rights to the Licence are lost.  Any further 
application for a Licence will be treated as a new application and considered 
on its merits.

29.4.6 The Licence Holder has a right of appeal against the decision to revoke a 
Vehicle Licence (see section 30 of this Policy).

29.5 Warnings & Cautions

29.5.1 As a method of dealing with less serious matters or isolated occurrences, the 
Licensing Authority may issue warnings and cautions as are appropriate to 
the circumstances, in accordance with guidance issued by the Home Office 
‘Simple Cautioning of Adult Offenders45’ and in accordance with APPENDIX L.  
Minor or first-time transgressions are likely to attract either an oral or written 
warning.  Repeated or more serious conduct is likely to lead to the issuing of a 
caution, provided:

∑ there is sufficient evidence to justify a prosecution;
∑ the Licence Holder admits his/her guilt;
∑ the Licence Holder agrees to be cautioned.

29.6 Offences - Prosecutions

29.6.1 The Licensing Authority may prosecute Licence Holders in the following 
circumstances and in accordance with APPENDIX L:



37

∑ where the allegation is of a serious or repeated offence;
∑ where the Licensing Authority proposes to caution the Licence Holder, 

but the offence is not admitted.

29.7 Found Property

29.7.1 After the termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter, the 
Driver will carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have been 
accidentally left therein and deal with the property in accordance with 
APPENDIX Q.

29.8 Breach of Conditions & Policy Requirements

29.8.1 The Licensing Authority will use the range of enforcement measures and 
powers available to it (see above) to ensure that Licence Holders comply with 
the Relevant Legislation, Conditions and this Policy.

30. Rights of Appeal

30.1 There is a right of appeal to the Magistrate’s Court against the suspension, 
revocation of, or refusal by the Licensing Authority, to renew a Licence, or 
against the imposition of Conditions.   The grounds for appeal are detailed in 
APPENDIX N.  

30.2 Appeals must be lodged with the Magistrates’ Court within twenty-one (21) 
days of the date of the Licensing Authority’s decision.  The appeal must state 
the grounds upon which it is based.  

30.3 There is a right of appeal to the Officer Review Board where a Licence Holder 
has requested and been refused a deviation to the requirement(s) in this 
Policy or against the imposition of penalty points, under the Penalty Points 
Scheme (APPENDIX M).



APPENDIX A

VEHICLE AGE & OTHER SPECIFICATIONS

Page 1 of 3

Do not purchase a vehicle unless you are sure it meets the appropriate criteria.  
If in doubt, contact the Licensing Officer (Vehicles) on telephone number 01322 
343340.

All Hackney Carriages must be wheelchair accessible. Wheelchair accessible 
means the vehicle must be able to transport a passenger in a wheelchair in safety 
and secured by the appropriate harnesses. 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLES
Maximum age on initial licensing Less than 9 years
Maximum age to which a vehicle will be allowed operate 15 years

Note that the year is always calculated on the basis of day/month/year.

HACKNEY CARRIAGE: SUITABILITY OF VEHICLE
HC1. It is a right hand drive vehicle.
HC2. Has a separate luggage compartment.
HC3. Is capable of seating in comfort at least four passengers in addition to the driver.
HC4. All seats are fitted with seat belts conforming to current British Standards Institute 

standards or equivalent.
HC5. Provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with 

the driver.
HC6. Cause the roof or cover of the hackney carriage to be watertight.
HC7. Provide adequate windows and means of opening and closing them.
HC8. Cause the seats to be properly cushioned and covered.  

HC9. Cause the floor to be covered with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering.
HC10. It carries within the vehicle a first aid kit for personal use.
HC11. Fitted with a serviceable spare wheel or manufacturer alternative. 
HC12. The vehicle has a M1 or M1 low volume certificate or a Basic IVA Certificate1. 
HC13. It has at least two passenger doors in the case of London type vehicles and three 

passenger doors in the case of rear access /people carrier type of vehicles.
HC14. Fitted with wheelchair ramps and wheelchair restraining straps.
HC15. Any vehicle with a mechanical winch must have an annual inspection by a qualified 

engineer.
HC16. It has at least two passenger doors in the case of London type vehicles and three 

passenger doors in the case of rear access/people carrier type of vehicles.

PRIVATE HIRE WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES AGE CRITERIA

Private Hire Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles have the same age criteria as Hackney 
Carriages.  

PRIVATE HIRE WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES 
PHWAV1. Fitted with wheelchair ramps and wheelchair restraining straps.
PHWAV2. Any vehicle with a mechanical winch must have an annual inspection by a 

qualified engineer.
PHWAV3. If the vehicle is wheelchair accessible either an M1 or M1 low volume 

certificate or a Basic IVA Certificate.

Plus the non-wheelchair accessible vehicle specification referred to below.

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES - NON WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE

PRIVATE HIRE – SALOON/ESTATE VEHICLES
Maximum age on initial licensing                                        Less than 4 years
Maximum age to which a vehicle will be allowed to operate 8 years

1
A certificate issued under the national Individual Vehicle Approval Scheme which is designed to certify a vehicle’s 

compliance with UK law



Page 2 OF 3

PRIVATE HIRE – PURPOSE BUILT/MPV NON WHEELCHAIR/ 6 SEATER+
Maximum age on initial licensing                                            Less than 9 years
Maximum age to which a vehicle will be allowed to operate 15 years

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE SUITABILITY
PH1. It is a right hand drive vehicle.
PH2. Has a separate luggage compartment.
PH3. Is capable of seating in comfort at least four passengers in addition to the driver.
PH4. All seats are fitted with seat belts to the British Standards Institute standards or 

equivalent.
PH5. Provides sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate 

with the driver.
PH6. Cause the roof or cover of the vehicle to be watertight.
PH7. Provides adequate windows and means of opening and closing them.
PH8. Cause the seats to be properly cushioned and covered.
PH9. Cause the floor to be covered with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering.
PH10. It carries within the vehicle a first aid kit for personal use.
PH11. Fitted with a serviceable spare wheel or manufacturer alternative. 

INFORMATIVE - All Seating – Both Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles
The size requirement for all seating is 16” (41cms) per person. The distance for 3 
persons of 48” (92cms) should be taken between the arm rests as these can in some 
cases significantly reduce the width.  Further, a height of 34” (87cms) between seat 
and roof and 7" (18cms) from back of front seat to front of rear seat, (when front seat 
is fully pushed back), is to be recommended as a minimum for passenger comfort.

Definition: Type Approval for WAV Compliant Vehicles
All wheelchair accessible vehicles must meet the following Type Approval.  Any 
vehicle that has been converted after type approval registration, will require a 
voluntary Class D Basic IVA Certificate. Please also refer to HC12. and PHWAV3.
above and SL5. below, for M1 category requirements.

Directive 70/156/EEC Directive 2007/46/EC
European Whole Vehicle Type 
Approval (ECWVTA) 

European Whole Vehicle Type Approval 
(ECWVTA) 

National scheme: Small series type 
approval (SSTA) (500 per type per 
year) – also known as Low Volume 
Type Approval – (certificate required) 

EU Small series type approval (SSTA) limit of 
1000 - (certificate required)

National scheme:  Small series type approval 
(NSSTA) (75 per type per year) - (certificate 
required)

STRETCH LIMOUSINE - VEHICLE SPECIFICATION CRITERIA 

SL1. Maximum age on initial licensing Less than 7 years
Maximum age to which a vehicle will be allowed operate 14 years
Maximum age of replacement vehicle 7 years

SL2. Vehicles may be either left or right hand drive providing that they have full 
Vehicle Type Approval (unless built before 29 July 2011, when a Certificate of 
Fitness should be sufficient).

SL3. Maximum length of the vehicle “stretch” not to exceed 3048 millimetres (120
inches), with the exception of a Cadillac, which must not exceed 3302 
millimetres (130 inches).  For Ford and Cadillac based vehicles, conversion 
has to be undertaken by an authorised coachbuilder. Ford and Cadillac 
stretched limousines must have been modified under the Ford Quality Vehicle 



Page 3 OF 3

Modifier programme (VIN plate number will start 1L1 for Millennium and later 
models) or the Cadillac Master Coachbuilder qualification respectively.

SL4. Vehicles should be equipped with a minimum of four road wheels and one 
serviceable full size spare wheel. The tyres to be of an approved rating as 
specified by the tyre manufacturer for weight, size and speed of the vehicle 
e.g. 235/75R 15 108S (BF Goodrich Extra Load or equivalent).  Tyres fitted to 
vehicles of US origin must be either 235/75R-15 108S (BF Load) OR 225/70R-
16 107T Town Car Limo Tyre (Reinforced) or other such tyres as deemed 
suitable by an independent engineer for this application.

SL5. Vehicles manufactured in the EU and modified in the EU - must be either M1 
Whole Vehicle Type Approved or converted under an M1 EC Small Series or 
National Low Volume Type Approval Scheme or hold a valid Individual Vehicle 
Approval (IVA) Certificate.

SL6. Must have a minimum of 3 doors, which must be of sufficient size to allow 
easy access and egress to seats for passengers. Passengers should not be 
required to use a static tip up seat mechanism.

SL7. Where the vehicle is fitted with continuous seats, a minimum width of 41 
centimetres (16 inches) un-intruded space must be available per person.

SL8. The driver’s seat and all forward and rear facing seats must be fitted with a 3 
point all age inertia reel, lap and diagonal seat belts or restraint for each 
passenger2. 

SL9. An Intercom system must to be provided, where a partition is installed 
between the passenger compartment and driver compartment.

SL10. Any tinted glass in the driver compartment to conform to the Road Vehicles 
(Construction and Use Regulations) 1986 (as amended)3.

2
Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) Regulations 1986 (as amended) - There is no legal requirement to fit seat 

belts in sideways-facing seats and there are no seat belts or child restraints approved for sideways facing seats. 
Therefore, a child who is required to use a child restraint (i.e. all those under 135 cm tall who are also under 12 years 
old) cannot travel in a sideways-facing seat. Instead, they must use a forward or rear-facing seat.
3See VOSA ‘Tinted Windows - Your Questions Answered’ 



APPENDIX B

HACKNEY CARRIAGES - VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS

TOWN & POLICE CLAUSES ACT 1947 &
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 – SECTION 47

Page 1 of 3

Without prejudice to the Hackney Carriage Byelaws made by The Dartford Borough Council, the following 
conditions shall apply:

General Conditions

1. The Proprietor shall ensure that a vehicle used as a hackney carriage, is licensed by the Licensing 
Authority and that any person who drives a hackney carriage, is licensed by the same Licensing Authority 
as a hackney carriage driver.

2. The Proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for immoral or illegal purposes.

3. A Proprietor who has more than one hackney carriage, shall submit a monthly schedule to the 
Licensing Authority, detailing for each hackney carriage, the licence plate number (issued by the 
Licensing Authority), name and address of lessee/hirer, if applicable, dates of any lease/hire 
agreement and confirmation that the hackney carriage is in the Driver or Proprietor’s possession at 
all times. All records shall be retained for a minimum period of 12 months by the Proprietor.

4. The Proprietor shall within 72 hours of being requested by the Licensing Authority, or at an agreed 
appointed time, present the hackney carriage and documents (VC5, Road Tax, MoT and/or Insurance) for 
inspection by the Authorised Officer, at the Civic Centre Dartford.

5. If the Proprietor transfers his/her interest in the hackney carriage to another person, he/she shall within 14 
days of the transfer, make an appointment with the Licensing Authority to complete the required 
documentation to transfer the hackney carriage to the other person1. (S49 1976).

6. The Proprietor shall, for the term of the licence, ensure compliance with the Vehicle Excise & Registration 
Act 1994 (S29) by holding, the appropriate tax for the class of vehicle.

7. For the duration of the licence, the Proprietor shall clearly display in the hackney carriage, a current 
certificate of insurance and allow any passenger to see such insurance on request. Upon expiry of the 
insurance, the Proprietor shall within 7 days of the expiry, produce to the Licensing Authority, a certificate 
or other document indicating that the insurance cover has been renewed for the purpose of Part VI of the 
Road Traffic Act 1988 and includes plying for hire cover.

8. The Proprietor shall produce the hackney carriage for inspection with a valid MoT certificate at the initial 
and renewal appointments and at 6 month intervals or at such other times as may be requested by the 
Licensing Authority.  The MoT shall be less than 15 days old on the date of the inspection appointment.

9. As soon as reasonably practicable, but within 72 hours at the latest, the Proprietor or Driver shall report in 
writing to the Licensing Authority, any accident or incident which materially affects the safety, performance 
or appearance of the hackney carriage or the comfort or convenience of passengers. For any damage 
which affects or is likely to affect the safety and/or performance of the hackney carriage, the Licensing 
Authority may require an inspection certificate issued by an independent qualified vehicle mechanic or 
equivalent, confirming completion of repairs.  Until such certificate is submitted and the Authorised Officer 
has inspected the hackney carriage, the Proprietor and/or Driver shall not use the vehicle to ply for hire.

10. The Proprietor shall:

a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 

b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to these conditions and 
shall provide all information reasonably required in the discharge of the Authorised Officer’s duties.

1 S49 Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1976



Page 2 of 3

11. The Proprietor shall within 7 days of any change of address, arrange an appointment with the Licensing 
Authority to complete the change of address notification form and make payment of the administration fee 
(S44 1847).

12. The Driver shall ensure that the licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority shall be permanently 
affixed to the rear of the vehicle and be legible at all times. In the event that a licence plate is lost, stolen 
or damaged, the Driver shall notify the Licensing Authority immediately to arrange a replacement plate.  
The Driver shall not use the vehicle for plying for hire, until a replacement plate is secured to the vehicle.

13. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall at all times display in the hackney carriage and in a position visible to all 
passengers, a notice detailing the fare tariff fixed by the Licensing Authority (see condition 21.a).

14. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall ensure that wheelchair ramps, straps or clamps are carried in the 
vehicle at all times.  The retaining straps or clamps shall be used at all times to secure the hirer and 
wheelchair.

Vehicle Conditions

15. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall at all times display a notice inside the hackney carriage, specifying the 
licence number of the vehicle and a contact for complaints.

16. The Proprietor shall not alter the design, condition, engine size or appearance of the hackney carriage 
without first obtaining the approval of the Licensing Authority.  

17. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall in respect of the hackney carriage:

a. provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with the Driver;

b. cause the roof or cover of the vehicle to be watertight;

c. provide adequate windows and means of opening and closing them;

d. cause the seats to be properly cushioned and covered;

e. cause the floor to be covered with a carpet, mat or other suitable covering;

f. ensure that the vehicle, including all bodywork, upholstery and fittings is at all times roadworthy, 
safe and serviceable and in a clean condition, subject to prevailing road conditions;

g. carry in the vehicle, a serviceable spare wheel or manufacturer alternative;

h. carry in the vehicle a first aid kit suitable for personal use;

i. provide a suitable fire extinguisher of a type approved by the Licensing Authority that should be 
carried in such a position as to be available for use at all times (see Informative below).

j. provide adequate means of carrying and securing luggage;

k. place adequate “No Smoking” signage in the vehicle (one at each passenger window or other 
prominent location but so as not to adversely impair the Driver’s visibility), so as to be visible to all 
passengers. 

18. The Proprietor shall ensure that the hackney carriage is fitted with a taximeter which shall be calendar
controlled, tested, sealed and calibrated in accordance with condition 21.a, by a qualified meter 
installation engineer and thereafter, calibrated annually.  The Proprietor shall produce the calibration
certificate at the vehicle inspection and testing appointments with the Authorised Officer. 

19. The Proprietor shall ensure that:

a. the taximeter is calibrated to the current or a previous fare tariff fixed by the Licensing Authority
(provided that any previous fare tariff is not higher than the current fixed fare tariff);

b. any fault or suspected fault identified with the taximeter is corrected and that the hackney carriage is 
not used to ply for hire until the taximeter has been certified as fit for use by a qualified meter 
installation engineer.



Page 3 of 3

20. The Proprietor shall ensure that:

a. the hackney carriage (except a vehicle with a built-in roof sign) carries at all times, an illuminated 
roof-mounted sign or internal illuminated ‘for hire’ sign, indicating that the vehicle is a hackney 
carriage (the use of the word “Taxi” is acceptable);

b. when the hackney carriage is plying for hire, the roof-mounted sign or internal ‘for hire’ sign, is 
illuminated during the hours of darkness;

c. when the taximeter is operating, the illuminated roof mounted sign or internal illuminated ‘for hire’ 
sign is extinguished, showing that the vehicle is no longer available for hire.

21. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall not display any signs and/or advertisements in/on a hackney carriage,
unless the following conditions are complied with:

a. rear windscreen advertising in the form of transparent ‘inner vision’ type signs not exceeding 20 
centimetres in depth is permitted, provided no other form of advertising is displayed in/on the vehicle; 

b. a screen displaying scrolling or moving advertisements may be securely fitted within the vehicle,
provided that the screen is not within the Driver’s vision and is capable of being switched off, at the 
request of the passenger(s); 

c. interior advertising not exceeding 36cm X 36cm in size is permitted on the underside of the drop 
seats;

d. interior advertising not exceeding 100cm X 10cm is permitted on the interior bulkhead panel.

NOTE: A licence may be revoked, suspended or not renewed in accordance with Sections 60 and 68 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 for a breach(es) of licence conditions or on accumulation of 
penalty points, under the Penalty Points Scheme.

INFORMATIVE

In the event of fire:

∑ Switch off engine
∑ Release bonnet – Do Not Open
∑ Get everyone out of the vehicle
∑ Get far away from the vehicle and stay away, keeping onlookers and others away
∑ Dial 999 and call the fire and rescue service
∑ Warn oncoming traffic, if safe to do so.

If and only if you believe it is safe to do so, attempt to put out the fire with a dry powder or foam extinguisher. 
If the fire is in the engine compartment, do not open the bonnet but aim the extinguisher through the radiator 
grille or under the edge of the bonnet. Use with caution and if in doubt, don’t attempt to tackle the fire.

Never use water on an engine fire – it can short out wiring and spread burning petrol with disastrous effect.



APPENDIX C

PRIVATE HIRE - VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 – SECTION 47

Page 1 of 3

General Conditions

1. The Proprietor shall ensure that any vehicle used for private hire is licensed by the Licensing 
Authority and that any person who drives the Proprietor’s private hire vehicle, is licensed by the same 
Licensing Authority as a private hire driver.

2. The Proprietor shall ensure that the vehicle is not used for immoral or illegal purposes.

3. A Proprietor who has more than one vehicle, shall submit a monthly schedule to the Licensing 
Authority, detailing for each vehicle, the licence plate number (issued by the Licensing Authority), 
name and address of hirer/lessee, if applicable, dates of any lease/hire agreement and confirmation 
that the vehicle is in the Driver or Proprietor’s possession at all times.  All records shall be retained 
for a minimum period of 12 months by the Proprietor.

4. The Proprietor shall within 72 hours of being requested by the Licensing Authority, or at an agreed 
appointed time, present the vehicle and documents (VC5, Road Tax, MoT and/or Insurance) for 
inspection by the Authorised Officer, at the Civic Centre Dartford.

5. If the Proprietor transfers his/her interest in the vehicle to another person, he/she shall within 14 days 
of the transfer, make an appointment with the Licensing Authority to complete the required 
documentation to transfer the vehicle to the other person.

6. The Proprietor shall, during the term of the licence, ensure compliance with the Vehicle Excise & 
Registration Act 1994 (S29) by holding, the appropriate tax for the class of vehicle.

7. For the duration of the licence, the Proprietor shall clearly display in the vehicle, a current certificate 
of insurance and allow any passenger to see such insurance on request. Upon expiry of the 
insurance, the Proprietor shall within 7 days of expiry, produce to the Licensing Authority, a certificate 
or other document indicating that the insurance cover has been renewed for the purpose of Part VI of 
the Road Traffic Act 1988 and includes appropriate private hire cover. 

8. The Proprietor shall produce the vehicle for inspection with a valid MoT certificate at the initial and 
renewal appointments and at 6 month intervals or at such other times as may be requested by the 
Licensing Authority.  The MoT shall be less than 15 days old on the date of the inspection 
appointment.  

9. As soon as reasonably practicable, but within 72 hours at the latest, the Proprietor or Driver shall 
report in writing to the Licensing Authority, any accident or incident which materially affects the 
safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle or the comfort or convenience of passengers.  For 
any damage which affects or is likely to affect the safety and/or performance of the Vehicle, the 
Licensing Authority may require an inspection certificate issued by an independent qualified vehicle 
mechanic or equivalent, confirming completion of repairs.  Until such certificate is submitted and the 
Authorised Officer has inspected the vehicle, the Proprietor and/or Driver shall not use the vehicle for 
private hire.

10. The Proprietor shall:

a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 

b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to these conditions 
and shall provide all information reasonably required in the discharge of the Authorised 
Officer’s duties.



Page 2 of 3

11. The Proprietor shall within 7 days of any change of address, arrange an appointment with the 
Licensing Authority to complete the change of address notification form and make payment of the 
administration fee.   

Vehicle Conditions
12. Unless an exemption has been granted by the Licensing Authority, the Driver shall ensure that the 

licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority shall be permanently affixed to the rear of the vehicle 
and be legible at all times.  In the event that a licence plate is lost, stolen or damaged, the Driver shall
obtain a replacement plate from the Licensing Authority.  The Driver shall not use the vehicle for 
private hire use, until a replacement plate is secured to the vehicle.  

13. Where an exemption is granted by the Licensing Authority, the Proprietor shall ensure that the letter of 
exemption and licence plate are carried in the vehicle at all times.  

14. The Proprietor shall at all times, display a notice inside the vehicle, specifying the licence number of 
the vehicle and a contact for complaints.

15. The Proprietor shall not alter the design, condition, engine size or appearance of the vehicle without 
first obtaining the approval of the Licensing Authority.  

16. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall in respect of the vehicle:

a. provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with the Driver;

b. cause the roof or cover of the vehicle to be watertight;

c. provide adequate windows and means of opening and closing them;

d. cause the seats to be properly cushioned and covered;

e. cause the floor to be covered with a carpet, mat or other suitable covering;

f. ensure that the vehicle, including all bodywork, upholstery and fittings is at all times 
roadworthy, safe and serviceable and in a clean condition, subject to prevailing road 
conditions;

g. carry in the vehicle, a serviceable spare wheel or manufacturer alternative;

h. carry in the vehicle a first aid kit suitable for personal use;

i. provide a suitable fire extinguisher of a type approved by the Licensing Authority that should 
be carried in such a position as to be available for use at all times (see Informative below).

j. provide adequate means of carrying and securing luggage;

k. place adequate “No Smoking” signage in the vehicle (one at each passenger window or other 
prominent location but so as not to adversely impair the Driver’s visibility), so as to be visible to 
all passengers. 

17. The Proprietor shall not affix any kind of illuminated roof sign or other word(s) such as cab, taxi, ‘for 
hire’, to a vehicle, which might give the impression that the vehicle is a hackney carriage. 

18. The Driver shall not cause or permit a vehicle to use hackney carriage designated areas i.e. ranks or 
bus lanes for waiting or setting down passengers or park a private hire vehicle in an area such as in 
precinct car parks, near exits to shops, adjacent to taxi ranks, near ranks outside clubs or bars etc. 
which might give the impression that the vehicle is standing or plying for hire.  

19. The Proprietor shall not display any signs and/or advertisements on a vehicle unless the following 
conditions are complied with:

a) A notice consisting of lettering not exceeding 50mm in height, with a total depth not exceeding 
100mm, indicating the Operator and/or telephone number and displayed in the upper portion of 
the rear windscreen, is permitted.  An exception will be made in the sizing of a notice and 
lettering for rear screens, where the notice is in the form of a transparency;



Page 3 of 3

b) A notice displayed on the front doors only, indicating the Operator and/or telephone number and 
‘Pre-Booked’ only notice is permitted;  

c) If any sign or advertisement designed to comply with (a) and (b) above is capable of being 
illuminated, such sign or advertisement shall only be illuminated when the vehicle is stationary 
and whilst the Driver is waiting for the passenger(s) to be carried in pursuance of a prior 
arrangement.

NOTE: This licence may be revoked, suspended or not renewed in accordance with Sections 60 and 68 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 for a breach(es) of licence conditions or on 
accumulation of penalty points, under the Penalty Points Scheme.

INFORMATIVE

* In the event of fire:

∑ Switch off engine
∑ Release bonnet – Do Not Open
∑ Get everyone out of the vehicle
∑ Get far away from the vehicle and stay away, keeping onlookers and others away
∑ Dial 999 and call the fire and rescue service
∑ Warn oncoming traffic, if safe to do so.

If and only if you believe it is safe to do so, attempt to put out the fire with a dry powder or foam extinguisher. 
If the fire is in the engine compartment, do not open the bonnet but aim the extinguisher through the radiator 
grille or under the edge of the bonnet. Use with caution and if in doubt, don’t attempt to tackle the fire.

Never use water on an engine fire – it can short out wiring and spread burning petrol with disastrous effect.



APPENDIX D

STRETCH LIMOUSINE - VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 – SECTION 47

Page 1 of 3

General Conditions

1. The Proprietor shall ensure that a Stretch Limousine used for private hire, is licensed by the Licensing 
Authority and that any person who drives the Proprietor’s Stretch Limousine, is licensed by the same 
Licensing Authority as a private hire driver.

2. A Proprietor who has more than one Stretch Limousine, shall submit a monthly schedule to the 
Licensing Authority, detailing for each vehicle, the licence plate number (issued by the Licensing 
Authority), name and address of lessee/hirer, if applicable, dates of any lease/hire agreement and 
confirmation that the Stretch Limousine is in the Driver or Proprietor’s possession at all times when not 
in use for private hire. All records shall be retained for a minimum period of 12 months by the 
Proprietor.

3. The Proprietor shall within 72 hours of being requested by the Licensing Authority, or at an agreed 
appointed time, present the documents listed below for inspection by the Authorised Officer, at the 
Civic Centre Dartford.

∑ the Basic IVA Certificate, VC5, Road Tax, MoT, Insurance; and/or
∑ [if playing music or videos], licences relating to the Performing Rights Society/Video Performance 

Ltd/Phonographic Performance Ltd; and/or
∑ [If supplying alcohol for consumption in the vehicle] the licence relating to the sale and supply of 

alcohol;

4. If the Proprietor transfers his/her interest in a Stretch Limousine to another person, he/she shall within 14 
days of the transfer, make an appointment with the Licensing Authority to complete the required 
documentation to transfer the vehicle to the other person.

5. The Proprietor shall, during the term of the licence, ensure compliance with the Vehicle Excise & 
Registration Act 1994 (S29) by holding, the appropriate tax for the class of vehicle.

6. For the duration of the licence, the Proprietor shall clearly display in the Stretch Limousine, a current 
certificate of insurance and allow any passenger to see such insurance on request.  Upon expiry of the 
insurance, the Proprietor shall within 7 days of expiry, produce to the Licensing Authority, a certificate or 
other document indicating that the insurance cover has been renewed for the purpose of Part VI of the 
Road Traffic Act 1988 and includes appropriate private hire cover.

7. The Proprietor shall produce the vehicle for inspection with a valid MoT certificate at the initial and renewal 
appointments and at 6 month intervals or at such other times as may be requested by the Licensing 
Authority.  The MoT shall be less than 15 days old on the date of the inspection appointment.

8. As soon as reasonably practicable, but within 72 hours at the latest, the Proprietor or Driver shall report in 
writing to the Licensing Authority, any accident or incident which materially affects the safety, performance 
or appearance of a Stretch Limousine or the comfort or convenience of passengers. For any damage which 
affects or is likely to affect the safety and/or performance of the vehicle, the Licensing Authority may require 
an inspection certificate issued by an independent qualified vehicle mechanic or equivalent, confirming 
completion of repairs.  Until such certificate is submitted and the Authorised Officer has inspected the 
Stretch Limousine, the Proprietor and/or Driver shall not use the Stretch Limousine for private hire.

9. The Proprietor shall:

a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 

b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to these conditions and shall 
provide all information reasonably required in the discharge of the Authorised Officer’s duties.

10. The Proprietor shall within 7 days of any change of address, arrange an appointment with the Licensing 
Authority to complete the change of address notification form and make payment of the administration fee.

Vehicle Conditions

11. Unless an exemption has been granted by the Licensing Authority, the Driver shall ensure that the licence 
plate issued by the Licensing Authority shall be given an exemption to permanently affixed to the rear of the 
Stretch Limousine however the licence plate must be carried at all times in the vehicle and be produced on 
request by an authorised officer.  In the event that a licence plate is lost, stolen or damaged, the Driver shall 



Page 2 of 3

obtain a replacement plate from the Licensing Authority.  The Driver shall not use the Stretch Limousine for 
private hire use, until a replacement plate is obtained and carried in the vehicle.

12. Where an exemption is granted by the Licensing Authority, the Proprietor shall ensure that the letter of 
exemption and licence plate are carried in the vehicle at all times.  

13. The Proprietor shall at all times, display a notice inside the Stretch Limousine, specifying the licence 
number of the vehicle and a contact for complaints.

14. The Proprietor shall not alter the design, condition, engine size or appearance of the Stretch Limousine 
without first obtaining the approval of the Licensing Authority.  

15. The Proprietor and/or Driver shall in respect of the Stretch Limousine:

a. provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with the Driver;

b. cause the roof or cover of the vehicle to be watertight;

c. provide adequate windows and means of opening and closing them;

d. cause the seats to be properly cushioned and covered;

e. cause the floor to be covered with a carpet, mat or other suitable covering;

f. ensure that the vehicle, including all bodywork, upholstery and fittings is at all times roadworthy, safe 
and serviceable and in a clean condition, subject to prevailing road conditions;

g. carry in the vehicle, a serviceable spare wheel or manufacturer alternative;

h. carry in the vehicle a first aid kit suitable for personal use;

i. provide adequate means of carrying and securing luggage;

j. provide a suitable fire extinguisher of a type approved by the Licensing Authority that should be 
carried in such a position as to be available for use at all times (see Informative below).

k. place adequate “No Smoking” signage in the vehicle (one at each passenger window or other prominent 
location but so as not to adversely impair the Driver’s visibility), so as to be visible to all passengers;

l. cause the glass in the driver compartment to conform to the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use 
Regulations) 1986 (as amended). 

16. The Proprietor shall not affix any kind of illuminated roof sign or other word(s) such as cab, taxi, ‘for hire’, to 
a Stretch Limousine, which might give the impression that the vehicle is a hackney carriage.

17. The Driver shall not cause or permit a Stretch Limousine to use hackney carriage designated areas i.e.
ranks or bus lanes for waiting or setting down passengers or park a Stretch Limousine in an area such as in
precinct car parks, near exits to shops, adjacent to taxi ranks, near ranks outside clubs or bars etc. which 
might give the impression that the vehicle is standing or plying for hire.

18. The Proprietor shall not display any signs and/or advertisements on a Stretch Limousine, unless the 
following conditions are complied with:

a) A notice consisting of lettering not exceeding 50mm in height, with a total depth not exceeding 100mm,
indicating the Operator and/or telephone number and displayed in the upper portion of the rear 
windscreen, is permitted. An exception will be made in the sizing of a notice and lettering for rear 
screens, where the notice is in the form of a transparency;

b) A notice displayed on the front doors only, indicating the Operator and/or telephone number and ‘Pre-
Booked’ only notice is permitted;

c) A notice by way of advertisement, stating that the vehicle is only licensed to carry 8 passengers;

and

d) If any sign or advertisement designed to comply with (a) to (c) above is capable of being illuminated, 
such sign or advertisement shall only be illuminated when the vehicle is stationary and whilst the 
Driver is waiting for the passenger(s) to be carried in pursuance of a prior arrangement;

NOTE: This licence may be revoked, suspended or not renewed in accordance with Sections 60 and 68 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 for a breach(es) of licence conditions or on accumulation 
of penalty points, under the Penalty Points Scheme.



Page 3 of 3

INFORMATIVE

* In the event of fire:

∑ Switch off engine
∑ Release bonnet – Do Not Open
∑ Get everyone out of the vehicle
∑ Get far away from the vehicle and stay away, keeping onlookers and others away
∑ Dial 999 and call the fire and rescue service
∑ Warn oncoming traffic, if safe to do so.

If and only if you believe it is safe to do so, attempt to put out the fire with a dry powder or foam extinguisher. 
If the fire is in the engine compartment, do not open the bonnet but aim the extinguisher through the radiator 
grille or under the edge of the bonnet. Use with caution and if in doubt, don’t attempt to tackle the fire.

Never use water on an engine fire – it can short out wiring and spread burning petrol with disastrous effect.



APPENDIX E

HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER - STANDARDS OF SERVICE

Page 1 of 3

Without prejudice to the Hackney Carriage Byelaws made by The Dartford Borough 
Council, the following shall apply:

1. The Driver shall behave and drive in a civil and orderly manner and shall take 
reasonable precautions to ensure the safety and comfort of persons conveyed in or 
alighting from the vehicle.

2. Unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, the Driver shall punctually 
attend with the vehicle, at the appointed time and place.

3. The Driver shall not refuse any fare or fail to complete the journey to the contracted 
address without reasonable cause. Reasonable cause includes aggressive 
behaviour, drunkenness and contagious disease.  

4. The Driver shall not convey any other person in the vehicle without the hirer’s 
consent.

5. The Driver shall immediately report to the Licensing Authority, any incident where a 
passenger and/or Driver is involved in an altercation with a third party, that results in 
physical injury to the Driver and/or passenger or where an altercation is perceived to 
be discriminatory in any way.

6. The Driver shall not cause the fare recorded on the taximeter to be cancelled or 
concealed until the hirer has had reasonable opportunity of examining it and 
observing the fare to be paid.

7. Subject to any adjustments to account for an extended journey or additional time, 
the Driver shall not demand from the hirer, a fare in excess of any fare tariff fixed by 
the Licensing Authority (either current or previous) or a fare in excess of that shown 
on the taximeter. 

8. The Driver shall not carry animals in the hackney carriage at any time, except 
assistance dogs1.  

9. The Driver shall carry assistance dogs without extra charge unless an exemption 
under S171 of the Equality Act 2010 has been granted by the Licensing Authority to 
carry dogs and the exemption certificate is clearly displayed in the hackney carriage.

10. The Driver shall on request, provide a receipt for the fare charged. 

11. The Driver shall within 7 days of being convicted for a criminal offence and/or a 
driving conviction, disclose to the Licensing Authority, in writing, details of any 
convictions imposed on him/her during the term of this licence.

1 As defined in section 173(1) of the Equality Act 2010



Page 2 of 3

12. The Driver shall (when working), wear on his/her person, a badge issued to him/her 
by the Licensing Authority, in such a position and manner as to be plainly and 
distinctly visible.

13. The Driver shall upon expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or suspension 
of this licence, forthwith return to the Licensing Authority, his/her driver’s badge.

14. The Driver shall at all times maintain the vehicle in a clean condition both externally 
and internally.

15. The Proprietor or Driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring or as 
soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for any property which 
may have been accidentally left therein and comply with the provisions referred to in 
the Found Property Procedure (APPENDIX Q). 

16. The Driver shall:

a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 
b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to 

these conditions and shall provide all information reasonably required in the 
discharge of the Authorised Officer’s duties.

17. The Driver shall maintain a clean and tidy appearance in accordance with the 
Licensing Authority’s Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers.

18. The Driver shall ensure that the licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority 
shall be permanently affixed to the rear of the hackney carriage and be legible at 
all times.  In the event that a licence plate is lost, stolen or damaged, the Driver 
shall obtain a replacement plate from the Licensing Authority.  The Driver shall not 
use the hackney carriage to ply for hire, until a replacement plate is secured to the 
vehicle.  

19. When plying for hire, the Driver shall occupy the first position on a hackney 
carriage stand and remain with the vehicle.

20 Subject to any directions given by the hirer, the Driver shall proceed to the
destination using the shortest route available. 

21. The Driver shall ensure the wheelchair ramps, retaining straps or clamps are carried 
in the vehicle at all times. The retaining straps or clamps shall be used at all times to 
secure the hirer and wheelchair.

22. The Driver shall not refuse a contract of hire for a wheelchair user or refuse 
assistance unless a certificate of exemption under S166 of the Equality Act 2010 is 
clearly displayed in the hackney carriage and no extra charge shall be applied for 
carriage or assistance.

Note: A breach of the above standards may result in advice or warnings and/or the 
issue of penalty points. Repeated breaches may lead to more serious 



Page 3 of 3

consequences including, if necessary, suspension, revocation of, or refusal by the 
Licensing Authority, to renew Licences and call into question the fitness of the 
Licence Holder to hold a Licence



APPENDIX F

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER - LICENCE CONDITIONS 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 - SECTION 51

Page 1 of 3

1. The Driver shall behave and drive in a civil and orderly manner and shall take 
reasonable precautions to ensure the safety and comfort of persons conveyed in or 
alighting from the vehicle.

2. Unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, the Driver shall punctually 
attend with the vehicle, at the appointed time and place.

3. The Driver shall:

(a) convey a reasonable amount of luggage;
(b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading luggage;
(c) afford reasonable assistance in removing luggage to or from the entrance 

of any building, station or place at which he/she may pick up or set down 
passengers.

4. The Driver shall not refuse any fare or fail to complete the journey to the contracted 
address without reasonable cause, which includes aggressive behaviour, 
drunkenness and contagious disease. The Driver shall log with the Operator, any 
fare that is refused and the reason(s) for refusal.

5. The Driver shall not convey more passengers than the private hire vehicle licence 
permits (babes in arms count towards this total).

6. The Driver shall not convey any other person in the vehicle without the hirer’s 
consent.

7. The Driver shall immediately report to the Licensing Authority, any incident where a 
passenger and/or Driver is involved in an altercation with a third party, that results in 
physical injury to the Driver and/or passenger or where an altercation is perceived to 
be discriminatory in any way.

8. If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, the Driver shall not cause the fare recorded
on the taximeter to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had reasonable 
opportunity of examining the taximeter and observing the fare to be paid.

9. The Driver shall not demand from the hirer, a fare in excess of any fare tariff agreed 
between the hirer and the Operator, or where a taximeter is fitted to the vehicle, a 
fare in excess of that shown on the taximeter. 

10. The Driver shall not carry animals in the vehicle at any time, except assistance 
dogs1.  

1 As defined in section 173(1) of the Equality Act 2010



Page 2 of 3

11. The Driver shall carry assistance dogs without extra charge unless an exemption 
under S171 of the Equality Act 2010 has been granted by the Licensing Authority to 
carry dogs and the exemption certificate is clearly displayed in the vehicle.

12. The Driver shall on request, provide a receipt for the fare charged. 

13. During the term of this licence, the Driver shall within 7 days of being convicted for a 
criminal offence and/or a driving conviction, disclose to the Licensing Authority, in 
writing, details of any convictions.

14. The Driver shall (whilst working), wear on his/her person, a badge issued to him/her 
by the Licensing Authority, in such a position and manner as to be plainly and 
distinctly visible.

15. The Driver shall upon expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or suspension 
of this licence, forthwith return to the Licensing Authority, his/her driver’s badge.

16. The Proprietor or Driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring or as 
soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any property which 
may have been accidentally left therein. 

17. If any property is accidentally left in the vehicle or if any property is handed to 
the Proprietor or Driver by any person who may have been conveyed in the 
vehicle which property the Proprietor or Driver believes to be related to a 
crime, poses a direct threat to the public, or contains personal details relating 
to the person conveyed, the Proprietor or Driver shall; 

∑ carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the Borough of 
Dartford and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on 
his giving a receipt for it; and

∑ comply with the Found Property Procedure (APPENDIX Q).

18. The Driver shall at all times, maintain the vehicle in a clean condition, both externally 
and internally.

19. The Driver shall forthwith make an appointment to complete the change of address 
notification form and make payment of the administration fee.  New contact numbers 
should be notified to the Licensing Authority immediately a new number is obtained.

20. The Driver shall:
a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 
b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to 

these conditions and shall provide all information reasonably required in the 
discharge of the Authorised Officer’s duties.

21. The Driver shall maintain a clean and tidy appearance in accordance with the 
Licensing Authority’s Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers.



Page 3 of 3

22. The Driver shall ensure that the licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority shall 
be permanently affixed to the rear of the hackney carriage and be legible at all 
times.  In the event that a licence plate is lost, stolen or damaged, the Driver shall 
obtain a replacement plate from the Licensing Authority.  The Driver shall not use 
the hackney carriage to ply for hire, until a replacement plate is secured to the 
vehicle.  

Wheelchair accessible vehicles

23. The Driver of a wheelchair accessible vehicle, shall ensure that wheelchair ramps, 
straps or clamps are carried in the vehicle at all times.  The retaining straps or 
clamps are to be used at all times, to secure the hirer and wheelchair.  

24. The Driver shall not refuse a contract of hire for a wheelchair user or refuse 
assistance unless a certificate of exemption under S166 of the Equality Act 2010 is 
clearly displayed in the vehicle and no extra charge shall be applied for carriage or 
assistance.

Note: This licence may be suspended, revoked or not renewed in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act, 1976 for a breach(es) of licence conditions or on accumulation of penalty 
points, under the Penalty Points Scheme.



APPENDIX G

STRETCH LIMOUSINE DRIVER - LICENCE CONDITIONS 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 - SECTION 51

Page 1 of 3

1. The Driver shall behave and drive in a civil and orderly manner and shall take 
reasonable precautions to ensure the safety and comfort of persons conveyed in or 
alighting from the vehicle.

2. Unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, the Driver shall punctually 
attend with the vehicle, at the appointed time and place.

3. The Driver shall:
(a) convey a reasonable amount of luggage;
(b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading luggage;
(c) afford reasonable assistance in removing luggage to or from the entrance 

of any building, station or place at which he/she may pick up or set down 
passengers.

4. The Driver shall not refuse any fare or fail to complete the journey to the contracted 
address without reasonable cause, which includes aggressive behaviour, 
drunkenness and contagious disease. The Driver shall log with the Operator, any 
fare that is refused and the reason(s) for refusal.

5. The Driver shall not convey more passengers than the private hire vehicle licence 
permits (babes in arms count towards this total).

6. The Driver shall not convey any other person in the vehicle without the hirer’s 
consent.

7. The Driver shall immediately report to the Licensing Authority, any incident where a 
passenger and/or Driver is involved in an altercation with a third party, that results in 
physical injury to the Driver and/or passenger or where an altercation is perceived to 
be discriminatory in any way.

8. If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter, the Driver shall not cause the fare recorded 
on the taximeter to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer has had reasonable 
opportunity of examining the taximeter and observing the fare to be paid.

9. The Driver shall not demand from the hirer, a fare in excess of any fare tariff agreed 
between the hirer and the Operator, or where a taximeter is fitted to the vehicle, a 
fare in excess of that shown on the taximeter. 

10. The Driver shall not carry animals in the vehicle at any time, except assistance 
dogs1.  

11. The Driver shall carry assistance dogs without extra charge unless an exemption 
under S171 of the Equality Act 2010 has been granted by the Licensing Authority to 
carry dogs and the exemption certificate is clearly displayed in the vehicle.

1 As defined in section 173(1) of the Equality Act 2010



Page 2 of 3

12. The Driver shall on request, provide a receipt for the fare charged. 

13. During the term of this licence, the Driver shall within 7 days of being convicted for a 
criminal offence and/or a driving conviction, disclose to the Licensing Authority, in 
writing, details of any convictions.

14. The Driver shall (whilst working), wear on his/her person, a badge issued to him/her 
by the Licensing Authority, in such a position and manner as to be plainly and 
distinctly visible.

15. The Driver shall upon expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or suspension 
of this licence, forthwith return to the Licensing Authority, his/her driver’s badge.

18. The proprietor or driver of a Stretch Limousine shall immediately after the 
termination of any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the 
carriage for any property which may have been accidentally left therein. 

19. If any property is accidentally left in the vehicle or if any property is handed to 
Driver by any person who may have been conveyed in the vehicle which 
property the Driver believes to be related to a crime, poses a direct threat to 
the public, or contains personal details relating to the person conveyed, the 
Driver shall; 

∑ carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the Borough of 
Dartford and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on 
his giving a receipt for it; and

∑ comply with the Found Property Procedure (APPENDIX Q).

20. The Driver shall at all times, maintain the vehicle in a clean condition, both externally 
and internally.

21. The Driver shall forthwith notify the Licensing Authority, in writing, of any change of 
address and telephone number.

22. The Driver shall:
a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 
b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to 

these conditions and shall provide all information reasonably required in the 
discharge of the Authorised Officer’s duties.

23. The Driver shall maintain a clean and tidy appearance in accordance with the 
Licensing Authority’s Code of Good Conduct for Licensed Drivers.

24. Unless an exemption has been granted by the Licensing Authority, the Driver shall 
ensure that the licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority shall be permanently 
affixed to the rear of the vehicle and be legible at all times.  In the event that a 
licence plate is lost, stolen or damaged, the Driver shall obtain a replacement plate 
from the Licensing Authority.  The Driver shall not use the vehicle for private hire 
use, until a replacement plate is secured to the vehicle.  



Page 3 of 3

25. Where an exemption is granted by the Licensing Authority, the Proprietor shall 
ensure that the letter of exemption and licence plate are carried in the vehicle at all 
times.  

26. The Proprietor shall at all times, display a notice inside the vehicle, specifying the 
licence number of the vehicle and a contact for complaints.

27. The Driver shall not refuse a contract of hire for a wheelchair user or refuse 
assistance unless a certificate of exemption under S166 of the Equality Act 2010 is 
clearly displayed in the vehicle and no extra charge shall be applied for carriage or 
assistance.

28. The Driver shall not carry passengers in the driver’s compartment of a left - hand 
drive Stretch Limousine.

29. The Driver shall not cause or permit the supply of alcohol in the Stretch Limousine, 
unless there is force, an appropriate alcohol licence under the Licensing Act 2003. 

30. The Driver shall not cause or permit children under the age of 16 years to be carried
in the Stretch Limousine, unless accompanied by an adult.

Note: This licence may be suspended, revoked or not renewed in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act, 1976 for a breach(es) of licence conditions or on accumulation of penalty 
points, under the Penalty Points Scheme.



APPENDIX H 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS – LICENCE CONDITIONS

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

Page 1 of 3

Operator General Conditions

1. The Operator shall ensure that he/she has obtained from the Licensing Authority, an
Operator's licence prior to accepting any private hire vehicle bookings.

2. The Operator shall ensure that all vehicles and drivers used for the purposes of private 
hire are licensed by the same Licensing Authority.

3. The Operator shall ensure that its vehicles are insured for private hire use.

4. Where the Operating Premises has a public waiting/booking area, the Operator shall 
ensure that a copy of the Operator’s licence and public liability insurance are prominently 
displayed, so as to be visible to the public at all times.

5. On request of the hirer, the Operator shall provide details of the fare charged.

6. The Operator shall establish a complaints procedure which shall include:

a. the logging of all complaints and ensuring that complaints’ logs include the driver's 
name, vehicle licence number, nature of the complaint, details of complainant and 
action taken;

b. the right of the complainant to notify the Licensing Authority directly of the complaint;
c. retention of complaints’ records for a period of twelve months from the date of the 

complaint. 

7. In the event that an Operator dismisses a driver for unsatisfactory conduct, details of the 
driver and reason for dismissal shall be notified to the Licensing Authority within seven 
days of the dismissal.  Records relating to dismissals shall be retained by the Operator 
for a period of 12 months from the date of dismissal. 

8. The Operator shall, prior to any change of residential and/or business address, notify the 
Licensing Authority in writing, of the change.

9. The Operator shall within 7 days of being convicted of an offence, disclose to the 
Licensing Authority, the nature of the conviction.  Disclosures under this condition 
include convictions of directors, company secretaries or partners where the Operator is 
in business as a company or partnership.

10. The Operator shall establish a procedure for dealing with passengers' lost property 
which shall include evidencing that attempts have been made to return the property to 
the owner, a system for recording lost property, date delivered to the nearest police 
station (if applicable) and safe place for storage of lost property.  Records of lost 
property shall be retained for twelve months. The Operator shall have regard to the 
Licensing Authority’s ‘Found Property Procedure’ at APPENDIX Q.

11. The Operator shall:
a. not obstruct an Authorised Officer in the performance of his/her duties; 
b. comply with all instructions or directions of the Authorised Officer in relation to these 

conditions and shall provide all information reasonably required in the discharge of 
the Authorised Officer’s duties.



APPENDIX H 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS – LICENCE CONDITIONS

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

Page 2 of 3

Job Records 

12. The Operator shall, for a period of 12 months (from the date of the contract for hire), 
retain the following records, either electronically or in manuscript e.g. in a ledger/book 
form, the pages of which shall be numbered consecutively:

a. The time and date of the booking; 
b. The name of the hirer; 
c. How the booking was made (i.e. by telephone, personal call, etc.);
d. If sub-contracted details of Licensed Operator taking the booking
e. If a received sub-contracted booking details of original Licensed Operator
f. The time of pick-up;
g. The point of pick-up; 
h. The destination; 
i. The time at which a driver was allocated for the booking;
j. The registration number or identity of the vehicle allocated for the booking; 
k. Identity of the driver;  
l. Date of journey where different from (a);
m. Fare refused logs;
n. Remarks made (if any) (i.e. fare quoted, including details of any HC Vehicle and HC 

Driver subcontract).

Vehicle Records

13. The Operator shall, for a period of 12 months, retain for each vehicle, a copy of the 
private hire vehicle licence and information comprising:

a. manufacturer, model and colour; 
b. registration number;
c. registered keeper (e.g. name and address or registration document);
d. date when vehicle became available to the Operator;
e. copy of current valid certificate of insurance;
f. date the vehicle ceased to be available to the Operator.

Driver Records

14. The Operator shall, for a period of 12 months, retain for each driver, a copy of the private 
hire vehicle driver’s licence and information comprising:

a. name;
b. date of birth;
c. address (or normal place of residence);
d. date the driver became available to the Operator;
e. national insurance number;
f. driving licence number and category of vehicle which the driver is eligible to drive;
g. date the driver ceased to be available to the Operator;
h. Driver dismissal records;
i. Certificate of Good Conduct and references.

Standards of service

15. The Operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable private hire service to 
members of the public at all times and shall in particular: 



APPENDIX H 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS – LICENCE CONDITIONS

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

Page 3 of 3

a. ensure that the private hire vehicle attends punctually at the appointed time and 
place, unless there is reasonable cause for delay;

b. keep the Operating Premises and public waiting area clean and safe, ventilated 
and adequately lit;

c. ensure that any telephone facilities and/or radio equipment are maintained in a 
sound condition and that any defects are repaired promptly;

d. obtain public liability insurance if Operating Premises is open to the public.

16. The Operator shall indicate clearly at the Operating Premises and/or in any advertising 
or promotion of his/her private hire services, that the service provided is in respect of 
pre-booked journeys only.

17. The Operator shall notify the Licensing Authority of any material change in 
circumstances which may affect the Operator’s licence.  In particular, the Operator shall
within seven days of the following, notify the Licensing Authority, in writing of:

i. any change in the nature of the business carried on by him/her; or
ii. any changes affecting the limited company e.g. change of director or company 

secretary;
iii. any changes affecting a limited partnership or unregistered business/partnership 

e.g. change of partners;
iv. any other change in the information provided by the Operator to the Licensing 

Authority, at the time of applying for the Operator’s licence.

Informative:
∑ To 'operate' is to make provision in the course of business for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire 

vehicle.  
∑ An Operator’s licence is granted to an individual (sole trader), limited company, liability partnership or unregistered 

business or partnership.
∑ An Operator’s licence cannot be sold.
∑ An Operator’s licence is only transferable where the Licensing Authority has issued a direction that permits another 

individual to be named on the Operator’s licence e.g. on death of an Operator during the term of the licence or where the 
Operator is deemed to lack the capacity (within the meaning of the Mental Capacity Act 2005) to carry on the activities 
covered by the Operator’s licence.  

∑ An Operator’s licence does not grant planning permission for the Operating Premises and is not dependent on the 
existence of a planning permission. The onus is on the Operator to establish whether his/her Operating Premises requires 
planning permission and to comply with all relevant planning legislation.  Failure to do so could result in the local planning 
authority taking enforcement action and closure of the Operating Premises. 

∑ If CCTV is provided in a vehicle and/or Operating Premises, the onus is placed on the Operator to comply with the Data 
Protection Act 1998 and any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner and to register as a Data Controller, with 
the Information Commissioner. 

NOTE: This licence may be revoked, suspended or not renewed in accordance with Section 62 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 for a breach(es) of licence 
conditions or on accumulation of penalty points, under the Penalty Points Scheme.



APPENDIX I

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE APPLICATION PROCEDURES

Page 1 of 5

An appointment must be made with the Vehicle Licensing Officer during office hours, 
for all licence applications.

1. Vehicles

1.1. New licences and renewal licences

1.1.1 An applicant for a vehicle licence, will need to fully complete the relevant application 
form, pay the non-refundable fee at the time of the application and present the 
appropriate documentation.

Application Forms
o New application for hackney carriage licence
o Renewal application for hackney carriage licence
o New application for private hire vehicle licence
o Renewal application for private hire vehicle licence

Documentation to be produced with the completed and signed application form:

Only fully completed applications accompanied by relevant supporting documents
and the fee will be considered. Photocopies will be taken of all original documents 
and originals returned to the applicant.

o Vehicle Registration Document issued by the DVLA, or proof of ownership;
o M1 Certificate or M1 Low Volume certificate (Hackney & PH WAV only);
o Insurance Certificate confirming the vehicle is covered for ‘Hire and Reward’ or 

Private Hire – if a cover note is provided, licence holders will be required to 
produce further insurance certificates on or before the expiry of the cover note;

o MOT certificate of not more than 14 days old at the date of the application.

1.1.2 Renewal applications must be made at least 7 days prior to the expiry of the licence, 
to provide adequate time for the application

1.1.3 Subject to 1.1.4 below, once the Licence has expired it can no longer be renewed. 
Therefore a new application will have to be submitted and all 'new vehicle criteria 
(APPENDIX A) will have to be met. 

1.1.4 The exception to 1.1.3 above is when the vehicle is not roadworthy at the time of 
renewal and the Licensing Authority has been notified, in writing, at least 7 days prior 
to expiry and an exceptional circumstances number has been issued. 

1.1.5 The successful completion of this application procedure will be indicated by the issue 
of a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle licence together with the necessary plate 
for the vehicle. The vehicle must not be used for hire or reward until the plate is 
affixed to the vehicle.  



APPENDIX I

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE APPLICATION PROCEDURES

Page 2 of 5

1.2. Transfer of licence from an existing licensed vehicle to a temporary 
replacement vehicle.

1.2.1 If, during the term of the vehicle licence, it becomes necessary to temporarily replace 
the existing vehicle with another, all of the supporting documents as detailed above 
must be submitted. A non-refundable administration fee will be charged for this 
process, which takes into account the supply of a new vehicle plate and licence. 

1.3. Transfer of vehicle licence to a new proprietor 

1.3.1 The appropriate application form and insurance certificate must be presented to the 
Licensing Authority to transfer the vehicle to a new proprietor.  A 6 month MoT for the 
vehicle, if not presented by the previous proprietor, may be also be required (this is 
the only licence that may be transferred). 

1.3.2 A non- refundable administration fee will be payable at the time of the application.

2. Drivers  

2.1. Pre application Stage:

Knowledge Test

2.1.1 Prior to sitting the ‘Knowledge Test’, a new applicant for a hackney carriage or private 
hire driver’s licence must submit proof of oral competency in the English language, by 
means of a recognised certificate or by undertaking the Licensing Authority’s 
recognised English test.

2.1.2 All new applicants for a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence, must pass 
the appropriate ‘Knowledge Test’ as detailed in APPENDIX J, before an application 
for a driver’s licence will be processed.  The ‘Knowledge Test’ is more 
comprehensive for a hackney carriage driver’s licence, to reflect that there is no 
operator to assist the driver with the route.  

2.1.3 The ‘Knowledge Test’ consists of a number of modules. These modules are:
∑ Numeracy
∑ Routes
∑ Safeguarding
∑ Prevent (Counter Terrorism)
∑ Legislation/Policy

2.1.4 If the ‘Knowledge Test’ is passed, an applicant has 12 months in which to apply for a 
driver’s licence.  Failure to make the application within this 12 month period, will 
result in the applicant having to re-sit the ‘Knowledge Test’. 

2.1.5 A full driving licence must have been held for at least 12 months prior to the date of 
the application (see section 2.2.1 below).



APPENDIX I

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE APPLICATION PROCEDURES

Page 3 of 5

2.2. New licences and renewal licences

Renewal driver licence applications must be made at least 2 months prior to 
the expiry of the licence, where the medical and/or DBS have the same expiry 
date to provide adequate time for DBS/Disclosure Scotland/DVLA checks to be 
made and returned and for assessment of the application.  Where the licence 
expiry is not in sync with the medical/DBS an appointment must be made at 
least 7 days prior to expiry of the licence.   

2.2.1 An applicant for a driver’s licence will need to fully complete the relevant application 
form, pay the non-refundable fee at the time of application and present the 
appropriate documentation as listed below.

Application Forms
o New application for hackney carriage driver’s licence
o Renewal application for hackney carriage driver’s licence
o New application for private hire driver’s licence
o Renewal application for private hire driver’s licence

Documentation to be produced with the completed and signed application form

Only fully completed applications accompanied by relevant supporting documents 
and fee will be considered. Copies will be taken of all original documents and 
originals returned to the applicant.

UK applicant - full GB driving licence must have been held for at least 12 months (or 
evidence of 12 months in combination with an EU licence).  If it is a photo-card 
licence..

European Economic Area (EEA) applicant – a full and valid ‘Community [driving] 
licence’, counts towards the 12 month qualification period referred to above.

Northern Ireland applicant – a full and valid driving licence counts towards the 12 
month qualification period referred to above.

Gibraltar, British Forces Germany, a 'designated country1', Jersey, Guernsey, 
Isle of Man applicant – a full and valid driving licence counts towards the twelve 12 
month qualification period referred to above, but please note that the Licensing 
Authority will not consider an application for a driver’s licence, unless the applicant 
has exchanged their issuing country’s driving licence for a full ordinary GB driving 
licence. 

1
Andorra, Australia, Barbados, British Virgin Islands, Canada, Faroe Islands, Falkland Islands, Gibraltar, Hong Kong, Japan, 

Monaco, New Zealand, Republic of Korea, Singapore, South Africa, Switzerland, Zimbabwe



APPENDIX I

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE APPLICATION PROCEDURES

Page 4 of 5

Applicants from other countries (not listed above), must have held a full ordinary 
GB driving licence for at least twelve 12 months preceding the date of the application 
for a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence.

Applicants from non UK/EEA & NI nationals will be required to give details of any 
residency outside the UK.

All applicants must provide evidence of the “Right to Work” in the UK, via either a 
valid passport, birth certificate or have a work visa or alternative document.  
Applicants must also provide further evidence that they are permitted to work in the 
UK for the duration of the licence period, should the original “right to work" document 
be time limited, this documentation must be produced at least 7 days before the 
expiry of the current Right to Work documentation. 

A medical certificate, obtained from the driver’s own GP or someone with access to 
his/her medical records indicating that the applicant is physically fit and able to fulfil 
the role, to DVLA Vocational Group 2 Standards. A medical report is required for all 
new applications and thereafter, on a three year basis.

An enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check is required for all new 
applications and thereafter, on a three year basis. All foreign national applicants who 
have resided in the UK for less than 5 years, must obtain a Certificate of Good 
Conduct from their relevant embassy or consulate, at the applicant’s expense, 
authenticated, translated and sealed by the embassy or consulate prior to being 
licensed and thereafter, an enhanced DBS check must be undertaken 3 years from 
the first licence application date.  

On first application, two independent written references will be required from 
individuals or organisations that have known the applicant for a period of at least 2 
years. Referees cannot be family members. 

Pass certificates of the Licensing Authorities approved Safeguarding, Prevent 
(Counter Terrorism) and Legislation courses.  

2.2.2 On a successful application, applicants will be issued with a paper licence and a 
driver’s badge, which remain the property of the Licensing Authority and which must 
be surrendered when the driver relinquishes the licence, does not renew or is 
requested to do so.

Should information be received that results in the licence holder not being 
considered “a fit and proper person”, then the Licensing Authority may 
suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence.



APPENDIX I

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE APPLICATION PROCEDURES

Page 5 of 5

3. Operator’s Licence

An applicant for an operator’s licence, will need to fully complete an application form, 
pay the non-refundable fee at the time of application and present the appropriate 
documentation.

Documentation to be produced with the completed and signed application form

Only fully completed applications accompanied by relevant supporting documents 
and the fee will be considered. Photocopies will be taken of all original documents 
and originals returned to the applicant.

o Proof of public liability insurance, where the operating premises has a public 
waiting area (a visit will be undertaken by an Authorised Officer at some point
during the period of the licence);

o Basic Disclosure Scotland check (less than 3 months old) for each person named 
on the application form;

o 2 written personal references (referees cannot be family members).
o A signed declaration for each applicant (and directors if a Company) confirming 

right to work, financial assessment and criminal convictions. 

Should information be received that results in the licence holder not being 
considered “a fit and proper person”, then the Licensing Authority may 
suspend, revoke or refuse to renew the licence.

4. Cautions, Convictions & Appeals

4.1. If the application form contains any details to suggest that any convictions or cautions 
have been imposed on the applicant since the licence was last issued or renewed, 
the Authorised Officer will discuss the matter with the applicant, having due regard to 
the Licensing Authority’s ‘Guidelines Relating to the Relevance of Previous 
Convictions (APPENDIX K).

4.2. In all cases, the applicant will be required to obtain a DBS (for a driver’s licence) or 
Disclosure Scotland (for an operator’s licence) check, before any further 
consideration of the application.

4.3 When the DBS or Disclosure Scotland check has been returned, the application will 
be considered by the Licensing Authority, in the light of the information provided.
Applicants must therefore ensure that details of ALL convictions and cautions are 
provided at the initial stage (including those generally classed as spent).  A serious 
view will be taken of any application which seeks to conceal any caution or conviction 
in order to obtain a licence.  This could lead to consideration of the applicant as not 
being a ‘fit and proper person and probable refusal of the application.  

4.4 In the event of an application being refused, the applicant has the right of appeal to 
Magistrates’ Court (APPENDIX N).



APPENDIX J

DRIVER KNOWLEDGE TESTS

Page 1 of 2

1. Introduction

1.1. In order to maintain the high standard the Licensing Authority expects of its licensed drivers 
operating within the Borough of Dartford, all new applicants are required to pass a 
“Knowledge Test”.

1.2 Before an individual applies to sit the "Knowledge Test”, they should be satisfied that they 
can fulfil all other Licensing Authority requirements to become a licensed driver.   

1.3 An individual should not obtain a DBS enhanced disclosure or a medical until he/she
passes the "Knowledge Test".  

1.4 All elements of the “Knowledge Test” must achieve the required pass mark (see below).

1.5 All questions are held on a data base and selected at random. Therefore each test is 
different and there are no specimen tests to view or study. 

1.6 An Information Pack is available on the Licensing Authority's website www.dartford.gov.uk
or it can be collected from the Licensing Authority’s office at the Civic Centre. The 
Information Pack contains a guide to the answering format of the “Knowledge Test” and 
other information relating to the test and new driver application criteria.

1.7 Any person found cheating will be disqualified from the test and an application to sit a 
further “Knowledge Test” will not be accepted.

1.8 Tests will be marked and applicants informed of the result.  Officers will not enter into any 
discussion regarding the outcome of the test. An appeal, in writing, must be received within 
7 days of notification of the test result.

2. The Knowledge Test: Hackney Carriage Driver’s Licence & Private Hire Vehicle 
Driver’s Licence

2.1 The test will consist of the following modules:   

Part A Numeracy
Part B Local Topography (routes/key locations)
Part C Safeguarding
Part D Prevent (Counter Terrorism)
Part E Legislation/Policy
Part F Highway Code

The Hackney Carriage test is undertaken as follows:

2.2 The Hackney Carriage “Knowledge Test” is undertaken in three sittings:

Sitting 1: Parts A & B
Sitting 2 Parts A & B (different questions to sitting 1)
Sitting 3 Parts C, D, E & F

All sections at each sitting must be passed before progressing to the next sitting with each 
sitting being a minimum of 4 weeks apart. Any applicant who passes the Hackney Carriage 
“Knowledge Test” can also apply to be licensed as a private hire driver or upgrade to a 
Dual Badge without a further test.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


The Private Hire “Knowledge Test” is undertaken in two sitting.

Sitting 1: Parts A & B
Sitting 2 Parts C, D, E & F

2.2 Numeracy (PART A)

This section tests the applicant's numeric skills, through a number of questions which are 
of direct relevance to the work of taxi and private hire drivers - for example, calculating 
change or likely journey times.

Pass mark is 4/5

2.3 Local Topography (PART B)

Hackney Carriages – The test will consist of questions requiring the shortest route by 
distance between a pick-up point and a destination within the Borough of Dartford and 
questions relating to the locations of important buildings, such as schools, churches, day 
centres, hotels, flats, places of interest etc. 

Pass mark is 31/35: You will be given 60 minutes to complete Part A & Part B

Private Hire Vehicles - The test will consist of questions requiring the shortest route by 
distance between a pick-up point and a destination within the Borough of Dartford and 
questions relating to the locations of important buildings, such as schools, churches, day 
centres, hotels, flats, places of interest etc. 

Pass mark is 24/30:  You will be given 50 minutes to complete Part A & Part B

2.4 Safeguarding (PART C)

The test will consist of 16 questions based on the Licensing Authorities Taxi and Private 
Hire Safeguarding Policy including what signs to look out for and who to contact should a 
matter of safeguarding arise.

Pass mark is 12/16: You will be given 20 minutes to complete the test

2.5 Prevent (PART D)

The test will consist of 5 questions based on a short information film regarding the 
Government’s Prevent Agenda on Counter Terrorism.  

Pass mark is 4/5: You will be given 10 minutes to complete the test.

2.2 Policy and Licensing Legislation (PART E)

Hackney Carriages - Ten questions will relate to an applicant’s knowledge and 
understanding of the law in respect of hackney carriage licensing, hackney carriage bye-
laws and conditions. Pass mark is 9/10 you will be given 15 minutes to complete the test.

Private Hire Vehicles - Ten questions will relate to an applicant’s knowledge and 
understating of the law in respect of private hire vehicle licensing and conditions. 

Pass mark is 9/10: you will be given 15 minutes to complete the test.

2.3 Highway Code (PART F)

Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles - Ten questions relating to driving skills, 
road information and etiquette as set out in the Highway Code.  

Pass mark is 9/10:  You will be given 15 minutes to complete the test



APPENDIX K

GUIDELINES RELATING TO THE RELEVANCE OF PREVIOUS CONVICTIONS

Page 1 of 10

1 General Policy

Each application for a driver’s licence will be decided on its merits.

1.2 The overriding consideration is the safety of the travelling public and road users. 
The Licensing Authority has a duty to ensure, so far as possible, that those 
licensed to drive Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles are ’fit and proper
persons’ to do so, that they are safe drivers with good driving records and adequate 
experience, sober, courteous, mentally and physically fit, honest and not persons 
who would take advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers.

1.3 For the purpose of these guidelines, formal cautions and endorsable fixed penalties 
are treated as though they were convictions and must be disclosed on application 
for either a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle driver’s licence.  

1.4 A person with a current conviction for an offence(s) listed in this Appendix, need not 
be permanently barred from obtaining a driver’s licence, but will be expected to
remain free of conviction for an appropriate period (detailed below).

Simply remaining free of conviction, will not generally be regarded as sufficient 
evidence of good character.

1.5 Some discretion may be appropriate if the offence is isolated and there are 
mitigating circumstances. Similarly, multiple offences or a series of offences over a 
period of time, are likely to give greater cause for concern and may demonstrate a 
pattern of inappropriate behaviour which will be taken into account by the Licensing 
Authority.

1.6 The following examples afford a general guide on the action which might be taken 
by the Licensing Authority where convictions are disclosed.

2 Offences of Dishonesty

2.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle drivers are expected to be persons of 
trust. It is comparatively easy for a dishonest driver to defraud the public by 
demanding more than the fare fixed by the Licensing Authority and in other ways.

2.2 Members of the public entrust themselves to the care of drivers both for their own 
safety and for fair dealing. Passengers may comprise adults, children and 
vulnerable people.

2.3 For these reasons, a serious view is taken of any convictions involving dishonesty. 
In general, a period of 4 years free of conviction will be required before an 
application is likely to be considered favourably.

2.4 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for an 
offence of:-

o theft



Page 2 of 10

o burglary
o fraud
o benefit fraud (including offences under ss.111A and 112 of the Social Security 

Administration Act 1992 and Fraud Act 2006)
o bribery
o handling or receiving stolen goods
o forgery
o conspiracy to defraud
o obtaining money or property by deception
o other deception 

and the conviction is less than 4 years prior to the date of the application.

3 Violence

3.1 As drivers of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles maintain close contact 
with the public, in general, a period of 5, 8 or 10 years free of conviction for 
offences involving violence (depending on the nature and seriousness of the 
offence) will be required before an application is likely to be considered favourably.   

3.2
(i) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for 

an offence of:-

o murder
o manslaughter
o manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving
o arson
o malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm (s.20 Offences Against the 

Person Act 1861) which is racially aggravated (s.29(1)(a) Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998)

o grievous bodily harm with intent (s.18 Offences Against the Person Act)
o grievous bodily harm (s.20 Offences Against the Person Act)

and the conviction is less than 10 years prior to the date of application.

(ii) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for 
an offence of:-

o actual bodily harm (s.47 Offences Against the Person Act 1861) which is 
racially aggravated (s.29(1)(b) Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

o robbery
o racially-aggravated criminal damage (s.30 Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
o racially-aggravated s.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear or provocation of 

violence) (s.31(1)(a) Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
o racially-aggravated s.4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional 

harassment, alarm or distress) (s.31(1)(b) Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
o racially-aggravated s.2 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 offence 

(harassment) (s.32(1)(a) Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
o racially-aggravated s.4 Protection from Harassment Act 1997 offence 

(putting people in fear of violence) (s.32(1)(b) Crime and Disorder Act 1998)



Page 3 of 10

and the conviction is less than 8 years prior to the date of application.

(iii) An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for 
an offence of:-

o common assault
o common assault which is racially aggravated (s.29(1)(c) Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998)
o assault occasioning actual bodily harm (s.47 Offences Against the Person 

Act))
o assault on a police officer
o affray
o racially aggravated s.5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or 

distress) (s.31(1)(c) Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
o riot
o obstruction
o possession of offensive weapon
o possession of firearm
o criminal damage
o violent disorder
o resisting arrest

and the conviction is less than 5 years prior to the date of application.

4. Drugs

4.1 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a conviction for a 
drug-related offence and the conviction is less than 5 years prior to the date of 
application.

5. Sexual/Indecency Offences

5.1 As drivers of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles often carry 
unaccompanied passengers, applicants with convictions for soliciting, importuning, 
indecent exposure or any sexual offence will normally be refused a licence, until 
they can show a substantial period (usually between 10 years) free from any such 
conviction.

5.2 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has a current conviction 
for an offence of:-

o rape
o indecent assault
o gross indecency with a female
o gross indecency with a male
o indecent assault on a child under 16 years
o buggery

5.3 An application will normally be refused where an applicant is on the sex offenders 
register or the application is made within 10 years of coming off the register.



Page 4 of 10

6. Motoring Convictions

6.1 Major Traffic Offences  

6.1.1 A conviction for the type of offence listed in para. 7 below, within the last 5 years, is 
likely to merit refusal.  

6.2 Minor Traffic Offences

6.2.1 Isolated convictions for minor traffic offences (listed in para. 7 below), should not 
prevent a person from proceeding with an application. However, the number, type 
and frequency of this type of offence, will be taken into account and if there are 
several offences of this nature, the applicant will normally be expected to show a 
period free of conviction of at least 6 months.

6.2.2 An application will normally be refused where the applicant has 6 or more penalty 
points on his DVLA licence (whether or not the applicant was convicted by a court 
for the offences for which the points were imposed) or where the applicant has 
more than one conviction for this type of offence, within the last 6 months.  

6.3. Hybrid Traffic Offences

6.3.1 Offences will be treated as major traffic offences, if the court awarded 4 or more 
penalty points for the offence and treated as minor traffic offences, if the court 
awarded 3 or less penalty points for the offence.

6.3.2 A list of hybrid traffic offences is at para. 7 below.

6.4 Disqualification

6.4.1 Where an applicant has been disqualified from driving because of a major traffic 
offence (excluding drugs or alcohol related offences (6.6 below)), the application 
will generally be refused, unless a period of 5 years free from conviction has 
elapsed from the date the applicant’s DVLA licence is restored.   

6.4.2 Where several minor traffic offences have resulted in the applicant being 
disqualified from driving for a period of time, this will normally be taken as reflecting 
seriously on the applicant's driving standard. Generally, a period of 12 months free 
from conviction must have elapsed from the date the applicant’s DVLA licence is 
restored.

6.4.3 In "totting-up" cases where disqualification is considered by the court, even if the 
court does not disqualify (e.g. because of exceptional circumstances), the 
Licensing Authority is likely to refuse a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle
driver's licence because different criteria apply.  An applicant will normally be 
expected to show a period of 12 months free from conviction from the date the 
court made its finding of exceptional circumstances justifying the non-
disqualification.

6.5 Offences under the Town Police Clauses Acts 1847 and Part II of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976



Page 5 of 10

6.5.1 One of the main purposes of the licensing regime set out in the Town Police 
Clauses Act and Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976, is to ensure the protection of the public. For this reason, a serious view is 
taken of convictions for offences under the Acts (including illegally plying for hire),
when deciding whether an applicant is as a ‘fit and proper person’ to hold a licence.

6.5.2 An applicant will normally be refused a licence where he/she has been convicted of 
an offence at any time during the 6 months preceding the application or has more 
than one conviction within the last 2 years preceding the date of the application.

6.6 Drunkenness  

In charge of a motor vehicle

6.6.1 A serious view will be taken of convictions of driving or being in charge of a vehicle 
while under the influence of alcohol. Where a conviction for a drink-driving offence
is received, at least 5 years should have elapsed (from the date the applicant’s 
DVLA licence is restored), before the Licensing Authority will grant the applicant a 
licence. 

Not in a motor vehicle

6.6.2 An isolated conviction for drunkenness need not debar an applicant from being 
granted a licence. In some cases, a warning may be appropriate. However, a 
number of convictions for drunkenness could indicate a medical problem 
necessitating critical examination and refusal of a licence.

6.7 Discrimination – Equality Act 2010

It is illegal to discriminate against, harass or victimise any person with a protected 
characteristic (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation).

An applicant will normally be refused a licence where he/she has been convicted of 
an offence at any time during the 24 months preceding the application or has more 
than one conviction within the last 4 years preceding the date of the application.

6.8 Spent Convictions and the Principles of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 
1974 & Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) 1975 Order (as 
amended)

6.8.1 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002, 
allows the Licensing Authority to take into account all convictions recorded against 
an applicant (for a driver’s licence) or the holder of a private hire vehicle or hackney 
carriage driver’s licence, whether spent or not. Therefore the Licensing Authority 
will have regard to spent convictions in so far as they are relevant to the issue as to 
whether the applicant is a ‘fit and proper person’ to hold a driver’s licence.

6.8.2 The rehabilitation periods to which reference is most commonly made are set out 
below.  For further details on the periods of rehabilitation applicable to all 



Page 6 of 10

sentencing options, reference will need to be made to the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 (as amended)1:

1Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012



Page 7 of 10

Sentence End of rehabilitation period for adult offenders 

A custodial sentence of more than 30 
months and up to, or consisting of, 48 
months

The end of the period of 7 years beginning with 
the day on which the sentence (including any 
licence period) is completed

A custodial sentence of more than 6 months 
and up to, or consisting of, 30 months

The end of the period of 48 months beginning with 
the day on which the sentence (including any 
licence period) is completed

A custodial sentence of 6 months or less The end of the period of 24 months beginning with 
the day on which the sentence (including any 
licence period) is completed

Removal from Her Majesty's service The end of the period of 12 months beginning with 
the date of the conviction in respect of which the 
sentence is imposed

A sentence of service detention The end of the period of 12 months beginning with 
the day on which the sentence is completed

A fine The end of the period of 12 months beginning with 
the date of the conviction in respect of which the 
sentence is imposed

A compensation order The date on which the payment is made in full

A community or youth rehabilitation order The end of the period of 12 months beginning with 
the day provided for by or under the order as the 
last day on which the order is to have effect

A relevant order The day provided for by or under the order as the 
last day on which the order is to have effect

7. CLASSIFICATION OF TRAFFIC OFFENCES AND RELEVANT CODES



Page 8 of 10

MAJOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES
AC10 Failing to stop after an accident
AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an accident within 24 hours
AC30 Undefined accident offences

BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of court
BA20 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of court

CD10 Driving without due care and attention
CD20 Driving without reasonable consideration for other road users
CD30 Driving without due care and attention or without reasonable consideration for other 

road users
CD40 Causing death through careless driving when unfit through drink
CD50 Causing death by careless driving when unfit through drugs
CD60 Causing death by careless driving with alcohol level above the limit
CD70 Causing death by careless driving then failing to supply a specimen for analysis

DD40 Dangerous driving
DD60 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving a vehicle
DD80 Causing death by dangerous driving

DR10 Driving or attempting to drive with alcohol level above limit
DR20 Driving or attempting to drive while unfit through drink
DR30 Driving or attempting to drive then failing to supply a specimen for analysis
DR40 In charge of a vehicle while alcohol level above limit
DR50 In charge of a vehicle while unfit through drink
DR60 Failure to provide a specimen for analysis in circumstances other than driving or 

attempting to drive
DR70 Failing to provide specimen for breath test
DR80 Driving or attempting to drive when unfit through drugs
DR90 In charge of a vehicle when unfit through drugs

IN 10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks

LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence
LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for a licence
LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability
LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds

MS50 Motor racing on the highway
MS60 Offences not covered by other codes

UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 2 (e.g. IN10 becomes IN12)

Causing or permitting
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. IN10 becomes IN14)

Inciting 



Page 9 of 10

Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. IN16 becomes IN16)

MINOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES
MS10 Leaving a vehicle in a dangerous position
MS20 Unlawful pillion riding
MS30 Play street Offences
MS40 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight or refusing to submit to a test
MS70 Driving with uncorrected defective eyesight
MS80 Refusing to submit to an eyesight test
MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver, etc.
MW10Contravention of Special Road Regulations (excluding speed limits)

PC10 Undefined contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations
PC20 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with moving vehicle
PC30 Contravention of Pedestrian Crossing Regulations with stationary vehicle

TS10 Failing to comply with traffic light signals
TS20 Failing to comply with double white lines
TS30 Failing to comply with a "Stop" sign
TS40 Failing to comply with direction of a constable or traffic warden
TS50 Failing to comply with traffic sign (excluding "Stop" sign, traffic lights or double 

white lines)
TS60 Failing to comply with school crossing patrol sign
TS70 Undefined failure to comply with a traffic direction sign

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 2 (e.g. PC10 becomes PC12)

Causing or permitting
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. PC10 becomes PC14)

Inciting
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. PC16 becomes PC16)

HYBRID TRAFFIC OFFENCES
CU10 Using vehicle with defective brakes
CU20 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of use of unsuitable vehicle or using a 

vehicle with parts or accessories (excluding brakes, steering or tyres) in a 
dangerous condition

CU30 Using a vehicle with defective tyre(s)
CU40 Using a vehicle with defective steering
CU50 Causing or likely to cause danger by reason of load or passengers

SP10 Exceeding goods vehicle speed limit
SP20 Exceeding speed limit for type of vehicle (excluding goods or passenger vehicles)
SP30 Exceeding statutory speed limit on a public road
SP40 Exceeding passenger vehicle speed limit
SP50 Exceeding speed limit on a motorway
SP60 Undefined speed limit offence

Aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring



Page 10 of 10

Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 2 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU12)

Causing or permitting
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 4 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU14)

Inciting
Offences as coded above, but with 0 changed to 6 (e.g. CU10 becomes CU16)



APPENDIX L

TAXI LICENSING AND ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Page 1 of 5

1. Enforcement Policy Statement

1.1 It is the policy of The Dartford Borough Council (as Licensing Authority) to ensure that 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicle drivers and operators are licensed correctly and 
carry out their trade in accordance with both the relevant law and the conditions attached 
to licences.

1.2 This Taxi Licensing and Enforcement Policy (the Policy) is intended to fairly and firmly 
enforce the law in a consistent and transparent way.  

1.3 The Licensing Authority has adopted the provisions of the Regulators Compliance Code1

which provides the following common principles for enforcement procedures:

o agreed standards and procedures
o helpfulness
o openness
o transparency
o proportionality
o consistency
o complaints procedure

1.4 All enforcement action, be it verbal warnings, the issue of written warnings, statutory 
notices, appearance before the Officer Review Board or prosecution, will primarily be 
based upon the seriousness of the breach and the possible consequences arising from the 
breach. Enforcement action will not, therefore, constitute a punitive response to minor 
breaches or contraventions of legislation or the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy.

1.5 Authority for all levels of enforcement has been delegated by the Licensing Authority to 
Officers and for award of penalty points to the Officer Review Board. Enforcement 
decisions will be taken in accordance with this Policy. Any departure from this Policy must 
be exceptional, capable of justification, be fully considered and be endorsed by the Senior 
Licensing Officer, Enforcement & Regulatory Services Manager or Strategic Director 
(External Services), before the decision is taken (unless it is considered that there is 
significant risk to the public in delaying the decision).

1.6 Officers with delegated authority must be fully acquainted with the requirements of this
Policy.

2. Enforcement Options

2.1 Achieving and maintaining a consistency of approach to making all decisions that concern 
hackney carriage and private hire licensing and enforcement action, including prosecution, 
is of paramount importance. To achieve and maintain consistency, it is vital that the 
guidelines contained in this Policy are always considered and followed.

2.2 Licence application and enforcement decisions must always be consistent, balanced, 
proportionate and relate to common standards which ensure that the travelling public is 
adequately protected. Before reaching a decision on what action to take for a breach or 
contravention, the following must be considered:

o seriousness of the offence or contravention;
o driver or operator’s past history;
o consequence of non-compliance;
o likely effectiveness of the various enforcement options;
o likely danger to the travelling public and road users.

1
6 April 2014



Page 2 of 5

2.3 Having considered all relevant information and evidence, the Licensing Authority may 
consider one or more of the following options:

o take no action;
o take informal action;
o impose penalty points in accordance with the Penalty Points Scheme;
o suspend a licence (immediately or on 21 days’ notice);
o revoke a licence (immediately or on 21 days’ notice;
o prosecute;
o administer a caution;
o require the licence holder to undertake a DSA Taxi Driving Test.

Further detailed guidance on these options is set out below.

3. Informal Action

3.1 Informal action to secure compliance with legislation includes offering advice, verbal and 
written warnings and requests for action.

3.2 Informal action may be appropriate in any of the following circumstances:-

o the act or omission is not serious enough to warrant more formal action;
o it can be reasonably expected that informal action will achieve compliance, perhaps by 

taking into account the driver or operator’s past history;
o confidence in the operator’s management is high;
o the consequences of non-compliance will not pose a significant risk to the safety of the 

travelling public.

Even where some of the above criteria are not met, there may be circumstances in which 
informal action will be more effective than a formal approach.

4. Appeal to the Officer Review Board

4.1 A licence holder has the right of appeal to the Officer Review Board where penalty points 
are to be imposed by an Officer under delegated authority or where the licence holder has 
requested and been refused, a deviation to the requirement(s) of the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing Policy.  The appeal must be made within 21 days of the date of 
decision letter.

4.2 The Officer Review Board may on the evidence before it:-

o uphold the decision;
o increase or decrease the penalty points.

5. Suspension Notices 

Each case will be considered by the Licensing Authority on its own merits.  The Licensing 
Authority will exercise its powers in a consistent and reasonable manner, having regard to 
the facts of the case and the risk posed to the public.

The Licensing Authority will, within 14 days of the decision to suspend, serve on the licence 
holder, a Suspension Notice, detailing the ground(s) for the suspension.  A suspension will 
take effect immediately (in the interests of public safety) or, at the end of a period of 21 
days, beginning with the day on which the Notice is served on the licence holder.

5.1 With immediate effect

(a) In the interest of public safety and where the risk(s) justifies such an approach, the 
Licensing Authority may decide to suspend a licence with immediate effect.  Where this is 
the case, the Licensing Authority will include a statement of this in the Suspension Notice
and the reasons for the immediacy of the decision. The suspension of the licence then 
takes effect when the Suspension Notice is served on the licence holder.



Page 3 of 5

(b) It is for the Licensing Authority to judge when it is appropriate to use the power of 
immediate suspension, having regard to the seriousness of the offence.  Examples of 
situations where immediate suspension might be warranted include:

∑ allegations of violence against a passenger;
∑ allegations of indecency including sexual assault and rape against a passenger;
∑ allegations that the driver is unfit to drive as a result of being under the influence of

drugs or alcohol;
∑ allegations of sexual contact with a passenger in the vehicle;
∑ allegations of dishonesty relating to use of the vehicle, such as attempting to pervert 

the course of justice in relation to a road traffic accident, fraudulent use of tax or 
insurance documentation, knowingly driving an uninsured vehicle to convey 
members of the travelling public;

∑ allegations of dangerous driving or driving without due care and attention thereby
endangering the safety of passengers and other road users;

∑ where the driver has demonstrated a pattern of poor behaviour or attracted further 
complaints, since having been warned or previously suspended;

∑ where the condition/fitness2 of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle poses a 
danger to either passengers and/or members of the public;

∑ where a vehicle (and its MOT Certificate) is not presented for its ‘6 month test’;
∑ where the Licensing Authority is concerned about the medical fitness of a driver;
∑ for any other reasonable cause3.

(c) When considering whether an offence, allegation or complaint warrants immediate 
suspension in the interests of public safety, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
circumstances of the case, any admissions or denials made and any other relevant 
evidence.

(d) The effect of an immediate suspension is that:

o the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle cannot be used for hire and reward until 
such time as the defect(s) detailed in the Suspension Notice has been remedied to the 
Authorised Officer’s satisfaction4.

o the driver is prevented from driving a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle5, 
o the operator cannot accept bookings from an operating premises;

until his/her appeal to the Magistrates’ Court is disposed of or withdrawn or fails for want of 
prosecution.

5.2 Suspension on 21 days’ notice

(a) The Licensing Authority may suspend6 a licence (vehicle, driver or operator) on 21 days’ 
notice.  The reason(s) for the suspension will be detailed in the Suspension Notice.

(b) Examples of situations where suspension on 21 days’ notice might be warranted include:

∑ breach or contravention of conditions, legislation, Hackney Carriage Byelaws and/or 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy;

∑ failure to produce relevant documents;
∑ failure to notify the Licensing Authority of changes in circumstances;
∑ failure to undertake relevant training;

2
S68 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

3
The Licensing Authority’s discretion under this section is wide and is not restricted to convictions for criminal offences nor is proof 

required to the criminal standard (see John McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council [QBD – 1 July 1998]
4

S68 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
5

S61(2B) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976
6

Ss60, 61 & 62 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976



Page 4 of 5

∑ for any conduct on the part of the operator which renders him/her unfit to hold an 
operator’s licence;

∑ for any other reasonable cause7.

(c) Once the suspension takes effect, until his/her time for appealing to the Magistrates’ Court 
has expired, or, when an appeal is lodged, until the appeal is disposed of or withdrawn or 
fails for want of prosecution:8

o the proprietor may continue to use the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle for hire 
and reward;

o the operator may continue to operate from his/her operating premises;
o the driver may continue to drive the hackney carriage or private hire vehicle

6. Appeals

6.1 Appeals against the Licensing Authority’s decision to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a 
licence, or against the imposition of conditions are to the Magistrates’ Court. Licence 
holders will be provided with information on how to appeal (see APPENDIX O).  

7. Prosecution

7.1 The decision to prosecute is a very significant one as it may impact on the licence holder’s 
future employability.  The circumstances which are likely to warrant prosecution may be 
characterised by one or more of the following:-

o where there is a blatant disregard for the law;
o when there appears to have been reckless disregard for the safety of passengers or 

other road users;
o where there have been repeated breaches of legal requirements;
o where a particular type of breach or contravention is prevalent;
o where a particular breach or contravention has caused serious public alarm.

7.2 When circumstances have been identified which may warrant a prosecution, all relevant 
evidence and information must be considered, to enable a consistent, fair and objective 
decision to be made.

7.3 Before referring a matter to the Head of Legal Services for prosecution, the Strategic 
Director (External Services), the Enforcement & Regulatory Services Manager and the 
Senior Licensing Officer must be satisfied that there is relevant, admissible, substantial 
and reliable evidence that an offence has been committed by an identifiable person or 
body corporate e.g. company. There must be a realistic prospect of conviction, as a bare 
prima facie case is not enough. With insufficient evidence to prosecute, the issue of a 
caution is not an alternative.

7.4 In addition to being satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect 
of a conviction, it must be established that it is in the public interest to prosecute.  The 
Code for Crown Prosecutors issued by the Crown Prosecution Service (January 2013),
provides guidance on the general principles to be applied, when making decisions about 
prosecutions, including the public interest test.

7.5 When a decision is being taken on whether to prosecute, the factors to be considered may 
include:-

o the seriousness of the alleged offence;
o the risk or harm to the public;
o identifiable victims;

7
The Licensing Authority’s discretion under this section is wide and is not restricted to convictions for criminal offences nor is proof 

required to the criminal standard - see John McCool v Rushcliffe Borough Council [QBD 1998]
8 S77 Local Government(Miscellaneous) Provisions) Act 1976



Page 5 of 5

o failure to comply with a statutory notice served for a significant breach of legislation;
o disregard of safety for financial reward;
o the previous history of the licence holder;
o offences following a history of similar offences;
o failure to respond positively to past warnings;
o the ability of any important witnesses and their willingness to cooperate;
o the willingness of the licence holder to prevent a recurrence of the problem;
o the probable public benefit of a prosecution and the importance of the case e.g. 

whether it might establish a legal precedent;
o whether other action, such as issuing a caution would be more appropriate or 

effective. 

8. Cautions

8.1 A caution may be administered as an alternative to a prosecution in certain circumstances.
The Licensing Authority will have regard to the guidance issued by the Ministry of Justice -
Simple Caution for Adult Offenders (8 April 2013).

8.2 The purposes of a caution are:-

∑ to deal quickly and simply with less serious offences;
∑ to divert less serious offences away from the Courts;
∑ to reduce the chances of repeat offences.

8.3 The following conditions should be fulfilled before a caution is administered by the 
Licensing Authority:

∑ there must be evidence of the offender’s guilt sufficient to give a realistic prospect of 
conviction;

∑ the offender must admit the offence;
∑ the offender must understand the significance of a caution and give informed 

consent to being cautioned.

8.4 If there is insufficient evidence to consider taking a prosecution, then by implication, the 
criteria is not satisfied for the use of a caution. A caution should also not be administered
where the offender does not make a clear and reliable admission of the offence. It should 
be noted that there is no legal obligation for any person to accept the offer of a caution and 
no pressure should be applied on a person to accept a caution.

8.5 Where a person declines the offer of a caution, the Licensing Authority will need to 
consider whether alternative enforcement action is appropriate. 

9. Transparency

9.1 Following the completion of an investigation into a complaint or any enforcement activity, 
the licence holder will be informed of the action to be taken by the Licensing Authority.

9.2 Any written documentation issued or sent will:-

o contain all the information necessary for the licence holder to understand the offence 
and what needs to be done to rectify it. Where works to a vehicle are required, the 
period allowed for the works to be completed, will be indicated;

o indicate the legislation, conditions or the sections of the Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Licensing Policy or Hackney Carriage Byelaws that have been breached or 
contravened and measures which will enable compliance; and

o where appropriate, make recommendations relating to good practice.



APPENDIX M
PENALTY POINTS SCHEME

1. Introduction

1.1 The Licensing Authority has a responsibility to ensure that licence holders adhere to basic 
minimum standards.  These standards are defined by legislation, conditions and byelaws. 
Together, they identify the Licensing Authority’s requirements of licence holders and help to 
ensure a transparent and consistent application of these standards by the Licensing Authority, 
including the monitoring of licence holders’ ability to fulfil the ‘fit and proper’ test.

1.2 The Licensing Authority is entitled to adopt policies which will regulate the exercise of a given 
discretionary power and which seeks, both in fairness to the licence holder potentially affected 
and also to protect the public interest, to have a staged process, by which the cumulative 
effect of incidents of misconduct may well lead ultimately to the conclusion that in the 
judgment of the Licensing Authority, a person is not a ‘fit and proper person’ to continue to 
enjoy the relevant licence.1

1.3 This Penalty Points Scheme does not preclude or prejudice the Licensing Authority from 
taking other enforcement action, such as revocation or suspension of a licence under the 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (as amended) or the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 (as amended).  

1.4 Offences and non-compliance have different levels of seriousness.  This Penalty Points 
Scheme is based on a graduated approach, provides guidance on factors the Licensing 
Authority will take into account that may affect the points imposed, proportionate to the 
seriousness of the offence or non-compliance.

2. Application of this Penalty Points Scheme

2.1 While there is no single guiding principle, the seriousness of the offence or non-compliance is 
an important factor.  In assessing the seriousness of any offence or non-compliance, the 
Licensing Authority will consider the licence holder’s culpability in committing the offence or 
non-compliance and any harm to the travelling public and/or road users which the offence or 
non-compliance caused, was intended to cause or might foreseeably have caused.  This will 
inform the Licensing Authority’s judgement as to whether the licence holder is a ‘fit and proper 
person’.  Each case will be assessed on its own merit following an investigation and the right 
for the licence holder to present his/her case and any mitigating factors.

2.2 The imposition of penalty points against a driver who is an employee for e.g. of an operator, 
will not necessarily result in the imposition of points against his/her operator employer.  
However, the Licensing Authority will consider whether there is joint responsibility for a breach 
or contravention or non-compliance in which case, penalty points may be imposed on more 
than one licence holder.  

2.3 The imposition of penalty points on a licence will be confirmed to the licence holder in writing, 
on completion of the investigation into a contravention.

2.4 When imposed on a licence, penalty points will remain “live” for a period of three years from 
the date they are imposed, so that only points accumulated in a rolling 36 month period will be 
taken into account (see section 5.3 below).

2.5 There is no financial penalty associated with this Penalty Points Scheme and the licence 
holder may continue to work. 

3. Right of Appeal

3.1 As with all enforcement action undertaken by the Licensing Authority, the principles of the
Regulators’ Compliance Code and Enforcement Concordat will be adhered to. Therefore, any 
licence holder who is the subject of any enforcement action, and specifically in this case, the 
allocation of penalty points, may appeal the decision to the Officer Review Board.

1
R (app Singh) v Cardiff City Council (2012) EWHC 1852 (admin)



Page 2 of 8

3.2 Where a licence holder accumulates 25 or more penalty points in any 36 months rolling 
period, he/she will be invited to attend a meeting with the Officer Review Board. The licence 
holder will have the right to be accompanied to the meeting by a friend or colleague and will be 
given the opportunity to present his/her case.  

3.3 Appeals must be submitted within 21 days of the date of the decision letter.  Having assessed
the evidence presented to it (including the risk factor(s)) in accordance with sections 4.2 and 
5.4 below, the Officer Review Board will consider what action to take, proportionate to the 
seriousness of the offence or non-compliance.  The Officer Review Board may uphold the 
decision or decrease or increase the points imposed.

4. Risk Assessment

4.1 The primary objectives of this Penalty Points Scheme are to improve safety for the travelling 
public and road users and overall levels of compliance within the Trades. In achieving this, the 
Scheme must be effective in deterring licence holders from: 

� committing serious infringements; or
� falling into a pattern of behaviour where they persistently fail to comply with the

standards the Licensing Authority has set.

In order to achieve the primary objectives, this Scheme needs to be

• transparent and fair in the way it deals with licence holders; and
• as simple and straightforward as possible, so as to be able to be easily understood by 

all involved, and to avoid any significant additional workload or cost to/by the Licensing 
Authority.

4.2 The Licensing Authority will assess the level of risk to the travelling public and/or road users of 
the offence or non-compliance, categorised according to levels of seriousness (Levels 1 to 4):

Level of risk Licensing Authority risk classification

i. Level 1 risk = low/negligible
ii. Level 2 risk = minor/moderate
iii. Level 3 risk = major
iv. Level 4 risk = critical/significant 

The consequence of ‘how bad’ the risk being assessed is measured against the ‘consequence 
scoring’ detailed in Table 1 in the Annex to this Penalty Points Scheme.  In this context, 
‘consequence’ is defined as the outcome or the potential outcome of the breach or non -
compliance.  There may be more than one consequence of a single incident.  The descriptors
shown in the ‘consequence table’ are not exhaustive. The risk level determines the 
appropriate level of penalty points to be imposed in an individual case.

5. Penalty Points Range

5.1 The Licensing Authority in the exercise of its discretion, considers that the percentage 
increase applying across the levels on the standard scale (SS)2 provides a transparent and fair 
mechanism for determining the maximum number of penalty points for each Level of risk 
referred to in section 4.2 above: 

Level of Risk 1 2 3 4
% increase across
SS 

8% 20% 40% 100%

Maximum number 
of penalty points 

2 5 10 25

i. penalty points range for Level 1 risk between 0 and 2
ii. penalty points range for Level 2 risks between 0 and 5
iii. penalty points range for Level 3 risks between 0 and 10
iv. penalty points range for Level 4 risks between 0 and 25

2
Applied in the Magistrates’ Court



Page 3 of 8

5.2 Each Level of risk has a range of penalty points (to a maximum within each Level) which the 
Licensing Authority may impose on a licence, should a breach or contravention be proven 
following an investigation – the cumulative effect of incidents of misconduct may well lead 
ultimately to the conclusion that in the judgement of the Licensing Authority, the licence holder 
is not a ‘fit and proper person’ to continue to enjoy the relevant licence:  

5.3 Three years has been selected as a reasonable period of time over which the total penalty
points awarded to any individual licence holder should be assessed. This three year period is 
applied on a roll forward basis, so as to allow any older penalty points to be considered as 
‘spent’ and therefore excluded from the running total recorded against any individual licence 
holder. The period is considered to be of sufficient length so as to allow any licence holder
who may find himself/herself accumulating penalty points, to take appropriate remedial action 
before facing the possibility of other enforcement action being taken against him/her.

5.4 It is not possible to position particular types of offence or non-compliance at firm points within 
the penalty points range, because the seriousness level of an offence or non-compliance is 
largely dependent upon the culpability of the licence holder, any harm/risk to the travelling 
public and/or road users and the significance of aggravating and mitigating factors and these 
are uniquely variable. Every case depends on its own facts.

5.5 It is for the Licensing Authority to ensure that the level of penalty points imposed on a licence, 
is proportionate to the seriousness of the offence or non-compliance.

6. Contraventions of Legislation, Conditions & Byelaws

6.1 Table 2 in the Annex to this Penalty Points Scheme details the breaches or contraventions of 
conditions, byelaws, and legislative provisions, the levels of risk and the maximum penalty 
points attributed to each.

TABLE 1 -Consequence Scoring
Risk levels and examples of descriptors
1 2 3 4

Domains Low/Negligible Minor/Moderate Major Critical/Significant
Impact on the safety of 
travelling public and/or 
road users/licence 
holder
(physical/psychological)

Minimal injury requiring 
no/minimal intervention 
or treatment – no time off 
work required 

Injury requiring minor 
medical intervention
Requiring time off work 
for less than 3 days

Injury leading to long term 
incapacity/disability
Requiring time off work 
for more than 14 days

Incident leading to death
Multiple/permanent injuries or 
irreversible health effects
An incident which impacts  on a 
large number of persons
Rape or serious assault
Violence, aggression or other 
life threatening incident

Complaints against 
licence holder

Informal 
complaint/inquiry

Single failure to meet 
standards
Minor/moderate
implications for public 
safety if unresolved

Non-compliance with 
legislation etc.  with 
significant risk to public 
safety if unresolved
Repeated failure to meet 
standards
Defect(s) Notice

Incidents leading to totally 
unacceptable levels of service 
Gross failure of public safety if 
results of investigation not 
acted on
Gross failure to meet legislation 
etc.

Statutory requirements No or minimal impact of 
breach or non-compliance 
on travelling public and/or 
road users

Single breach of legislation Multiple breaches or non-
compliance
Enforcement action
Defect(s) Notice
Suspension Notice

Multiple breaches of legislation
Prosecution

Adverse publicity/public 
concerns

Rumours
Potential for public 
concern

Local media coverage -
Short -long term reduction 
in public confidence
Elements of public 
expectation not being met

National media coverage - National media coverage



Page 4 of 8

TABLE 2 - Contraventions of Legislation, Conditions & Byelaws

List
No.

Section

Offence Level of 
risk

Operator Proprietor Driver 
TPCA LGMPA Byelaw 

and/or 
Conditio

n

1.
- 46 Operating a private hire vehicle 

without a private hire operator’s 
licence.

prosecute

2. 40 57
Giving false information on a 
licence application.

4 or
prosecute

3. 45 46(6)
Use of an unlicensed vehicle for 
hackney carriage or private hire 
purposes.

4 or 
prosecute

4.
46 – 55  

& 80

Private hire soliciting for hire or 
accepting a fare that is not pre-
booked.

4

5. Condition
Operating/using a vehicle that is 
not in a safe condition internally 
or externally.

4 

6. 64

Allowing a private hire vehicle to 
stand in such a position as to 
suggest that it is plying for hire 
or using a hackney carriage 
stand.

2

7. BL 7

Allowing a hackney carriage to 
stand in a position, not being a 
hackney carriage stand, to 
suggest that is plying for hire.

2

8. 57
Failure to advise of a relevant 
medical condition.

4

9.
BL 13

Condition

Conveying a greater number of 
passengers than permitted by 
the licence.

4 

10. Condition
Modifying a licensed vehicle 
without the consent of the 
Licensing Authority.

4 

11. 48
Driving with no insurance or 
inadequate insurance for the 
vehicle.

4 

12. Condition
Permitting the vehicle to be used 
for any illegal or immoral 
purposes.

4 

13. 73

Obstruction of authorised 
officers of the Licensing 
Authority or other enforcement 
agencies with relevant powers to 
request information within the 
Act. 

3



Page 5 of 8

List 
No.

Section
Offence

Level of 
risk

Operator Proprietor Driver 

TPC
A

LGMPA Byelaw 
and/or 

Conditio
n

14. 73

Failure to comply with a 
requirement of or give 
assistance to an authorised 
officer of the Licensing Authority 
or a police officer.

3

15. 44 55

Failure to notify the Licensing 
Authority of relevant change to 
licence details within the time 
specified in the associated 
licence conditions.

3  

16. 57
Failure of a licence holder to 
disclose convictions within 
seven days of conviction.

4

17. Condition
Failure to ensure the safety of 
passengers.

3 

18. - 46 -

Operating a hackney 
carriage/private hire vehicle with 
a driver not holding relevant 
licence or use of an unlicensed 
driver.

4

19. - 46 -
Operating an unlicensed vehicle 
as a private hire vehicle.

4
or 

prosecute

20.
BL 2

Condition
Concealing or defacing a vehicle 
licence plate.

3 

21. - 56 -
Failure of a private hire operator 
to keep proper records of all 
bookings.

2

22. - 56 -

Failure of a private hire operator 
to keep proper records of all 
private hire vehicle licences and 
driver licences.

3 

23. Condition 

Failure of a private hire operator 
to ensure that all vehicles 
operated by him are adequately 
insured.

3 

24. 47 46

A proprietor or driver of a 
licensed vehicle permitting or 
employing an unlicensed driver 
to drive a licensed vehicle.

3 
or

prosecute

25. 48 Condition

Failure of a proprietor (in every 
case) to retain in his/her 
possession a copy of the 
relevant driver’s licence that 
permits them to drive the 
licensed vehicle - i.e. each 
licence not retained is a 
separate offence. 

3  



Page 6 of 8

List 
No.

Section

Offence
Level of 

risk Operator Proprietor Driver TPC
A

LGMPA Byelaw 
and/or 

Condition

26. 48 - Condition

Failure of a proprietor to 
produce on request, by an 
authorised officer, any driver’s 
licence for whom has been 
permitted to drive the licensed 
vehicle.

3  

27. 47 Condition
Lending or parting with a 
hackney carriage or private hire 
driver’s licence.

3  

28. 47 46
Driving a licensed vehicle 
without the appropriate licence.

3 
or

prosecute

29. 60/ 46
Driving a licensed vehicle 
without the proprietor’s consent.

3 

30. 52 48
Failure to display the licence 
plate for a licensed vehicle.

3  

31.
54, 

55 & 
58

69 & 71
Overcharging disputes (more 
than set tariff of day or agreed 
rate for journey )

3  

32. 61

Failure to surrender a driver’s 
licence or badge on or after 
suspension, revocation, or 
refusal to renew.

3  
or 

prosecute
- - -

33. 58

Failure to return a plate after 
notice has been given following 
expiry, revocation, or 
suspension of a licensed 
vehicle.

3  
or 

prosecute
- - -

34. 56
Failure of a private hire operator 
to produce his licence upon 
request.

2 

35. 50
Failure to present a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle 
for inspection upon request.

2 

36. 50

Failure to provide information or 
documentation to the Licensing 
Authority within the time 
prescribed.

2 

37. 50
Failure to report an accident to 
the Licensing Authority within 
seventy two hours.

2 

38. 59 Condition
Carrying persons other than with 
the consent of the hirer.

2 

39. 60
Allowing another person to drive 
a hackney carriage without the 
proprietor’s consent.

3

40. 53 Condition
Refusal to take a fare without a 
reasonable excuse. 2

41. 54 BL 10
Failure to wear a private hire 
driver’s badge.

2 

42. 64

Permitting a private hire vehicle 
to wait on a hackney carriage 
rank.

3



Page 7 of 8

List 
No.

Section

Offence Level of 
risk

Operator Proprietor Driver TPC
A

LGMPA Byelaw 
and/or 

Condition

43.
BL 3

Condition

Drinking or eating in the vehicle 
whilst carrying passengers.

2

44. Condition
Failure to report an accident 
within seventy two hours.

2

45.
BL 9

Condition

Failure to attend on time for a 
pre-arranged appointment at the 
request of the Licensing 
Authority for interview without 
reasonable cause.

2 

46.
BL 11

Condition

Failure to give reasonable 
assistance with passenger’s 
luggage.

2 

47.
BL 2

Condition

Failure to display or maintain 
external plates as issued by the 
Licensing Authority or displaying 
them incorrectly e.g. in the 
window of a vehicle.

2 

48. 48
Affixing or displaying a roof sign 
on a private hire vehicle.

2 

49. Condition

Displaying a sign or 
advertisement on a licensed 
vehicle that does not satisfy the 
specification requirements or 
has not been approved by the 
Licensing Authority.

2 

50.
BL 5

Condition

Using a taxi-meter that does not 
conform to Licensing Authority 
requirements.

2

51. Condition

Failure of a private hire operator 
to obtain public liability 
insurance for the operating of 
premises if the public are 
allowed access.

2 

52. 50
Failure to produce a hackney 
carriage or private hire licence 
upon request.

3

53. Condition

Failure of a private hire operator 
to ensure that office staff act in a 
civil and courteous manner. 1 

54.
BL 3

Condition

Operating/using a vehicle that is 
not clean and tidy internally or 
externally.

1 

55. Condition

Failure to carry a first aid kit for 
personal use that has been 
approved by the Licensing 
Authority.

1 

56. 44 Condition

Failure to notify of a 
new/changed address and/or 
contact number within 14 days 
of change. 

1 

57. 49

Failure to notify the transfer of a 
vehicle licence within 14 days.

3



Page 8 of 8

List 
No.

Section

Offence Level of 
risk

Operator Proprietor Driver TPCA LGMPA Byelaw 
and/or 

Condition

58. 56 Travelling less than the lawful 
distance for an agreed fare.

1

59. 57
Failure to wait after a deposit to 
wait has been paid.

1

60. 62
Driver leaving a hackney 
carriage unattended.

1

61. 64
Hackney carriage driver 
obstructing other hackney 
carriages on ranks.

1

62. 69
BL 12 Unnecessarily prolonging a 

journey.
1 

63. Condition
Causing excessive noise from 
any radio or sound-reproducing 
equipment 

1 

64. Condition
Sounding the horn to signal that 
the vehicle has arrived -
disturbing residents 

1 

65.
BL 17

Condition

Failure to search a vehicle after 
a journey or failure to take found 
property to the police within forty 
eight hours of finding.

1 

66.
Any other breach(es) or 
contravention(s) of relevant 
legislation and/or Byelaws.

Between 
1 & 4



APPENDIX N

GROUNDS FOR APPEAL TO MAGISTRATES’ COURT

Page 1 of 1

C:\epc_temp\jobs\000000000071ACC3\Appendix B Policy Appendix N Grounds for appeal_v1.doc

1. Any person aggrieved by any conditions attached to a hackney carriage licence may 
appeal to a Magistrates’ Court under Section 47 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.

2. Any person aggrieved by the refusal of the Licensing Authority to grant a private hire 
vehicle licence, or by any conditions specified in such a licence, may appeal to a 
Magistrates’ Court under Section 48 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976.

3. Any person aggrieved by the refusal of the Licensing Authority to grant a licence to drive a 
private hire vehicle, or by any conditions attached to the grant of a driver’s licence, may 
appeal to a Magistrates’ Court under Section 52 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.

4. Any person aggrieved by the refusal of the Licensing Authority to grant a licence to operate 
private hire vehicles, or by any conditions attached to the grant of such a licence, may 
appeal to a Magistrates’ Court under Section 55 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.

5. Any person aggrieved by the refusal of the Licensing Authority to grant a licence to drive a 
hackney carriage on the ground that he is not a fit and proper person to hold such a licence 
may appeal to a Magistrates’ Court under Section 59 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

6. Any driver aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Authority to suspend, revoke or refuse 
to renew a licence for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle, may appeal to a 
Magistrates’ Court under Section 60 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976.

7. Any driver aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Authority to suspend, revoke or refuse 
to renew a licence to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle, may appeal to 
Magistrates’ Court under Section 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976.

8. Any operator aggrieved by a decision of the Licensing Authority to suspend, revoke or 
refuse to renew an operator’s licence, may appeal to a Magistrates’ Court under Section 62 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

Appeals must be lodged with the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of the date of the 
Licensing Authority’s decision.  The appeal must state the grounds upon which it is 
based.  















APPENDIX  P

SAFEGUARDING &
EXTREMISM & RADICALISATION

1. Human Trafficking and Child Sexual Exploitation 

Everyone is becoming aware of the well-publicised issues relating to child sexual 
exploitation and human trafficking that have occurred throughout the country. These 
are abhorrent crimes, and the Licensing Authority has a duty to assist the Hackney 
Carriages and Private Hire Trades and the public in tackling this issue, and to;

∑ protect those who are vulnerable and/or being exploited;
∑ assist Drivers and Operators to identify those who commit these crimes; and
∑ protect those who most need help. 

Contained within the Safeguarding Information Pack you will find information devoted 
to helping you as a licence holder or applicant to be aware of those who may be 
vulnerable or being exploited, and questions relating to this subject are posed within 
the Safeguarding Module of the Knowledge Test that all new applicants must 
undertake as part of the criteria for the grant of a licence. 

However, there is always more that can be done by everyone to help promote a 
better understanding of this subject.  The following should assist you in being able to 
identify those at risk, how to protect those who may be vulnerable or being exploited, 
how to ensure that your actions do not negatively contribute to such persons 
becoming victims, and to whom to report your concerns. 

What You Can Do To Help Those At Risk 

By following the ‘Good Safeguarding Practices’ below you will be helping to protect 
those who are vulnerable and/or being exploited. We need your help to bring to 
justice those who commit these crimes. 

∑ Consider at the point of booking if there are any vulnerability issues. This will 
allow you to prepare for the journey in the right way.

∑ Ask the person booking if an escort for the vulnerable passenger is required 
and if they are providing one.

∑ Let your head office know (or keep a record) of the time you picked up the 
vulnerable passenger, the time and place you dropped them off and whether 
there was any incident or anything significant on the journey.

∑ If you refuse to take a passenger inform someone that you can’t take them so 
they can deal with the person another way (e.g. hospital staff; family; security 
staff if a club/pub).

∑ Record incidents and refusals.
∑ Be professional - try not to be over-friendly or talk about personal or intimate 

issues, don't exchange personal contact information such as passenger's 
telephone numbers or Facebook address.

∑ Avoid swearing or aggressive behaviour.
∑ Do not touch passengers.
∑ Never accept an offer of a sexual favour instead of payment.



APPENDIX  P

∑ Make sure you are wearing ID, (your licence badge and if relevant, your 
company uniform).

∑ Sit lone passengers in the back unless otherwise agreed.
∑ Ask or explain to passengers if using a centralised locking system - don't just 

put it on without an explanation.
∑ DON'T ASSUME that your passenger wants help - ALWAYS ASK
∑ Never follow a passenger into the house unless previously agreed / properly 

authorised.
∑ ASK before making a journey shorter by going off the main roads/using 

isolated country roads, explain and give the passenger (or person booking) a 
choice of route.

∑ NEVER set off with a passenger without a specific destination address.
∑ NEVER double up on a booking – even if passengers are travelling in a 

similar direction, they may pose a threat or risk to the other passenger.
∑ If you think the passenger is afraid, offer to ring head office to tell them you 

have a passenger named XXXX with you and give the address and 
approximate time of arrival; this reassures the person that they are safe and 
someone is monitoring the trip.

∑ As with all professions, if you are concerned about another driver’s conduct,
report your concerns to your manager or the relevant agency.

∑ If you are an organisation, have a lead member of staff for safeguarding; this 
person should be able to advise colleagues about how to manage vulnerable 
passengers and any incidents arising.

∑ ALWAYS KEEP A RECORD either in your cab or at head office, of ANY 
incidents or situations you were not happy with – the record should include a 
description of what happened and what you did to keep yourself and your 
passenger safe.

Safeguarding is everyone's responsibility

If you are worried that someone is suffering abuse, contact Kent County Council to 
report your concerns:

∑ Concerned about a child - call 03000 41 11 11 (text relay 18001 03000 41 11 
11) or Online: Contact the KCC Social Services Team

∑ Concerned about an adult - call 03000 41 61 61 (text relay 18001 03000 41 
61 61) or Online: Contact the KCC Social Services Team

For out of hours and in an emergency call 03000 41 91 91.

If a child or adult is in immediate danger, always call 999.

2. Security incidents

Be alert

While it's important to go about your daily business normally, it's sensible to 
be alert to anyone who might be endangering the public.

∑ Always report anyone acting suspiciously. Your information may be vital.

http://windmz.dartford.gov.uk/ufs/ufsmain?formid=BP_EMAIL_DEPARTMENTS&DEPARTMENT_NAME=KCC%20Social%20Services&PASSED_IN_EMAIL=social.services@kent.gov.uk
http://windmz.dartford.gov.uk/ufs/ufsmain?formid=BP_EMAIL_DEPARTMENTS&DEPARTMENT_NAME=KCC%20Social%20Services&PASSED_IN_EMAIL=social.services@kent.gov.uk


APPENDIX  P

∑ If you come across anything that might be linked with terrorist activity, tell the 
police - they want to hear from you.

∑ Take note of odd or unusual behaviour by tenants or guests at a property -
terrorists need somewhere to live.

∑ Take note of any unusual security measures at a home or business premises.
∑ Be aware of terrorists' scams to finance their activities: e.g. bogus bank 

accounts, copied credit cards, returning goods for large cash refunds.
∑ Make sure you know the security plans at your workplace, and what to do in 

an emergency.

To report suspicious activity:

∑ Dial 999 in an emergency.
∑ Dial Kent Police on 101 for non-emergencies.
∑ Dial the anti-terrorist hotline on 0800 789 321.
∑ Contact Crimestoppers - a national organisation independent of the police. 

You can talk confidentially on 0800 555 111.

If there's a security incident

Follow the instructions of the emergency services. In most cases, including bomb 
warnings:

∑ Go in to a safe building.
∑ Stay in until you're advised to do otherwise.
∑ Tune in to local radio or TV for more information.

If there's an explosion nearby

Unless you've been advised otherwise by the emergency services, in most cases 
you should:
∑ Move away from the immediate source of danger.
∑ Wait for the emergency services to arrive and examine you (if you leave 

unchecked you could contaminate others).
∑ If you've seen the explosion, stay in a safe place and tell the police what you 

saw.

If the incident or explosion involves a chemical, biological, radiological or nuclear 
agent:

∑ the emergency services will quickly decontaminate you on the spot if 
necessary (this involves showering and temporary clothing), so that other 
people and areas, including homes, are not contaminated.

∑ you may also be assessed by health service experts.

If your building is evacuated

∑ If the emergency services tell you to evacuate your home you should do so. 
Refusing to leave will put you, your household and those trying to help you at 
risk.



APPENDIX  P

∑ Local authority resources may be limited, so you should try to stay with an 
emergency friend.

∑ If you're stranded, the Council will provide basic accommodation at a rest 
centre.

∑ Evacuation may be for some time, from a few hours to several months, so be 
sure to bring your emergency 'grab bag'.

∑ If you have pets, plan where they can stay, as there'll only be basic facilities at 
the rest centre.

∑ Rest centre staff are trained to give you support and advice. They'll help you 
through the stress of an evacuation and prepare you for what to do 
afterwards.



APPENDIX  Q

FOUND PROPERTY PROCEDURE

Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles 

1. The Driver shall at the end of each hiring, inspect the vehicle for any property 
left in the vehicle by the hirer and if found, immediately attempt to reunite the 
property with its owner.

2. Any property that into one or more of the following categories, must be taken 
directly to the nearest police station.

ÿ Items suspected of being used or the proceeds of a crime (including
drugs)

ÿ Pose a direct threat to the public (e.g. knives)
ÿ Contains personal details of the owner (e.g. passport)

3. If property cannot be immediately returned to the owner, or does not fall into 
one or more of the above categories, the Driver must contact the Licensing 
Authority within 48 hours, with a description of the property, location time and 
date property was found.

4. The Licensing Authority will maintaining a log of all found property and will 
arrange for the property to be reunited with the owner should they contact the 
Licensing Authority.

5. Drivers will keep a ‘Found Property log’ within the vehicle and details of any 
property should be clearly recorded in the log, stating the time, date and 
location of the found property together with a description.

6. Found property once recorded, should be securely stored and dealt with as 
follows:

ÿ Items of significant value, such as wallets, jewellery and cameras and 
lap tops, will be securely stored for a period of one month;

ÿ Individual sums of money found (not in a wallet or purse) will be 
securely stored and held for a period of three months;

ÿ Other items will be securely stored and held for a period of one month.

7. At the end of the retention periods, unclaimed property may be retained or 
donated to an authorised charity or disposed appropriately. Unclaimed sums of 
money may be donated to an authorised charity.





LICENSING COMMITTEE
14 MARCH 2017

D:\apps\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\8\AI00027886\$trwelnwv.doc 

REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS & INFORMAL 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE

1. Summary

1.1 To consider the response received from the Trade on the draft Hackney Carriage 
Byelaws during the informal consultation period and to recommend accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Trade’s responses to the informal consultation on the draft Hackney 
Carriage Byelaws, at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

2.2 That the Committee approves, in principal, the draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws, at 
Appendix B to the report and recommends accordingly to the General Assembly of 
the Council.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The current Hackney Carriage Byelaws were confirmed by the Secretary of 
State and became operative on 10 March 1975. These Byelaws relate solely to 
the licensed Hackney Carriage trade.

3.2 As the Byelaws have been in place for 42 years, their repeal and the making of 
new Byelaws are considered necessary to ensure that the Byelaws accurately 
reflect changes in legislation and updates to the Department of Transport’s 
(DfT) Model Byelaws, upon which the 1975 Byelaws are based.

3.3 Officers have been in informal discussions with the DfT on the Council’s 
proposals to replace the 1975 Byelaws with the current DfT Model Byelaws, but 
subject to some deviation in parts - more specifically relating to how the Council 
will deal with ‘found property’ and the inclusion of Byelaws relating to drivers 
notifying the Licensing Authority of any changes in their circumstances relating 
to the following, during the period of their licence:

(a) an injury or illness that degrades their standard of fitness;
(b)  motoring fixed penalty endorsements; and
(c) any arrests for offences of dishonesty, indecency or violence, drug or 

alcohol related matters.

Draft Byelaws 14 and 15 at Appendix B to the report deal with the change in 
circumstances and draft Byelaw 19 deals with ‘found property’ issues.  

3.4 Informal consultation on the draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws was carried out 
with the Hackney Carriage trade between 30 January 2017 and 26 February 



LICENSING COMMITTEE
24 MARCH 2017

2017. Responses were received from the Dartford Private Hire Drivers’ 
Association (DPHDA) and Nick Morris (NM) – All Night Cars, and are 
reproduced at Appendix A to the report.

3.5 The two typographical errors on page two and three pointed out by the DPHDA 
had previously been picked up and amended.

3.6 Both the DPHDA and NM are of the opinion that the introduction of Byelaws 14 
and 15 is not necessary as such matters are covered by Section 57 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (the 1976 Act).

3.7 Section 57 of the 1976 Act requires applicants to submit to the Licensing 
Authority such information as the Licensing Authority may reasonably consider 
necessary to enable it to determine whether the licence should be granted.

Licences are granted for a period of three years. Draft Byelaws 14 and 15 
relate to the submission of information during the period of the licence.  Section 
57 of the 1976 Act only covers the point in time at which a driver’s licence 
application is initially submitted. Introducing the requirements to update the 
Licencing Authority during the licence period allows the Licensing Authority to 
take appropriate action should it determine on the information submitted, that 
the driver is no longer a ‘fit and proper person’.   

3.8 The DPHDA has suggested that the DVLA Group 2 medical standard is an 
objective way of ascertaining whether a driver’s standard of fitness has been 
degraded by an injury or illness. This is agreed and draft Byelaw 14(b) has 
been amended accordingly. 

3.9 Both the DPHDA and NM are of the opinion that draft Byelaw 14(c), relating to 
advising the Licensing Authority of rented vehicles is unnecessary, as this 
information is covered by Sections 40 and 41 of the Town Police Clauses Act 
1847 and not currently requested from Hackney Carriage drivers.  

3.10 The information on rented vehicles is required to enable the Council to 
ascertain who is driving a vehicle at any given time as this would not only aid 
during investigations of complaints and enforcement action, but also as a 
safeguarding precaution.  The Committee is advised that should this Byelaw be 
adopted, the requirement for the submission of this information will be added to 
the application forms.

Sections 40 and 41 of the 1847 Act apply to the application process only.

3.11 The DPHDA and NM recommend that draft Byelaws 18 and 19 should be 
replaced with a Byelaw requiring lost property to be brought to the Council 
offices. 

3.12 The 1975 Byelaw 18 requires unclaimed ‘lost property’ to be left at the Council 
offices.  



LICENSING COMMITTEE
24 MARCH 2017

The response to the Policy consultation (referred to elsewhere on the agenda) 
took issue with the Council for deciding not to enforce the 1975 Byelaw 18 
principally on grounds of risk to security and questioned the powers for taking 
such a decision. 

The Policy’s Appendix L (para. 1.5) provides that any departure from the Policy 
must be exceptional, capable of justification, be fully considered and endorsed 
by Officers before the decision is taken.  The reasons for not enforcing Byelaw 
18 were considered by the Strategic Director (External Services), and 
endorsed.

3.13 A reference note to the DfT’s Model Byelaws permits the substitution of 
‘Council offices’ with ‘a police station in the district’ subject to an assurance that 
the police have consented to accepting such property.

In 2015, Kent Police announced that it would no longer accept ‘found/lost 
property’. However, the Police’s current position is:

“We will only accept found property if it fits one of the below categories: 

1. We believe it's related to crime (you can call us to check).
2. It poses a direct threat to the public (for example firearms, drugs, 

explosives, offensive weapons etc.).
3. It contains personal details relating to the owner.” 

3.14 Having raised the matter informally with the DfT and on the advice of the DfT, 
the Council has included draft Byelaw 19 (Appendix B to the report) requiring 
‘lost/found property’ linked to crime to be delivered to a police station. On the 
advice of the DfT, ‘lost/found property’ not linked to crime is to be dealt with 
through the procedure outlined in Appendix Q of the Statement of Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy.  

3.15 Under the Constitution, any decision relating to Byelaws is reserved to the 
General Assembly of the Council.  As such, the Committee will need to 
recommend to the GAC, the making of the new Hackney Carriage Byelaws, at 
Appendix B to the report.  

Should the GAC agree in principle to the making of the Bylaws, the DfT will be 
formally consulted and at the relevant stage in the process, the Council will 
publish its intention to apply to the DfT for confirmation (Section 236 Local 
Government Act 1972). Representations on the Council’s intention to apply for 
confirmation will addressed to the DfT.  Any representations will be referred by 
the DfT to the Council for consideration. 

The DfT may confirm, or refuse to confirm, any Byelaws and may fix the date 
on which the Byelaws are to come into operation.

The 1975 Hackney Carriage Byelaws will be repealed on the confirmation of the 
draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws at Appendix B to the report.



LICENSING COMMITTEE
24 MARCH 2017

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
 
The licensing function supports the Safer Communities theme of the Corporate 
Plan, specifically, strategic objective SC1: To use the Council’s statutory functions 
to increase public safety in the Borough.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications As detailed in the body of the report
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment The DfT may refuse to confirm the 

Byelaws

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultees’ responses
Appendix B – Draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

20.02.17 Joanne Philpott
Marie Kelly-Stone

Licensing
Legal Services

N/A



1 

 

  
Dartford Private Hire Drivers 

Association 

 

 

c/o 34 Canterbury Avenue, Sidcup, Kent DA15 9AS  
 

 07715 986 998 
 dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com 

 
Licensing Section 
Civic Centre  
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
DAI IDR 
  
Sent by email to Licensing@dartford.gov.uk 

 
17 February 2017 

 
Dear Sirs 

 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYLAWS CONSULTATION 

 

Herewith is the DPHDA’s response to the Hackney Carriages Byelaws Consultation Notice 

dated 23 January 2017. 

 

Typographical errors 
 

Page 2; last sub-para of Byelaw 4. Change ‘(e)’ to ‘(f)’. 
 
Page 3; first word of Byelaw 16(ii).  Change to ‘Where’. 
 

Introduction 
 
The draft byelaws conform to the July 2005 edition of the Department for Transport 
Guidance Notes and Model Byelaws given in ‘Button on Taxis Licensing Law and Practice 
Edn 3, Appendix II, Circular A2.10’.  However, two additional byelaws (Byelaws 14 and 15) 
have been added under the heading ‘Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors 
and drivers of hackney carriages plying within the district in their several employments, and 
determining whether such drivers shall wear any and what badges’. 
 
Consideration of Byelaw 14 
 
Byelaw 14 states: 
 

The driver of a hackney carriage shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of 
any alteration to his/her declared circumstances in relation to the following:- 
 
(a) name or address; 
(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her driving ability; 
(c) vehicle which he/she rents (if applicable). 
 

Consideration of 14(a) name or address 
When filling in an application form for a hackney carriage of private hire drivers licences, the 
applicant must provide his/her name and address and the licence is registered in the 
applicants name at that address.  If the driver ceases to live at the address specified in the 
licence application, the licence becomes invalid. 

mailto:dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com


2 

 

 
S57 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (LG(MP)A 1976), the 
Council has the power to require applicants to submit information.  Therefore, there appears 
to be no need for a byelaw. 
 
We consider Byelaw 14(a) to be unnecessary. 
 
Consideration of 14(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her driving ability 
Whilst the sentiment is appreciated, this condition is too vague in its present form. 
 
Further, for the reasons set out below, we consider that a byelaw is unnecessary.  Express 
powers already exist in primary legislation for dealing with this issue, therefore it can be dealt 
with by means of a licence condition. 
 
The following definition of a byelaw is taken from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government document: Communities in control: real people, real power - The making and 
enforcement of byelaws – Consultation August 2008: 

 
What is a byelaw? 
2.1  A byelaw is a law which is made by a body, such as a local authority, under an 
enabling power established by an Act of Parliament and which has been confirmed 
by the Secretary of State.  Byelaws generally require something to be done – or not 
to be done – in a particular location.  They are accompanied by a sanction or penalty 
for non-observance.  If validly made, byelaws have the force of law within the areas 
to which they apply.  Offences against byelaws attract a penalty fine which can, at 
present, only be enforced through the Magistrates’ Courts. 
 

2.2  Byelaws are not considered a suitable regulatory mechanism in cases where 
there are already express powers in primary legislation for dealing with an issue 
which is causing concern.  Where there are no such powers, byelaws should only be 
considered when all other avenues, such as voluntary schemes, have been 
exhausted. 

 
Under S57 of the LG(MP)A 1976, the Council has the power to require applicants to submit 
information. 
 
Sub-section 2(a)(i) deals specifically with the requirement for applicants to produce a 
certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to the effect that he is physically fit to 
be the driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle. 
 
In subsection 3 it goes on to state: 
 

If any person knowingly or recklessly makes a false statement or omits any material 
particular in giving information under this section, he shall be guilty of an offence. 

 
From this it is clear that there is already primary legislation enabling the Council to require 
applicants to provide a certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to the effect 
that he/she is physically fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle.  
Therefore, based on section 2.2 of the above definition of a byelaw, a byelaw is not 
considered a suitable regulatory mechanism. 
 
In an exchange of correspondence on this matter with the Head of Legal Services, her email 
dated 8 February 2017 contained the following statement: 
 

The Licensing Section’s response to your query is that whilst you are correct that 
drivers undertake a medical and this is used to determine if an applicant is ‘Fit and 



3 

 

Proper’ as a pre-requisite to the grant of a licence, this is only done every three 
years. Therefore, consideration needs to be given to addressing the in–between 
period. 

 
Like the DBS disclosure, the medical fitness report is one of the criteria used by the Council 
to determine whether an applicant for a hackney carriage or private hire drivers licence is a 
fit and proper person.  Both are required to be carried out every 31 years, this being the 
standard period for a driver’s licence. 
 
If during the term of his/her licence the driver fails to meet the required medical standard the 
Council must, depending on the circumstances, either suspend or revoke their licence. 
 
This is no different to the DBS disclosure where in the Council’s Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Licensing Policy 2017-20, the intervening period is covered by Condition 13 in 
both the Hackney Carriage and private Hire Licence Conditions. 
 
All that is required is to include a condition in both the hackney and private hire licence 
conditions. 
 
As there is primary legislation covering medical fitness and an identical situation exists with 
the DBS disclosure, which is not covered by a byelaw, we consider that the evidence 
provided supports the DPHDA’s conclusion that a byelaw is unnecessary and that medical 
fitness should be dealt with in the same way as the DBS disclosure. 
 
Consideration of the wording of 14(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her 
driving ability 
14(b) states: 
 

The driver of a hackney carriage shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of 
any alteration to his/her declared circumstances in relation to injury or illness, which 
may affect his/her driving ability. 
 

We have concerns about the wording of this condition. 

Does it refer to diagnosed injuries or illnesses for which a formal note from a medical 
practitioner would be required to facilitate the driver’s return to work, or does it mean self-
diagnosis, in which case every time a driver takes time off work for a minor ailment, it must 
be reported, or does it mean both? 

As with all things that there needs to be a standard to work to and the Council has adopted 
the DVLA Group 2 medical standard for determining a person’s fitness to drive a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle. 

How is this standard to be enforced for injury or illness that does not require the involvement 
of a medical practitioner? 

We suggest the requirement, which should be a licence condition, be amended to: 

The driver of a hackney carriage/private hire vehicle shall, within 7 days, notify the 
Council, in writing, of any an injury or illness that degrades their standard of fitness to 
be below the DVLA Group 2 medical standard and return their driver’s licence to the 
Council. 

                                                           
1
 Divers beyond the age of 70, are required to have a medical annually. 



4 

 

Drivers have a legal duty to notify the DVLA of any injury or illness that would have a 
likely impact on safe driving ability; but generally, do not need to notify the DVLA of 
conditions for which clinical advice has indicated less than 3 months of no driving. 

The Council will not reinstate the driver’s licence until he/she has sufficiently 
recovered and been declared fit to return to work by a qualified medical practitioner 
and, if necessary, the DVLA has reinstated his/her driving licence. 

 
Consideration of 14(c) vehicle which he/she rents (if applicable) 
What is the purpose of the byelaw? 

The application forms for a hackney carriage or a private hire drivers licence do not require 
the applicant to give details of the vehicle they will be driving. 

A driver rents a licensed vehicle does not become the proprietor or have any interest in the 
licence of that vehicle.  Therefore, how can the driver who has made no declaration of 
circumstances in relation to the vehicle to the Council report to any alteration? 

This condition seems more appropriate to a proprietor, in which case it is covered by   S40 
and S41 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 (TPCA 1847) and S57 of the LG(MP)A 1976 
and is not required. 

This byelaw should be removed. 

 
Consideration of Byelaw 15 
Byelaw 15 states: 
 

If a hackney carriage driver is arrested for an offence of dishonesty, indecency or 
violence, drug or alcohol related matters, the driver shall notify the Council in writing 
within 48 hours of the arrest. The driver shall further inform the Council of any 
motoring fixed penalty endorsements received, in writing within 7 days of receiving 
the endorsement. 
 

This byelaw relates to whether an applicant for a drivers licence is a fit and proper person. 
 
Before a licence is granted checks are carried out to ensure the applicant is a fit and proper 
person, e.g. DBS check, DVLA licence check, medical, etc.  If the applicant meets the fit and 
proper criteria a licence is awarded.  If during the term of the licence the driver fails to meet 
any of those criteria the he/she runs the risk the loss of their licence. 
 
This would again appear to be something that could be dealt with under S57 of the LG(MP)A 
1976? 
 
Consideration of Byelaw 19 
 
Background 
Made under the heading ‘Provisions Securing the Safe Custody and Redelivery of Any 
Property Accidentally Left in Hackney Carriages, and Fixing the Charges to Be Made in 
Respect Thereof’, Byelaw 18, which draft byelaw 19 is intended to replace, states: 
 
18. Every proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left 

therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or 
handed to him: 
 
(i) carry it within twenty-four hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its 

owner, to the office of the Council, and leave it in the custody of the officer in 
charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it; 

 



5 

 

(ii) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-
delivered an amount equal to five new pence in the pound of its estimated 
value (or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to the office of the 
Council, whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

 
Byelaw 18 appears in both the current and previous editions of the Councils Hackney 
Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy, and in the draft Policy 1 April 2017 – 31 March 
2020, which finished the public consultation phase on 13 January 2017. 
 
Note that Byelaw 18(i) requires property found in a hackney carriage to be delivered into the 
custody of the Council within 24 hours.  Yet in all editions the of the Policy, the Conditions of 
Licence for Hackney Carriage Drivers and those for Private Hire Drivers it state: 
 

The driver shall at the end of each hiring inspect the licensed vehicle for any property 
inadvertently left in the vehicle, if any property is found carry it as soon as possible, 
and in any event within 48 hours, to a Police Station in the district and leave it in the 
custody of an Officer on his giving a receipt for it. 

 
Whist these conditions do not correspond with the Byelaw 18(i) they do provide a place of 
safe custody for all property handed in at a police station.  However, as will be seen in 
Annex A, the DPHDA’s comments on this matter that were submitted in response to the 
Policy public consultation, this changed when Kent Police limited the property they would 
accept to property that is believed to be related to a crime, poses a direct threat to the public, 
or contains personal details relating to the owner. This resulted in the Licensing Section in its 
October 2015 Newsletter informing drivers: 
 

If lost property is found you should contact the Licensing Officer who may have been 
contacted and have details of the owner.  However, the Council will not be 
collection/storing lost property. 

 
This action has prevented drivers from complying with Byelaw 18(i). 
 
Byelaw 19 states: 
 

19 The proprietor or driver of a hackney carnage shall, if any property accidentally left 
therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or 
handed to him, which the driver believes to be related to a crime, poses a direct 
threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner; 
 

(a) carry it a s soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and 
leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a 
receipt for it; and 
 

(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be 
redelivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value 
(or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to a Police station, 
whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds. 

 
 

Comparison of Byelaws 18 and 19 
It will be seen that Byelaw 18 requires all property to be delivered into the custody of the 
Council within 24 hours.  This very effective one-stop-shop arrangement because: 
 

a. time is allowed for the driver to try and arrange to restore the property to the 
owner; 

 



6 

 

b. safe custody is provided for property that the driver has been unable to 
identify or make contact the owner; 

 
c. it enables the owner to contact the Council to find out if their property has 

been handed in. 
 

d. if the property has not been handed in but owner has details of the vehicle or 
driver, particularly licence numbers, the Council is in the best position to help. 

 
Bylaw 19 requires the property to be delivered to a police station in the district and limits the 
type of property to that which the driver believes to be related to a crime, poses a direct 
threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner. 
 
This raises the question of what happens to the property that the police will not accept. 
 
In an email dated 4 February 2017 the Head of Legal Services provided the following 
information to the DPHDA in relation to the Council’s deliberations on how to proceed with 
Byelaw 19(a): 
 

Byelaw 19 - You are all too aware of the discussions that have ensued between us 
on the issue concerning found property.  The Licensing Authority has numerous 
concerns regarding the delivery to it and acceptance of found property and wished to 
place the obligation on drivers/proprietors to make reasonable attempts to locate the 
rightful owner of found property. The DfT’s response ‘… the Council may wish to 
consider amending the byelaw, so that it reflects the circumstances in which 
lost property could be handed into the police station…. and provide for all 
other types of property within its policy document. For e.g. its byelaws could say 
something along the lines of:- 
  

“The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property 
accidentally left therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the 
carriage be found by or handed to him, which the driver believes to be related 
to a crime; poses a direct threat to the public, or contains personal details 
relating to the owner: 
  
(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 

claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and 
leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a 
receipt for it; 

 
As will be seen from the highlighted text, the circumstances in which lost property could be 
handed into the police station has been covered; but no proposal has been made to 
“provide for all other types of property within its policy document.” 
 
Surely if it requires a byelaw to deal with property the police will accept, it will require a 
byelaw for how to deal with the property that the police will not accept. 
 
Conclusion and recommendations in relation to Byelaw 19 
It is clear from the action taken by the Council in October 2015 and the discussions between 
the DPHDA and the Council, that the Council is determined to divest itself of all responsibility 
for dealing with lost property. 
 
This desire has been so great that the Council has taken no action to provide drivers with 
guidance on the legal liabilities associated with dealing with lost property nor on how to 
recognise and deal with property that may pose a direct threat to the public. 
 



7 

 

As the Council appears to be determined to push draft Byelaw 19(a) through, the DPHDA 
would request that the Council faces up to its moral obligations to the public and the trade 
and: 
 

a. make a byelaw for how all other types of property that the police will not accept are to 
be dealt with; 
 

b. provide drivers and proprietors with guidance on the legal liabilities associated with 
dealing with lost property; 
 

c. provide drivers and proprietors with guidance on how to recognise and deal with 
property that may pose a direct threat to the public. 

 
Comment on the Consultation 
The consultation should have been based on the draft of the documentation prepared by 
Legal Services for submission to the DfT for provisional approval of the byelaws.  Those that 
have taken the time and trouble to comment would then have been in a better position to 
assess the Council’ proposals. 
 
That concludes the DPHDA’s comments. 

 
(electronic signature) 
A G P Shilling 
Chair DPHDA 

 



A1 

 

Annex A 
 

DPHDA’s Comments on Byelaw 18(i) Submitted in Response to the Public Consultation on 
the Draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 

 
2. Byelaws 

 
2.1. DP17-20, Page 17; Section 12; Byelaws & Conditions of Licence 

 
2.1.1. Reproduced below are sections 12.1, 12.2 and 12.5 of Section 12 of DP17-20. 

 
12.1  On 30 March 1977, the Licensing Authority adopted local Byelaws in respect of 
Hackney Carriages (APPENDIX O). 
 
12.2  The Byelaws are currently under review in accordance with DFT guidelines. Until 
the new Byelaws have been agreed the current Byelaws will remain in force. 
 
12.5  Failure to comply with Conditions and/or Byelaws may result in the Licence Holder 
being prosecuted by the Licensing Authority and may call into question the Licence 
Holder’s fitness to hold a Licence. 
 

2.1.2. What is not mentioned in the DP17-20 is the fact that in a newsletter dated October 2015, 
circulated to holders of HC and PH licenses, the Council’s Licensing Section announced 
that: 
 

Drivers will need to ensure that they check the vehicles carefully at the end of each 
journey for any lost property that may have been behind as Police Stations are no 
longer taking lost property. 
If lost property is found you should contact the Licensing Officer who may have 
been contacted and have details of the owner.  However, the Council will not be 
collection/storing lost property. 

 
2.1.3. The refusal of Council to accept lost property prevents drivers from complying with Byelaw 

18(i). 
 

2.1.4. Attached (Annex A) is a copy of the DPHDA’s letter to the Head of Legal dated 3 July 2016.  
It makes the case that the Licensing Committee does not have the delegated authority to 
prevent compliance with Byelaw 18(i). 
 

2.1.5. In her letter dated 23 March 2016, the Head of Legal Services, states that: 
 

Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers the Council to bring 
proceedings for the promotion or protection of the interests of inhabitants in its area, 
where this is considered expedient by the Council. This is a matter of professional 
judgement. A decision by the Council as to whether or not to initiate legal proceedings 
for a breach of a Hackney Carriage Byelaw is therefore a matter of discretion.  The 
issue of delegation/constitution has no bearing on the matter. 

 
2.1.6. Again in her email dated 28 July 2016 Mrs Kelly-Stone states: 

 
As I have previously explained, the expediency of taking enforcement is a matter of 
professional judgement.   The Section 222 Local Government Act 1972 power to 
prosecute or defend legal proceedings would require the appropriate delegation 
under Section 101 of the Act. However, where Officers have exercised their 
professional judgement not to pursue legal action, there is no legal requirement for 
this decision to be taken under delegated powers. 
 



A2 

 

2.1.7. Regarding officers exercising their professional judgement in deciding whether to 
prosecute; as the licensing conditions set by the Council have required drivers to take lost 
property to a police station, the officers of the Council have no way of knowing whether 
there have been any contraventions of Byelaw 18(i).  So, how can professional judgement 
be exercised on whether to prosecute in the absence of any evidence if non-compliance? 
 

2.1.8. If Byelaw 18(i) is complied with, no offence is committed.  If an offence is committed the 
decision whether to prosecute will depend on the circumstances.  If the breach had little or 
no impact, then it could be dealt with under the penalty points scheme.  However, if the 
customer’s health had been put at risk and the breach could have been avoided, then, to 
encourage compliance with the Byelaw, prosecution would be appropriate.  The decision on 
whether to prosecute is based on ensuring compliance with the Byelaw to protect the public 
interest. 
 

2.1.9. The Licensing Committee has delegated to the Head of Legal Services “Authority to 
prosecute for offences under the Relevant Legislation.  However, it has not delegated to 
her the power to prevent compliance with the relevant legislation, not does it have the 
power to. 

 
2.1.10. An email from the Head of Legal Services dated 28 August 2016 contained an attachment 

that provided a copy of the notes made by the Strategic Director (External Services) at a 
meeting with the Senior Licensing officer and the Manager Enforcement and Regulatory 
Services on 4 November 2015 and a copy of her recollections of the gist of the discussions 
dated 4 August 2016 (Annex B). 

 
2.1.11. In her notes the Strategic Director (External Services) states that, to her knowledge, Byelaw 

18(i) has never been enforced and that is has been custom and practice for lost property to 
be taken to a police station and left with the Police.  She goes on to say that difficulty arose 
when Kent Police changed its policy on lost property. 
 

2.1.12. This situation could have been avoided if action had been taken to review the situation 
earlier, as Department for Transport Guidance Notes and Model Byelaws Dated July 2005 
provide the following option for the place of safe custody: 

 
It may be desired to substitute “a police station in the district”.  In this case, an 
assurance will be required that the consent of the police has been obtained. 
 

Regarding the change in Kent Police’s policy on lost property, it must be appreciated that 
there was no restriction on who could deposit lost property at a police station.  Further, 
there is no statutory obligation for the police to accept lost property; whereas Byelaw 18(i) 
is specific to hackney carriage drivers and in making it, the Council has placed upon itself a 
statutory obligation to provide safe custody for property accidentally left in hackney 
carriages. 
 

2.1.13. The Strategic Director (External Services’) notes contend that providing safe custody for 
lost property an onerous task, but as the Council has no experience of dealing with it they 
have no idea.  However, the Kent Police Control Point based in the Civic Centre were 
accepting lost property and will no doubt continue to do so if it meets their current criteria. 
 

2.1.14. Her notes go on to say that her biggest concern is the security of the Civic Centre and the 
safety of the staff, the reason being that 

 
“in the current climate, it being known that the Council takes in items (bags, packages, 
mobile phones, etc.) belonging to unidentified persons would put the building and 
everyone in it at risk.” 

 



A3 

 

2.1.15. However, her notes made at the 4 November 2015 meeting make no mention of the 
security threat, nor was it mentioned in the letters dated 4 November and 2 December 2015 
sent to the DPHDA by the Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager. 
 

2.1.16. If the risks are so great, how is unidentified property found in the Civic Centre dealt with, 
and why are there no security checks of the bags, packages, mobile phones, etc. carried by 
people entering the Civic Centre?  
 

2.1.17. Either the safety of hackney carriage drivers is of no concern to the Council, or else it is 
scaremongering.  If the risks are so great, then it is reasonable to expect that officers would 
have provided advice on the precautions drivers should take when handling property that 
appears to have been accidentally left in their vehicles.  The fact that no attempt has been 
made to provide such advice, suggests that the threat to life and property is being used by 
the Council as a convenient excuse to avoid its obligations under Byelaw 18(i). 
 

2.1.18. The 4 August 2016 notes end stating that she has been advised by Legal that the Council 
has absolute discretion not to enforce the byelaw; but like every other response it’s just an 
unsupported statement; it does not state the source of that empowerment and the 
conditions that must be met to satisfy its use. 

 
2.1.19. Recommendation: If there is to be a credible HC & PH Licensing Policy that has the 

respect of the trade and other stake holders; it is important that the Council takes on the 
responsibilities it imposed on itself when making the Byelaw 18(i).  The DPHDA therefore 
requests that the Council complies with its statutory obligations under the byelaw and in 
accordance with its Licensing Policy. 



Annex A 

A 4 
 

  
Dartford Private Hire Drivers 

Association 

 

 

c/o 34 Canterbury Avenue, Sidcup, Kent DA15 9AS  
 

 07715 986 998 
 dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com 

 

 
Marie Kelly-Stone 
Head of Legal Services 
Dartford Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
DA1 1DR 

 
By mail: 
marie.kellystone@dartford.gov.uk  
 

 
Your Ref: PMKS/EH13el 

 
Date:  3 July 2016 

 

Dear Mrs Kelly-Stone 
 
RE: THE DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL STATEMENT OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 01 APRIL 2014 – 31 MARCH 2017 - HACKNEY 
CARRIAGE BYELAW – LOST PROPERTY 
 
Thank you for your letter dated 21 June 2016 in which you state that consideration is being given 
to repealing and replacing the current byelaws with the DfT’s latest model byelaws, subject to DfT 
to approval.  That being the case, why did you not simply answer ‘Yes’ to the points on which I 
sought confirmation in my letter to you dated 29 October 2015. 
 
Unfortunately, you seem to have lost sight of the issue I was contesting, and the responses I have 
received from both you and Mark Salisbury have failed to address the questions I have raised and 
my arguments refuting the claims made by each of you.  It is therefore necessary for me to make 
an irrefutable case. 
 
Background 
 
The following statement appeared in the Licensing Section’s October 2015 Newsletter: 
 

Drivers will need to ensure that they check the vehicle carefully at the end of each journey 
for any property that may have been left behind as Police stations are no longer taking lost 
property. 
 
If lost property is found you should contact the Licensing Officer who may have been 
contacted and have details of the owner.  However the council will not be collecting/storing 
lost property. 

 
In a letter to you, dated 29 October 2015, I asked: 
 

Would you please confirm that with the exception of Byelaw 15, the Byelaws reproduced in 
Appendix O of the subject document; hereafter referred to as the Policy) are extant. 

 

mailto:dartfordphdriversassociation@gmail.com


Annex A 

A 5 
 

If the Byelaws are extant, would you please confirm that under Byelaw 18(i) the Council 
must accept and issue a receipt for lost property handed in at its offices by a hackney 
carriage proprietor or driver. 
 

My enquiry was answered by Mark Salisbury in a letter dated 4 November 2016 in which he stated: 
 

Dartford Borough Council have taken the decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) but have 
encouraged Hackney carriage drivers or proprietors to contact the Licensing Team so that 
they can take a note of the found property or, indeed, confirm that the loss has, in fact, 
been reported to them from the owner. 

 
In my reply to Mr Salisbury dated 1 December 2015 I asked him to respond to the following 
questions in order to ascertain the reason for this decision and on whose authority it was taken: 
 

 What is the scale of the problem, where is the supporting data and how was it assessed? 
 

 Where is the assessment of the impact on hackney carriage drivers/proprietors (particularly 
legal liabilities) and members of the public? 
 

 Where is the cost benefit analysis? 
 

 Where the case paper and supporting considerations and data?  
 

 Who took the decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) and when was it taken? 
 

 What authority does the Council have to repeal or amend a byelaw without making a formal 
application made to the appropriate Department of State? 

 

 Why has there been no consultation? 
 

 What advice does the Council propose to give to hackney carriage drivers/proprietors with 
regard to the legal liabilities and responsibilities for dealing with lost property? 

 
I also sought answers to these same questions from you in my letter dated 13 March 2016.  They 
remain unanswered. 
 
Conditions and Byelaws 
 
The Dartford Borough Council Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 01 
April 2014 – 31 March 2017 (hereafter referred to as the Policy) was approved by the Licensing 
Committee on 25 March 2014. 
 
The Policy makes provisions for securing the safe custody of any property accidentally left in 
hackney carriages of private hire vehicles.  These are set out in: 
 

Appendix E:  Hackney Carriage Driver Licence Conditions - Condition 16; 
 
Appendix F:  Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions – Condition 16; 
 
Appendix O:  Byelaws for Hackney Carriages – Byelaw 18(i). 

 
Condition 16 of both the Hackney Carriage and the Private Hire Driver Licenses, is the same and is 
given below: 
 



Annex A 

A 6 
 

The Driver shall at the end of each hiring, inspect the vehicle for any property left in the 
vehicle by the hirer and if found, within 48 hours, deliver the ‘lost property’ to a police 
station in the Borough of Dartford and obtain a signed and dated receipt from the police. 

 
Hackney Carriage Byelaw 18(1) requires that: 
 

18. Every proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left 
therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage, be found by, or 
handed to him: 

 
(i) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 24 hours, if not sooner 

claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to the office of the Council and leave it in 
the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it. 

 
It can be seen that the nominated place of safe custody in Condition 16 is ‘a police station in the 
Borough’ to which the driver must deliver property within 48 hours; whilst in Byelaw 18(1) the 
nominated place of safe custody is the ‘office of the Council’ to which the property must be 
delivered within 24 hours if not sooner claimed. 
 
Licensing authorities can attach conditions to private hire drivers’ licenses under Section 51(2) 
(Licensing of drivers of private hire vehicles) of the LG(MP)A 1976 which states: 
 

A district council may attach to the grant of a licence under this section such conditions as 
they may consider reasonably necessary. 
 

However, there is no such provision within the Act for hackney carriage drivers’ licenses. 
 
Conditions and Byelaws for Hackney Carriage Drivers Outside London are discussed in Chapter 
10; Sections 10.64 – 10.77, and Appendix ll; A2.10:  Hackney Carriage Byelaws – Guidance Notes 
and Model Byelaws (Dft July 2005) of ‘Button on Taxis Licensing Law and Practice (3rd Edition)’.  It 
considers various cases and arguments as to whether a licensing authority can legally attach 
conditions to a hackney carriage driver’s licence.  However, what is of note is Section 10.70.3 
which states: 
 

It appears to have been accepted amongst local licensing authorities that the judgement in 
the case of Wathan v Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council [2002 EWHC 1634] 
established a principal that there was no power available in law to attach conditions to a 
hackney carriage driver’s licence. 
 

Dartford Borough Council appear to have subscribed to this view, as the Byelaws for Hackney 
Carriages in Appendix O of the Policy were confirmed on 10 March 1975 and conform with the 
Model Byelaws contained in the Guidance Notes and Model Byelaws (Dft July 2005). 
 
Section 1.4 of the Policy states: 
 

This Policy is an authoritative statement of the Licensing Authority’s interpretation of the law 
relating to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle licensing and its powers under the 
Relevant Legislation. In all cases of interpretation of this Policy, proper consideration will be 
given to the relevant statutory provisions, which will take precedence. 
 

Byelaw 18(i) is a statutory provision; therefore, it takes precedence over Condition 16 of the 
Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence Conditions. 
 
This proves that Condition 16 of the Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence Conditions is invalid.  
Therefore, it should be revoked by the Licensing Committee in accordance with the Policy’s non-
substantial amendment procedure. 
 



Annex A 

A 7 
 

 
 
Making and Repealing Byelaws 
 
The legal position with regard to byelaws, as set out in my letter to you dated 6 June 2016, is as 
follows: 
 

S235 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers a council to make byelaws 
which must be confirmed by the Secretary of State. 
 
S236B of the Act (Revocation of byelaws) enables a council to make a byelaw to 
revoke a byelaw it had been made previously.  Here again the new byelaw must be 
confirmed by the Secretary of State 
 
Under S236B(5) of the Act, the Secretary of State may, in relation to England, by 
order revoke any byelaw which appears to him to have become spent, obsolete or 
unnecessary. 

 
As byelaws create criminal offences, S222 of the Act, which comes under the sub-heading 
Legal Proceedings, empowers the Council to initiate legal proceedings for breaches of the 
Byelaw.  Whether or not it is in the public interest to initiate legal proceedings will have to 
be decided on a case by case basis. 
 

You appear to concur with my assessment in your letter dated 21 June 2016 in which you refer me 
to the third paragraph of her letter dated 23 March 2016 which states: 

 
Consideration is being given to repealing the Hackney Carriage Byelaws and replacing 
these with the most up to date model produced by the Department for Transport, but 
excluding the ‘lost property’ Byelaw.  The issue of repeal and replacement (subject to DfT 
confirmation), will be a decision of the Council on the recommendation of the Licensing 
Committee (the Committee to be convened in or around the beginning of June). 

 
However, the fourth paragraph of your letter states: 
 

Similar ‘lost property’ requirements are referred to respectively, in the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Diver Licence Conditions.  As these Conditions were approved by the 
Licensing Committee [25 March 2014], the issue of deleting the Conditions will be a matter 
for the Committee. 

 
You appear to have failed to appreciate that these parts of the policy do not conform with Section 
1.4 of the policy as Bylaw 18(i) takes precedence and invalidates Condition 16 of the Hackney 
Carriage Drivers Licence.  Condition 16 should replicate the Byelaw. 
 
Delegated Powers 
 
The Licensing Committee’s delegated powers for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire licensing are 
set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution under the heading Terms of Reference (for 
Committees) and are given in my letter to you dated 6 June 2016. 
 
They are limited to the licensing of:  
 

hackney carriages and private hire vehicles; 
 
drivers of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles; 
 
operators of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles: 
 



Annex A 

A 8 
 

in accordance with the specified Acts and Statutory Instruments. 
 
Delegations to officers are set out in Section 8 (Officer Delegated Authority) of the Policy.  
 
The Licensing Committee, and hence officers with delegated authority, have no express powers to 
make byelaws and no express discretionary powers to change the provisions of byelaws. 
 
This is confirmed in the third paragraph of your letter dated 23 March 2016 where states: 
 

The issue of repeal and replacement (of byelaws) (subject to DfT confirmation), will be a 
decision of the Council on the recommendation of the Licensing Committee. 
 

This makes it clear that any proposed change to a byelaw will require a case to be presented to the 
Council through the Licensing Committee. 
 
Enforcement 
 
In a letter dated 2 December 2015, which was based on advice received from the Council’s Legal 
Department, Mark Salisbury’s states: 
 

If the Council chooses not to enforce the byelaw, then that simply means that the drivers no 
longer have to comply with it and they no longer risk being prosecuted for any breach. 

 
Compare this statement with the second paragraph of your letter of dated 23 March 2016 which 
states: 
 

Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers the Council to bring proceedings 
for the promotion or protection of the interests of inhabitants in its area, where this is 
considered expedient by the Council. This is a matter of professional judgement. A decision 
by the Council as to whether or not to initiate legal proceedings for a breach of a Hackney 
Carriage Byelaw is therefore a matter of discretion.  The issue of delegation/constitution 
has no bearing on the matter. 

 
The comparison shows that the professional judgement was to abandon the interests of the 
inhabitants of the area.  This is because without enforcement, there is no possibility of initiating 
legal proceedings for breach of the byelaw and therefore there can be no requirement for 
discretion. 
 
Further, the issue of delegation constitution does have a bearing on the matter; because neither 
the Licensing Committee nor officers have the delegated authority to do anything other than to 
comply with the provisions of the byelaws that the Council has made. 
 
Conclusions 
 
Consideration is being given to repealing the Hackney Carriage Byelaws and replacing these with 
the most up to date model produced by the DfT.  A Council decision on whether or not to adopt 
them will be made based on the recommendation of the Licensing Committee a meeting of which 
was expected to be convened in or around the beginning of June 2016.  However, until such time 
as the new byelaws are confirmed, it is clear that the existing byelaws remain extant. 
 
The powers delegated to the Licensing Committee, and hence those delegated to officers, are to 
licence and enforce in accordance with the relevant legislation.  It has no power to amend byelaws 
as this can only be done through the Council by the making of another byelaw in accordance with 
S236B of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
Byelaws are made to meet specific policy objectives.  The policy objective which covers Byelaw 18 
is: 



Annex A 

A 9 
 

 
Provisions for securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in 
hackney carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof. 
 

Mark Salisbury in his letter dated 4 November 2016 states: 
 

Dartford Borough Council have taken the decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) 
 
In the Enforcement section above, a comparison of the statement made by Mark Salisbury in his 
letter dated 2 December 2015 with that made by you in your letter dated 23 March 2016, shows 
that because the Council would not accept lost property from hackney carriage drivers, they would 
not face prosecution.  Therefore, the professional judgement referred to by you was to abandon 
the interests of the inhabitants of the area.  This is because without enforcement, there is no 
possibility of initiating legal proceedings for breach of the byelaw; therefore, there can be no 
requirement for discretion. 
 
A decision not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) by preventing compliance with it, would need to have been 
approved by the Council on the recommendation of the Licensing Committee.  This would have 
had to have been managed under the substantial amendment procedure of the Policy and in 
accordance with the procedures for making byelaws.  This would require consultation and a case 
made and submitted to the Licensing Committee who would decide on whether or not it should be 
submitted to the Council.  Had such a case been made, officers would have been able to answer 
the questions asked in my letter dated 1 December 2015. 
 
It is clear that Mark Salisbury’s claim that the Council had decided not to enforce Byelaw 18(i) is 
without foundation because Byelaw 18(i) had not been repealed.  Further, the delegations to the 
Licensing Committee and hence to Officers make no provision for non-compliance with byelaws.  
Therefore, the Licensing Section acted improperly in publishing the statement relating to lost 
property in their October 2015 Newsletter. 
 
Officers have failed to appreciate that the Council has accepted that conditions can only be 
attached to a Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence by means of byelaws.  They have also failed to 
take note of Section 1.4 of the Policy which states that statutory provisions will take precedence 
over any other provisions. 
 
Action 
 
As you expect the new model byelaws and an alternative way of dealing with lost property to be 
introduced shortly, I would suggest that the most amicable way of dealing with the problems arising 
from Byelaw 18(i) is to amend Condition 16 of Appendixes E and F of the Policy to conform with 
the Byelaw.  These changes and the forthcoming changes to byelaws can be communicated to the 
hackney carriage and private hire trades in a Licensing Section Newsletter. 
 
I doubt that the changes to Condition 16 of Appendixes E and F of the Policy will cause an 
appreciable increase administrative work as in the 5 years I was Licensing Officer (Vehicles), I had 
only two pieces of property handed in.  The first was a large cool box full of used disposable 
nappies that was left at the reception by a driver who, unsurprisingly, did a drop and dash.  This 
was disposed of after a couple of days on health and safety grounds.  The second was an 
envelope containing a passport application that the driver insisted on handing to me personally.  I 
dealt with this in accordance with Byelaw 18(i) by issuing the driver a letter that gave details of the 
property and an acknowledgement that I had received it. The matter was resolved the same day. 
 
 
If it would help matters, I am more than willing to meet with you and Mr Salisbury to discuss the 
way forward on this matter and be brought up to date on what is happening with the repeal and 
replacement of the current byelaws. 
 



Annex A 

A 10 
 

Yours sincerely 

 
A G P Shilling 
 
 

Copy to (by email) 
Cllr A Bardoe     Licensing Committee Chairman 
Mark Salisbury    Manager Enforcement & Regulatory Services 



 

A 11 
 

 

 

 



 

A 12 
 

 



 
 
 

ALL NIGHT CARs ltd 
ALL VEHICLES HAVE GPS TRACKING AND DATA DESPATCH FOR A 

FASTER, SAFER & MORE RELIABLE SERVICE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS 
 

RADIO CONTROLLED              24 HOUR SERVICE 
 

 
 

47 Hythe Street, Dartford, Kent DA1 1BG 
Telephone Bookings:          01322 221100 
                                 Fax:           01322 222090 

www.allnightcars.co.uk 
 

 

Licensing Section 

Civic Centre  

Home Gardens 

Dartford 

DAI IDR 

  

Sent by email to Licensing@dartford.gov.uk 

 

    25 February 2017 

 

Dear Sirs 

CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED HACKNEY CARRIAGE BYELAWS 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the proposed hackney carriage byelaws. 

I note the claim that the byelaws are consistent with the model byelaws and DfT advice.  I also note 

that the current byelaws are consistent with the Department for Transport Guidance Notes and 

Model Byelaws July 2005.  However, when in 2015 Kent Police limited the type of lost property 

they would handle, the Council failed to take responsibility for accepting lost property in 

accordance with Byelaw 18(i). 

What faith can the trade and the public have the Council fails to accept its responsibilities under a 

byelaw that it made to protect interests the trade and the public? 

I am satisfied that, except for Byelaws 14, 15 and 19, the byelaws conform to the model byelaws. 

In reviewing the proposed byelaws, I have found the following definition of a byelaw most useful.  

It appears in ‘Communities in control: real people, real power The making and enforcement of 

byelaws Consultation’ dated 2008. 

What is a byelaw? 

2.1 A byelaw is a law which is made by a body, such as a local authority, under an 

enabling power established by an Act of Parliament and which has been confirmed 

by the Secretary of State. Byelaws generally require something to be done – or not 

to be done – in a particular location. They are accompanied by a sanction or penalty 

for non-observance. If validly made, byelaws have the force of law within the areas 

to which they apply. Offences against byelaws attract a penalty fine which can, at 

present, only be enforced through the Magistrates’ Courts. 

 

2.2 Byelaws are not considered a suitable regulatory mechanism in cases where there 

are already express powers in primary legislation for dealing with an issue which 

is causing concern. Where there are no such powers, byelaws should only be 

considered when all other avenues, such as voluntary schemes, have been exhausted. 

http://www.allnightcars.co.uk/


 

2.3 As a general principle, it is for an authority to decide the necessary and appropriate 

byelaws for its area. Authorities are expected to consult any interested parties and to 

consider their views before making and advertising byelaws. 

 

Byelaws 14 and 15 

Byelaw 14 states: 

The driver of a hackney carriage shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of any 

alteration to his/her declared circumstances in relation to the following: 

(a) name or address; 

(b) injury or illness, which may affect his/her driving ability; 

(c) vehicle which he/she rents (if applicable). 

Byelaw 15 states: 

If a hackney carriage driver is arrested for an offence of dishonesty, indecency or violence, 

drug or alcohol related matters, the driver shall notify the Council in writing within 48 hours 

of the arrest. The driver shall further inform the Council of any motoring fixed penalty 

endorsements received, in writing within 7 days of receiving the endorsement. 

These byelaws do not appear in the model byelaws so why is there a need for them? 

If I am to be consulted on proposals put forward by the Council, I need to know why the proposals 

are made.  I also need to know that there is no other legislation that already covers it. 

Both these byelaws appear under the heading: Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors 

and drivers of hackney carriages plying within the district in their several employments, and 

determining whether such drivers shall wear any and what badges. 

Byelaw 14(a) and 14(b) both appear to be covered by 2(a) and 2(b) respectively of S57 of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (LG(MP)A 1976) – Provisions to require 

applicants to submit information. 

Byelaw 14(c) does not make sense.  As a dual licensed driver, I am unaware of any section on the 

application forms for a hackney carriage or a private hire drivers licence where I am required to 

give details of a vehicle. 

If a driver rents an unlicensed vehicle and obtains permission from the owner/registered keeper to 

license it as a hire vehicle, then any changes in circumstance would have to be reported under the 

proprietor’s licence.  This condition should be removed. 

This requirement appears to be covered by S40 and S41 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

(TPCA 1847) and S57 of the LG(MP)A 1976 and is not required. 

Byelaw 15 

This byelaw appears to be part of ensuring that the applicant for a licence is a fit and proper person 

at the time of licensing and continues to be so though out the term of his/her licence. 

Why cannot this requirement be dealt with under S57 of the LG(MP)A 1976? 

Byelaw 19 

The change relates to Byelaw 19a which states: 



The proprietor or driver of a hackney carnage shall, if any property accidentally left therein by any 

person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or handed to him, which the driver 

believes to be related to a crime, poses a direct threat to the public, or contains personal details 

relating to the owner; 

 

(a) carry it a s soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner claimed by or 

on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and leave it in the custody of the 

officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it; 

 

Unfortunately, no provision has been made for dealing with property that does not relate to a crime, 

pose a direct threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner.  Why not?  How 

is this issue to be dealt with? How can it be dealt with without making a byelaw? 

 

I understand that the Councils biggest concern with taking in lost property is the security of the 

Civic Centre and safety of its staff in the current where such property would put the building and 

everyone in the building at it at risk. 

If one Googles ‘Police Stations in Dartford’ this is what appears at the top of the list: 

 

 
 

It is interesting to note that if you delve a little deeper you find that Dartford Civic Centre is the 

address given for flags A and B.  And where is lost property to be taken to under the proposed 

byelaw?  Dartford Civic Centre! 

 

There appears to be a credibility gap in the Council’s argument. 



 

Since October 20015 the Council have prevented drivers complying with the current byelaw 

because they do not want the hassle of having to deal with lost property and they are determined not 

to.  Yet the threat is considered so great the nobody thought to warn the drivers of the high risk 

involved in handling property that has been left in their vehicles and what precautions to take, nor 

have they provided any guidance for dealing with lost property. 

 

If the proposed Byelaw 19(a) is to be adopted, then before the draft byelaws go for provisional 

approval, the issue with property that does not relate to a crime, pose a direct threat to the public, or 

contains personal details relating to the owner must be resolved and the Council must provide 

proper guidance on the management of lost property that does not relate to a crime, pose a direct 

threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner and the handling of all 

property and, how to deal with the high risk involved in handling property that has been left in their 

vehicles and what precautions to take. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 
(electronic signature) 
Nicholas Morris 

Director 

  



Extract from the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

 

57Power to require applicants to submit information. 

(1)  A district council may require any applicant for a licence under the Act of 1847 or under this Part of this 
Act to submit to them such information as they may reasonably consider necessary to enable them to 
determine whether the licence should be granted and whether conditions should be attached to any such 
licence.  

(2)  Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing subsection—  

(a)  a district council may require an applicant for a driver’s licence in respect of a hackney carriage 
or a private hire vehicle—  

(i)  to produce a certificate signed by a registered medical practitioner to the effect that he is 
physically fit to be the driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle; and  

(ii)  whether or not such a certificate has been produced, to submit to examination by a 
registered medical practitioner selected by the district council as to his physical fitness to be 
the driver of a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle;  

(b)  a district council may require an applicant for an operator’s licence to submit to them such 
information as to—  

(i)  the name and address of the applicant;  

(ii)  the address or addresses whether within the area of the council or not from which he 
intends to carry on business in connection with private hire vehicles licensed under this Part 
of this Act;  

(iii)  any trade or business activities he has carried on before making the application;  

(iv)  any previous application he has made for an operator’s licence;  

(v)  the revocation or suspension of any operator’s licence previously held by him;  

(vi)  any convictions recorded against the applicant;  

as they may reasonably consider necessary to enable them to determine whether to grant 
such licence;  

(c)  in addition to the information specified in paragraph (b) of this subsection, a district council may 
require an applicant for an operator’s licence to submit to them—  

(i)  if the applicant is or has been a director or secretary of a company, information as to any 
convictions recorded against that company at any relevant time; any trade or business 
activities carried on by that company; any previous application made by that company for an 
operator’s licence; and any revocation or suspension of an operator’s licence previously held 
by that company;  

(ii)  if the applicant is a company, information as to any convictions recorded against a 
director or secretary of that company; any trade or business activities carried on by any such 
director or secretary; any previous application made by any such director or secretary for an 
operator’s licence; and any revocation or suspension of an operator’s licence previously held 
by such director or secretary;  

(iii)  if the applicant proposes to operate the vehicle in partnership with any other person, 
information as to any convictions recorded against that person; any trade or business 
activities carried on by that person; any previous application made by that person for an 
operator’s licence; and any revocation or suspension of an operator’s licence previously held 
by him.  

(3)  If any person knowingly or recklessly makes a false statement or omits any material particular in giving 
information under this section, he shall be guilty of an offence. 

 

 

 

 



Extract from the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

 

40Persons applying for licence to sign a requisition for the same. 

Before any such licence is granted a requisition for the same, in such form as the commissioners from time 
to time provide for that purpose, shall be made and signed by the proprietor or one of the proprietors of the 
hackney carriage in respect of which such licence is applied for; and in every such requisition shall be truly 
stated the name and surname and place of abode of the person applying for such licence, and of every 
proprietor or part proprietor of such carriage, or person concerned, either solely or in partnership with any 
other person, in the keeping, employing, or letting to hire of such carriage; and any person who, on applying 
for such licence, states in such requisition the name of any person who is not a proprietor or part proprietor 
of such carriage, or who is not concerned as aforesaid in the keeping, employing, or letting to hire of such 
carriage, and also any person who wilfully omits to specify truly in such requisition as aforesaid the name of 
the person who is a proprietor or part proprietor of such carriage, or who is concerned as aforesaid in the 
keeping, employing, or letting to hire of such carriage, shall be liable to a penalty not exceeding level 1 on 
the standard scale.  

41What shall be specified in the licences. 

In every such licence shall be specified the name and surname and place of abode of every person who is a 
proprietor or part proprietor of the hackney carriage in respect of which such licence is granted, or who is 
concerned, either solely or in partnership with any other person, in the keeping, employing, or letting to hire 
of any such carriage, and also the number of such licence which shall correspond with the number to be 
painted or marked on the plates to be fixed on such carriage, together with such other particulars as the 
commissioners think fit.  

 





BYELAWS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES

Made under Section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and Section 171 of the 
Public Health Act 1875, by The Dartford Borough Council with respect to Hackney Carriages in the 

Borough of Dartford

Interpretation

1. Throughout these byelaws 'the Council' means the Council for the Borough of 
Dartford and “the district " means the Borough of Dartford.

Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each
hackney carriage corresponding with the number of its 

licence, shall be displayed

2. (a) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence 
granted to him in respect of the carriage to be legibly painted or marked on the 
outside and inside of the carriage, or on plates affixed thereto.

(b) A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:-

(i) not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be 
concealed from public view while the carriage is standing or plying for 
hire; and

(ii) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such 
painting, marking or plate so defaced that any figure or material 
particular is illegible.

Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or 
provided

 
3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall: 

(a)provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with 
the driver; 

(b)cause the roof or covering to be kept watertight; 
(c)provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less than 

one window on each side; 
(d)cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered;
(e)cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 
(f) cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well 

maintained and in every way fit for public service; 
(g)provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry 

luggage; 
(h)provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be 

readily available for use;
(i) provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage and a 

separate means of ingress and egress for the driver.

4. (1)The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause any taximeter with which the 
carriage is provided to be so constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with 
the following requirements, that is to say - 



(a)the taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device the operation of which will 
bring the machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “HIRED” to 
appear on the face of the taximeter; 

(b)such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that 
the machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the 
face of the taximeter;

(c)when the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face 
of the taximeter in clearly legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which 
the proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and take for the hire of the carriage by 
distance in pursuance of the tariff fixed by the Council;

(d)the word “FARE” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as 
clearly to apply to the fare recorded thereon;

(e)the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at 
all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that 
purpose the letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during 
any period of hiring; and

(f) the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall where practicable be so affixed to the 
carriage with seals and other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person 
to tamper with them except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the 
seals or other appliances. 

Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of hackney carriages 
plying within the district in their several employments, and determining whether such 

drivers shall wear any and what badges

5. The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall:

(a)when standing of plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device fitted in pursuance 
of the byelaw in that behalf locked in the position in which no far is recorded on the 
face of the taximeter; 

(b)before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time, bring 
the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or other device 
so that the word “HIRED” is legible on the face of the taximeter and keep the 
machinery of the taximeter in action until the termination of the hiring; 

(c)cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of 
the hiring which is during the hours of darkness - this being the time between half an 
hour after sunset to half an hour before sunrise, and also at any other time at the 
request of the hirer.

6. A proprietor of driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to 
tamper with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof or 
with the seals affixed thereto. 

7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not 
actually hired:-

(a)proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the Council;
(b)if a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages 

authorised to occupy it, proceed to another stand;
(c)on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages 

authorised to occupy it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or 
carriages on the stand and so as to face in the same direction; and

(d)from time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or 
moved forward cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place 
previously occupied by the carriage driven off or moved forward.



8. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire, 
shall not, make use of the services of any other person for the purpose of 
importuning any person to hire such carriage.

9. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and 
shall take all reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed 
in or entering or alighting from the vehicle.

10. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be 
in attendance with the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or 
prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually attend with such carriage at such 
appointed time and place.

11. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in 
such carriage any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on 
the plate affixed to the outside of the carriage. 

12. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney 
carriage he shall, when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in 
such position and manner as to be plainly visible. 

13. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when 
requested by any person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage–

(a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage;
(b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; and
(c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any 

building, station or place at which he may take up or set down such person.

14. The driver of a hackney carriage shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of 
any alteration to his/her declared circumstances in relation to the following:-

(a) name or address;
(b) of any an injury or illness that degrades their standard of fitness to be below the 

DVLA Group 2 medical standard and return their driver’s licence to the Council;
(c) of any vehicle rental.

15. If a hackney carriage driver is arrested for an offence of dishonesty, indecency or 
violence, drug or alcohol related matters, the driver shall notify the Council in 
writing within 48 hours of the arrest.  The driver shall further inform the Council of 
any motoring fixed penalty endorsements received, in writing within 7 days of 
receiving the endorsement.

Provisions fixing the rates or fares to be paid for hackney carriages within the 
district and securing the due publication of such fares

16. (i) The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and 
take for the hire of the carriage the rate of fare prescribed by the Council the rate or 
fare being calculated by distance unless the hirer expressed at the commencement 
of the hiring his desire to engage by time. 

(ii) Where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall be hired by distance 
the proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to demand and take a fare 
greater than that recorded on the face of the taximeter, save for any extra charges 



authorised by the Council which it may not be possible to record on the face of the 
taximeter.

17. (i) The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed by the 
Council in that behalf to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters 
and figures.

(ii) The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares in 
accordance with this byelaw shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the letters or 
figures in the statement to be concealed or rendered illegible at any time while the 
carriage is plying or being used for hire.

Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property 
accidentally left in hackney carriages, and fixing the charges to be made in 

respect thereof

18. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall immediately after the termination of 
any hiring or as soon as practicable thereafter carefully search the carriage for any 
property which may have been accidentally left therein. 

19. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally 
left therein by any person who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found 
by or handed to him, which the driver believes to be related to a crime, poses a 
direct threat to the public, or contains personal details relating to the owner; 

(a)carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner 
claimed by or on behalf of its owner, to a police station in the district and leave it 
in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt for it; or

(b)be entitled to receive from any person to whom any other property shall be re-
delivered an amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value (or 
the fare for the distance from the place of finding to a Police station, whichever be 
the greater) but not more than five pounds”.

Penalties

20. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on 
summary conviction to a fine not exceeding Level 2 on the Standard Scale and in 
the case of a continuing offence to a further fine not exceeding two pounds for 
each day during which the offence continues after conviction therefor.

Repeal of Byelaws

The byelaws relating to hackney carriages which were made by Dartford Borough Council 
on the 14th day of January 1975 and which were confirmed by Secretary of State on the 
10th. day of March 1975 are hereby repealed.

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE 
DARTFORD BOROUGH  
COUNCIL was hereunto affixed 
in the presence of

)
)
) Head of Legal Services

this xxxx day of xxx 2017


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes held on 22 September 2016
	4 Licensing Sub - Committees Confirmation of Minutes
	Minutes 2 October 2015
	Minutes  14 October 2016
	minutes 17 November

	6 Review of Statement of Hackney Carriage and Private hire Licensing Policy 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 and Consultation Response.
	Appendix A - Consultation Response
	Appendix B Complete Policy Document

	7 Review of Hackney Carriage Hackney Carriage By - Laws and Informal Consultation Response
	Appendix A - Informal Consultation Response
	Appendix B - Draft Hackney Carriage Byelaws


